
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee

Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Wednesday, 25 
September 2019 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to 
be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Rural Housing Needs (Pages 7 - 182)

6. Draft Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy (Pages 183 - 
220)

7. Overview of Active Housing Repairs Diagnostic System Oral Report

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.



Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private 

None

Members

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Diane Marsh
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Dakota Dibben
Colin Caller
Lyn Milner
Leslie Hoskins
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Wednesday, 3 July 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Dakota Dibben
Colin Caller
Lyn Milner
Frank Wardle
Aaron Elliott
Gary Harding

Note: Councillor:  Baljit Hayre  was also in attendance

Wale Adetoro Assistant Director (Housing) 
Daniel Killian Assistant Director (Operations) 
Roy Catling Asset Manager (Operations) 
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

1. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Leslie Hoskins and Cllr Aaron Elliott attended 
as his substitute.

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Diane Marsh and Cllr Gary Harding attended 
as her substitute.

2. Introduction from the Chair 

The Chair opened the meeting by welcoming everyone and inviting those present to 
introduced themselves, to name their ward and to explain their responsibilities.

3. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting of the Housing Cabinet Committee held on Wednesday, 13 
February 2019 were signed by the Chair.

4. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 3.07.2019

2

5. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

None.

6. Reflection on Member Training on Housing - Verbal Update 

The Chair advised that the training document from the Introduction to Housing Training 
delivered to Members the previous evening had been made available to all Councillors.

The Assistant Director (Housing) gave a brief overview of the training which had been 
attended by most members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee. The training had 
covered the work of the different teams that made up the Council’s Housing Service. The 
Housing Operation Manager (Needs and Improvements) had talked about homelessness 
services and the impact of the change to the legislation on the Council which had taken 
place in the last financial year.

The Chair strongly recommended that Members read all the training documents and phone 
or email officers with any questions they may have.

7. Overview of the Housing Repairs Service - Verbal Update 

At the training the Assistant Director (Operations) gave an overview of the housing 
responsive repairs service along with the asset management service. This included details 
repair and maintenance responsibilities of tenants and what the Council’s responsibilities 
were as a landlord. Some detail was also given on the planned and major work programmes 
and the lifecycle of components that the Council will replace within a house / building. 
Members had also been informed of key contacts within DSO Building Management and 
some of the service improvements the team had achieved in the in the last few years.

Thanks were offered by Members for the quick responses of the repair teams involved to 
issues reported to them despite the huge workload. 

Following a question on different forms of communication, the Committee was advised that 
the majority of reports receive regarding a repair were done so by telephone. However, the 
public could report repairs via an online form and it was proposed that this be expanded to 
involve a diagnostic tool, the ability to book and reschedule appointments and a self-help 
guide. Residents could also email the service. It was noted that the demographic of the 
Borough (and nationally) was getting older so communications needs would change and 
increase.

8. Draft Asset Management Policies 

The Assistant Director (Operations) introduced the policies advising that the endorsement of 
the Housing Services Cabinet Committee was sought in relation to the draft Asset 
Management Policies listed below:

Page 4



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 3.07.2019

3

 Asbestos Policy & Management Plan
 Construction & Maintenance Safety Policy & Management Plan
 Fire Safety Policy & Management Plan
 Gas Safety Policy & Management Plan
 Lift Maintenance Policy & Management Plan
 Water Hygiene Policy and Scheme of Control for Legionella Bacteria

The policies had been created and developed in the last 18 months to ensure compliance 
with regulatory and legislative requirements.

The Asset Manager advised that there had been many changes at Brookvale over the last 2 
to 3 years including the introduction of new policies, procedures and working practices 
primarily to ensure the health and safety of residents and Council staff. 

Following a general question raised in relation to the Council’s powers to police privately 
owned businesses and properties with regard to asbestos and fire safety etc, Members were 
advised that within the scope of this Committee, only Council-owned HRA stock was 
included. Building Regulations also applied to the private sector but this was not the 
responsibility of the Council.

Members noted that the Council had one type of sheltered accommodation (Supported 
Housing) in the Borough.

Asbestos Policy & Management Plan

Members were advised that annual inspections were undertaken together with a survey of 
any areas that were being renewed or replaced i.e. kitchens, and all information was shared 
with contractors. However, it was noted that the incidence of asbestos was slowly reducing 
since the introduction of the ban on its use in 1999.

It was noted that asbestos could remain hidden in the human body for 20 to 30 years and 
the ban on the use of asbestos was very welcome.

Construction & Maintenance Safety Policy & Management Plan

This Plan involved health and safety project planning, before, during and after construction.

Fire Safety Policy & Management Plan

This Plan had recently been submitted to the Council’s Management Team and there had 
been a great deal of discussion with regard to the Hackitt report in relation to the Grenfell 
Tower fire. The consultation document ran to 198 pages and contained 122 questions for 
consultees to respond to. Gravesham was the only local authority in Kent that had retro fitted 
sprinklers in two Council-owned blocks of flats. Work was ongoing in high-rise and therefore 
high risk buildings.

Officers were thanked for their pro-active approach to high-rise buildings and it was noted 
that building regulations do not require sprinklers to be fitted to these properties.

Page 5



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 3.07.2019

4

Gas Safety Policy & Management Plan

This plan included gas installation, repairs and maintenance. Members were advised that the 
performance of this service had been 100% compliant 24 months in a row.

Lift Maintenance Policy & Management Plan

There were 24 lifts and 150 stair lifts in the Council’s portfolio. Zurich Municipal, the 
Council’s insurers undertook bi-annual checks as did the Council’s approved servicing 
contractor.

Water Hygiene Policy and Scheme of Control for Legionella Bacteria

The Committee was advised that this was in relation to stored water in blocks and 
properties.

It was agreed that the above listed Asset Management Policies be recommended for 
approval by Cabinet 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.01 pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 25 September 2019

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Planning)

Subject: Rural Housing Needs Survey update including four Rural 
Housing Needs Surveys

Purpose and summary of report: 
(1) To update Members on the future rolling programme for Rural Housing Needs Surveys
(2) To update Members on the outcome of Rural Housing Needs Surveys undertaken 
between 2017 and 2018 for Vigo, Istead Rise, Luddesdown and Shorne; 

Recommendations:
1. That the future rolling programme be noted for publication on the Council's website
2. That the Rural Housing Needs Surveys for Vigo, Istead Rise, Luddesdown and 

Shorne are noted for publication on the Council's website. 

1. Background

1.1 The Borough Council has a statutory duty (1985 Housing Act) to investigate 
housing needs and examine ways of meeting those needs. Best practice 
recommends that in rural areas Housing Needs Surveys are carried out as part of 
a rolling programme every five years. 

1.2 The aim of the surveys is to provide an impartial evidenced overview of the scale 
and nature of the full range of housing need in a locality, usually a village or 
parish. The information from these surveys is then utilised to ensure that any new 
homes built in the area reflect what is needed by existing local residents who have 
a connection to a particular area. The surveys are a snapshot in time and best 
practice recommends that they have a ‘shelf-life’ of no more than 5 years, at 
which point a new survey should be undertaken. 

1.3 The surveys also form an integral part of the evidence needed to support the 
implementation of Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS16: Affordable Housing, 
which seeks developments in the rural area of 3 units or more or on sites of 0.1 
hectares or more to deliver 35% of the development as affordable housing.  

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Timetable for Surveys and Future Rolling Programme 

2.1 Rural Housing Needs Surveys for Gravesham are undertaken by Action with 
Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK). As ACRK also undertake such surveys for 
other Kent districts, they only have the capacity to undertake two Rural Housing 
Needs Surveys in any given financial year for Gravesham.  Rural Housing Needs 
Surveys for Vigo and Istead Rise were undertaken in 2017 and the Rural Housing 
Needs Surveys for Luddesdown and Shorne were undertaken in 2018. ACRK 
have agreed to undertake the Rural Housing Needs Surveys for Meopham, 
Higham and Cobham in January, February and April 2020 respectively (see table 
below). 

Table 1 : Rural Housing Needs Surveys Timetable

Parish / 
Village

Published Rural 
Housing Needs 
Surveys

Replacement Rural Housing 
Needs Survey Undertaken / 
Agreed with ACRK

Indicative 
Future Rolling 
Programme

Cobham March 2015 April 2020 April 2025

Higham October 2015 February 2020 February 2025

Meopham February 2015 January 2020 January 2025

Luddesdown November 2013 October 2018 October  2023

Shorne November 2013 October 2018 October 2023

Vigo June 2012 June 2017 June 2022

Istead Rise July 2012 July 2017 July 2022

2.2 As the Council has a statutory duty to investigate housing needs and as Rural 
Housing Needs Surveys have a shelf life of five years, it would be beneficial to 
advise local residents and Parish Councils of both the current timetable and future 
rolling programme by making this information publicly accessible on our website. 

2.3 Given the contentious nature of the Local Plan Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies Document further detail will also be provided online 
regarding the purpose of Rural Housing Needs Surveys and how the information 
is utilised. This will be carefully worded to ensure that it does not prejudice 
members future ability to consider how they wish to allocate development 
quantities to urban and rural areas in future including affordable housing.  

3. Survey distribution and response rate for 2017 and 2018

3.1 The Rural Housing Enabler from Action with Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK) 
posts survey forms to every household within the relevant Parish or Village. For 
the four surveys recently, undertaken approximately 3,380 surveys were 
distributed, with 990 surveys being returned. This represents a response rate of 
29% (see table overleaf). The slightly lower response rate in Istead Rise (27%) 
maybe linked to local residents desire not to see any additional development in 
the area and in particularly on Green Belt land, this is emphasised by comments 
made by those who did respond who commented that:

Page 8



3

 the infrastructure in Istead Rise could not cope with additional 
development and people, 

 no more homes were needed in Istead Rise, 

 the Green Belt should not be built on,

 affordable housing may devalue existing property prices, 

 new development will bring in people from outside of Istead Rise instead 
of meeting the needs of local people.

Table 2 : 2017 and 2018 Rural Housing Needs Surveys Survey Distribution and 
Response Rate

Parish / Village No. of Surveys 
Distributed

No. of Surveys 
Returned

Response Rate

Vigo 797 239 30%

Istead Rise 1,445 383 27%

Luddesdown 85 33 39%

Shorne 1,056 338 32%

3.2 Following receipt of completed surveys, ACRK prepares draft reports, which are 
primarily reviewed by the Planning Policy team prior to being circulated to Housing 
Strategy and Development colleagues. The reports for Vigo, Istead Rise, 
Luddesdown and Shorne are available at Appendices 2-5. The surveys give 
respondents an opportunity to make general comments as part of their response.  
These comments are included within each survey report verbatim.

4. Results of the Vigo Rural Housing Needs Survey 2017

4.1 ACRK’s analysis is set out in Table 3 (overleaf). Compared to previous survey 
reports, ACRK now identify the needs of older persons separately. The data 
provided shows a decreasing need for affordable homes in Vigo and Shorne, but 
an increasing need for affordable homes in Istead Rise and Luddesdown when 
compared to previous survey reports.  There is also a need for market housing 
that can meet the needs of older person households e.g. smaller accommodation 
to enable downsizing and reduce day to day household costs.

Page 9



4

Table 3: Affordable and Older Persons Housing Needs for Vigo, Istead Rise, 
Luddesdown and Shorne

Current Housing Need

Households TenureParish / 
Village

Previous Housing 
Need 

Types Affordable 
Homes*

Older Persons 
Homes Older Persons 

(Tenure)
Overall No. of 
Households 17 Overall 

No. 10 7 Total 7
Single Person 
Households 8 Single 

Persons 3 4 Market 7
Couple Households 4 Couples 3 3 Affordable -

Vigo

Family Households 5 Families 4 N/A Residential 
Care -

Overall No. of 
Households 8 Overall 

No. 10 12 Total 12
Single Person 
Households 3 Single 

Persons 5 7 Market 9
Couple Households 1 Couples 4 5 Affordable 2

Istead Rise

Family Households 4 Families 1 N/A Residential 
Care 1

Overall 
No. - 1 Total 1Luddesdown No requirement 

identified Couples - 1 Affordable 1
Overall No. of 
Households 13 Overall 

No. 6 9 Total 9
Single Person 
Households 8 Single 

Persons 2 5 Market 5
Couple Households 3 Couples 2 4 Affordable 4

Shorne

Family Households 2 Families 2 N/A Residential 
Care -

* Excludes needs of Older Persons

5. Conclusion 

5.1 The reports have been compiled by ACRK using data from the approved rural 
housing needs survey. It is therefore recommended that the reports be noted and 
published on the Council’s website and for final copies to be sent to the respective 
Parish Councils and Community Association. .

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 10



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The undertaking of and subsequent publication of RHNS for the rural areas 
contributes towards the Borough Council meeting its statutory duty as set out in the 
1985 Housing Act.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The Council has a rolling programme in place to ensure that all parishes are 
regularly surveyed. An annual budget of £3,500 has been allowed to ensure the 
rolling programme of rural housing needs surveys continues. This figure also 
covers retaining ACRK in an advisory capacity. 

Risk Assessment Failure to undertake RHNS for the Borough's rural areas will meen that insufficient 
impartial evidence is available to show that the Council is meeting its statutory duty 
as set out in the 1985 Housing Act. It will also reduce the Council's ability to seek 
Affordable Housing from developers within the rural area. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A - the answer to question a. is 'No.'     

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes
Contributes towards ensuring the correct tenure and size of properties are built 
in the rural areas. 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Corporate Objective 02 Stronger Gravesham - Key Theme: Quality local housing

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder considerations pertaining to this report.

Digital and website 
implications

Subject to approval, the RHNS page on the Council's website will be updated with 
the most recent survey reports, a timetable illustrating when future surveys will be 
undertaken and additional explanatory text. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no "safeguarding children and vulnerable adults" implications pertaining 
to this report.

Page 12



Vigo Rural 
Housing 
Needs Survey 

June 2017

Tessa O’Sullivan
Rural Housing Enabler
Action with Communities in Rural Kent

www.ruralkent.org.uk

Contents                Page

Page 13

http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/


2

1.  Executive Summary  3

2.  Introduction to the Vigo Rural Housing Needs Survey 4

3.  Background Information  4

4.  Method  5

5.  Results  6

6.  Local Housing Costs 17

7.  Assessment of Housing Need 20
7.1 Assessment of the need for affordable housing 20
7.2 Assessment of the need for housing for older households 28

8.  Summary of Findings 34
8.1 Summary of the need for affordable housing 34
8.2 Summary of the need for housing for older households 34

9.  Appendix V1 – Question 7 Comments 36

10.  Appendix V2 – Letter to Householders and Vigo Rural Housing
 Needs Survey 44

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 14



3

The Rural Housing Enabler (RHE) undertook a Parish wide survey in Vigo to ascertain if there are shortfalls 
in affordable housing provision within the Parish and also to examine the housing needs of older households 
within the Parish.  This report provides overall information as well as analysis of housing need.

A survey was delivered to every household within the Parish in May 2017.  Approximately 797 surveys were 
distributed with 239 surveys being returned, representing a 30% response rate.  

Analysis of the returned survey forms identified that 98% of all respondents are owner occupiers.  81% of 
respondents have lived in the Parish for over 10 years.

For a first time buyer an income of £60,714 per annum and a deposit of £37,500 are needed to buy the 
cheapest property available within the Parish, which, at the time of writing the report, was a 2 bed end of 
terrace house for £250,000. This report uses a 15% deposit as a requirement to purchase a property; it is 
now possible to buy a property using a 10% deposit or lower but interest rates tend to be higher as would 
monthly repayments.  To be able to afford to rent privately an income of approximately £38,000 is required 
for the cheapest property available which was a 2 bed terraced house for £950 pcm.  Only two properties 
were found to rent privately in the area; there were no 1 bed houses or flats available.

A need for up to 10 affordable homes, for the following local households was identified:
 3 single people
 3 couples
 4 families
 6 of the households currently live in the Parish and 4 live outside but have local connections to the 

Parish

Our analysis has also identified a need for alternative housing for 7 older households:
 4 single people
 3 couples
 They are all currently owner occupiers and live in the Parish

2.  INTRODUCTION TO THE VIGO RURAL HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY

Page 15



4

Vigo is a village approximately 10 miles south of Gravesend in the Borough of Gravesham with a population 
of 2,065 (2011 Census).  The nearest railway station is approximately 4 miles away in Meopham (34 
minutes from London Victoria) and Ebbsfleet International railway station is 11 miles away.  The village is 
situated in the middle of a chestnut wood at the top of the North Downs.  Facilities in the Parish include a 
grocery store and off-licence, a newsagent and post office, a hairdressers, a village hall, a library, a primary 
school, a pharmacy and a public house.   

Rural Housing Needs Surveys aim to investigate and establish the affordable housing needs of people who 
live in or have close ties to a Parish or rural area, and provide an independent report of that need, if any, 
using a transparent and robust methodology.

The RHE worked with Gravesham Borough Council to determine the format of the housing needs survey to 
be used in the Gravesham area; this was then sent to all Parish Councils in the Borough for consultation. It 
is intended that all the rural areas of the Borough will be surveyed on a rolling-out programme. 

A survey was undertaken in the Parish to establish the level of need for affordable housing and for older 
households of any tenure.

The aim of this survey is to identify in general terms if there is, or is not, a housing need from local people.  
It is not to provide a list of names and addresses of individuals requiring a home.  If a need is identified, 
then a further Registration of Interest survey may be undertaken to update the levels of housing need.  At 
this stage, further details such as name and address, income, housing need and details of local connection 
will be taken.  The identification of potential sites e.g. infill sites, to meet the identified need would then be 
undertaken, preferably with the assistance of Vigo Parish Council.

3.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In a report published in December 2014, the Rural Housing Alliance has stated that ‘For many rural 
households, finding somewhere affordable in their local community remains a barrier, with homes costing 
over eight times the average salary in 90% of rural local authority areas.  This is an affordability gap which, 
in many areas, is even more extreme given low paid rural employment.’* 

Small developments of local needs housing schemes can provide affordable housing for local people, 
thereby enabling them to stay in their community and contribute to village life.  This can make a real 
difference to the vitality of village services.

In 2007, Matthew Taylor then MP for Truro and St Austell, was asked by the then Prime Minister to conduct 
a review on how land use and planning can better support rural business and deliver affordable housing. 
Many rural communities are faced by a combination of higher than average house prices and lower than 
average local wages. This can create challenges for individual families, the local economy and the wider 
sustainability of the community.

* Affordable Rural Housing: A practical guide for parish councils. December 2014. Rural Housing Alliance.
http://ruralhousingalliance.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ParishCouncilGuideFullReport.pdf

Page 16

http://ruralhousingalliance.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ParishCouncilGuideFullReport.pdf
http://ruralhousingalliance.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ParishCouncilGuideFullReport.pdf


5

On 23 July 2008, Matthew Taylor presented his Review to the Government.  The then Government issued 
their response to the review in March 2009 where they accepted the majority of Matthew Taylor’s 
recommendations (Department of Communities and Local Government 2009). 

The Government believe that the Community Right to Build will shift power from them to allow local people 
to deliver homes that are needed in their communities so that villages are vibrant places to live and younger 
people are not forced to move away because of a shortage of affordable homes.†  The Community Right to 
Build forms part of the neighbourhood planning provisions contained in the Localism Act 2011.  

The RHE Programme, which is delivered in Kent through Action with Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK) – 
the Rural Community Council for Kent and Medway, is supported by Local Authorities across Kent and 
Medway including Gravesham Borough Council.

ACRK is a Registered Charity (No. 212796) whose purpose is to improve the quality of life of local 
communities, particularly for disadvantaged people, and to facilitate the development of thriving, diverse 
and sustainable communities throughout rural Kent.  Since March 1998, ACRK has employed a RHE whose 
role is to provide independent support, advice and information to Parish Councils and community groups 
concerned with the lack of local needs housing in their rural communities.

The RHE will assist with carrying out a housing needs survey, analyse the results and when appropriate help 
identify suitable sites in conjunction with the local authority and others, for local needs housing schemes.  
Once a partnership has been established between the Parish Council or community group, the chosen 
housing association and the local authority to develop a scheme, the independent role of the RHE helps to 
ensure projects proceed smoothly and to the benefit of the community.

4.  METHOD

The RHE from ACRK posted a copy of the survey to every household in the Parish in May 2017.   

Surveys were returned in pre-paid envelopes to ACRK.  Copies of the survey were available for anyone to 
complete who had left the Parish and wished to return; they were held by the RHE. It was asked that 
completed survey forms were returned by 31 May 2017.  All surveys received at ACRK by 31 May 2017 are 
included in this report. 

Approximately 797 surveys were distributed with 239 returned by this date representing a return rate of 
30%.

Some surveys were not fully completed, therefore the results are shown for the total answers to each 
question.

† http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact

Page 17

http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact


6

5.  RESULTS 

PART A

Listed below are the results of each question asked by the housing needs survey. 

Question 1.  How would you describe your home? 

Frequency
2001000

House
Flat/maisonette/bedsit

Sheltered/retirement housing*
Bungalow

Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
Other

235 House
1 Flat/maisonette/bedsit
0 Sheltered/retirement housing*
3 Bungalow
0 Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
0 Other

Question 2.  How many bedrooms does your current home have?

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

160
140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

0 1 24 2 166 3
31 4 16 5+

 Retirement housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which consists of purpose built accommodation in which 
varying amounts of care and support can be offered, and where some facilities are shared.

Page 18



7

Question 3.  Who owns your home?

Frequency
1000

Owned outright by a household member(s)

Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

Rented from a Housing Association

Tied to a job

Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)

Rented from the local council

Rented from a private landlord

Other

98% of respondents are owner occupiers; 60% own their homes outright and 38% have a mortgage.

Question 4.  How many years have you lived in the parish?

Frequency
120100806040200

less than 1 year
1 - 5 years

6 - 10 years

11 - 15 years
16 - 25 years

26+ years

2 less than 1 year
27 1 - 5 years
16 6 - 10 years
24 11 - 15 years
45 16 - 25 years

125 26+ years

81% of respondents have lived in the Parish for over 10 years.

Page 19



8

Question 5.  Have any of your children/parents/brothers/sisters moved away from the parish 
in the last 5 years, due to difficulties in finding a suitable home locally?

16 Yes 214 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

200

150

100

50

0

16 Yes 214 No

Question 6.  Depending on location, would you be in favour of a small development of 
affordable housing for people from the parish if there is a proven need?

74 Yes 157 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

74 Yes 157 No

68% of respondents who answered the question (65% of all respondents) would not be in favour of a small 
development of affordable housing for people from the Parish.

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make.

There were 132 responses to this question; a full list of comments can be found in Appendix V1.

Page 20



9

Question 8.  Do you or a member of your household need separate or alternative 
accommodation either now or in the next 3 years?

Yes, now Yes, next 3 years No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

200

150

100

50

0

8 Yes, now
14 Yes, next 3 years

218 No

22 respondents (9%) said they have a housing need either now or in the next 3 years.

Page 21



10

PART B – Housing Needs

Only those respondents who deemed themselves in need of alternative housing were asked to 
complete PART B.

Question 9.  Are you completing this form for yourself or someone else?
13 Self 9 Someone else

Self Someone else

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

13 Self 9 Someone else

Question 10.  If you are completing this form for someone else please state their relationship 
to you and where they currently live e.g. with parents, private renting etc.

Respondents who were completing the form for someone else were doing so for their adult children who 
were still living in the parental home.

Question 11.  Do you currently live in the parish?
20 Yes 2 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

20 Yes 2 No

Page 22



11

Question 12.  What is your connection with the parish?  

Local Connection FREQUENCY
Currently live in the parish and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years

16

Currently live in the parish and have done so continuously for the 
last 5 years

2

Do not currently live in the parish but have previously lived in the 
parish for 5 out of the last 10 years

1

Do not currently live in the parish but have close family who 
currently live in the parish and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years

1

Do not currently live in the parish but have previously lived in the 
parish continuously for at least 10 years and, in my opinion, was 
forced to move away due to a lack of suitable accommodation

2

Question 13.  What is your current housing situation?  

Frequency
1050

Owner occupier with/without mortgage
Living with relatives

Renting from council
Shared ownership/new build homebuy

Renting from Housing Association
Tied tenancy

Renting privately
Other

10 Owner occupier with/without mortgage
8 Living with relatives
0 Renting from council
0 Shared ownership/new build homebuy
0 Renting from Housing Association
0 Tied tenancy
4 Renting privately
0 Other

Page 23



12

Question 14.  How many bedrooms do you have in your current home?

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

10

8

6

4

2

0

1 1 5 2 10 3 4 4
2 5+

Question 15.  Are you registered on the council’s housing register?
2 Yes 19 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

2 Yes 19 No

Question 16.  Are you an older person/household wanting to downsize/move to more suitable 
accommodation?

7 Yes 15 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

14

12

10
8

6

4
2

0

7 Yes 15 No

Page 24



13

Question 17.  Which of the following options would be most suitable for you in alternative 
accommodation?

Frequency
121086420

Rent from council/housing association*

New build homebuy **

Rent from a private landlord

Owner occupation

Other (please specify)

4 Rent from council/housing association*
6 New build homebuy **
0 Rent from a private landlord

12 Owner occupation
0 Other (please specify)

Question 18.  Do you have any comments on the above options?

The following comments were made:
 Would like to buy, but can’t get mortgage high enough;
 I had to move to privately renting as the Council refused me accommodation.  I have two children;
 Build cheap houses that are adequate and are not rubbish;
 Already on housing list, also looked into Homebuy options;
 We would aspire to having some level of ownership of the property but this would require affordable 

owner/shared owner properties available.  

* To be considered for this type of accommodation, you need to be registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing Register. Tel: 01474 564422.

** Government scheme which enables people to buy a share in a newly built property (also known as shared 
ownership).

Page 25



14

Question 19.  What type of accommodation would meet your needs?

Frequency
14121086420

House
Flat/maisonette

Bungalow
Sheltered/retirement housing*

Other

14 House
8 Flat/maisonette
7 Bungalow
3 Sheltered/retirement housing*
1 Other

The respondent who answered ‘Other’ said they wanted a static home.

Question 20.  Do you have specific‡ requirements?
2 Yes 18 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

2 Yes 18 No

Question 21.  If you answered ‘Yes’ to Question 20, please give details – 4 respondents gave the 
following answers:

 Limited mobility – difficulty with stairs;
 A 3 bed house, as I have 3 children I will need 3 rooms.  I pay over £700 pcm and am on Housing 

Benefit as I work but my partner does not;
 My husband is disabled and unable to walk unaided;
 No specific requirements at the moment but sheltered/retirement housing should be built with 

wheelchair access and all other support for the disabled.

 Retirement Housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which offers independent living in a home of your choice 
with other services on hand if you need or want them.
‡ Layout & design adapted for access eg wheelchair access, ground floor etc.

Page 26



15

Question 22.  Why do you need to move from your current home and what do you need in a 
new home?

Frequency
1086420

Need smaller home

Present home too expensive inc. major repairs and maintenance costs

Need to change tenure

Need physically-adapted home

Need larger home

Need to set up independent home

Need to be nearer work

Need for better access to public transport

Need to be close to a carer or dependent, to give or receive support

Other

Question 23.  Please indicate the number of people in each age group (male or female) needing 
to move

Question 24.  What type of household will the new household become?

8 One-person household
2 Lone-parent family
4 Two-parent family
7 Couple
0 Other

Frequency
876543210

One-person household
Lone-parent family
Two-parent family

Couple
Other

8 One-person household
2 Lone-parent family
4 Two-parent family
7 Couple
0 Other

AGE 0-9 10-15 16-19 20-24 25-44 45-59 60-74 75+
Male 5 1 2 2 7 1 2 2
Female 1 1 1 2 5 2 4 2
Total 6 2 3 4 12 3 6 4

Page 27



16

Question 25.  Please indicate the total gross annual income (before tax) of the household in 
housing need (joint if a couple)  Including benefits but not housing benefit or council tax 
benefit.

Frequency
86420

Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)

£10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)
£20,000 - £30,000

£30,000 - £40,000

£40,000 - £50,000

£50,000 - £60,000
£60,000 - £70,000

More than £70,000

Page 28



17

6.  LOCAL HOUSING COSTS

To fully assess local housing need it is important to look at open market prices in the private sector of 
houses both to rent and buy.

Property for sale

Searches of www.rightmove.co.uk which markets property for a number of leading local estate agents, in 
June 2017, showed the following cheapest properties for sale in the Parish; no 1 bed properties were found:  

Type of Property No. of Bedrooms Price £
End of terrace house 2 250 000
Terraced house 3 290 000
Terraced house 3 317 500
Detached house 4 675 000

Property to rent

A similar search for rental property found only the following two properties to rent; no 1 bed properties 
were found:

Type of Property No. of Bedrooms  Price £ pcm
Terraced house 2 950
Terraced house 3 1100

Household income required to afford current market prices 

Using local information, the table below shows gross income level needed to purchase a property in the 
area.  The figures are calculated assuming a 15% deposit and using 3.5 x gross income.  Monthly 
repayment is based on a 2 year fixed rate with HSBC at 3.69% (June 2017) 25 year mortgage term and is 
calculated using HSBC’s Mortgage Calculator.

Type of Property Price £ Deposit £ 
(15%)

Gross 
Income 
Level £

Monthly 
Repayment 

£ 
2 bed end of terrace house 250 000 37 500 60 714 834
3 bed terraced house 290 000 43 500 70 429 968
3 bed terraced house 317 500 47 625 77 107 1059
4 bed detached house 675 000 135 000

20% dep. 
required

154 286 2095

To gauge the income level required to afford to rent privately the following calculations assume that 30% 
gross income is spent on housing.  (A household is considered able to afford market rented housing in cases 
where the rent payable would constitute no more than 30% of gross income).

Page 29

http://www.rightmove.co.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


18

Type of Property Price £ pcm Approx. Gross Annual 
Income £

2 bed terraced house 950 38 000
3 bed terraced house 1100 44 000

In order to indicate affordability of the wider local area, using HM Land Registry data on house sales 
(www.mouseprice.com) and postcode area DA13 which lies within or includes part of the following towns, 
counties, localities, electoral wards and stations: Cobham, Downs, Gravesend, Hartley and Hodsoll Street, 
Istead Rise, Kent, Longfield, New Barn and Southfleet, Luddesdown, Meopham, Meopham North, Meopham 
South and Vigo, Northfleet Green, Shorne, Cobham and Luddesdown, Snodland West, Sole Street, South 
Street, Southfleet, Vigo, Woodlands, the average house prices in the last 3 months are:

1 bed properties   £291,800
2 bed properties   £386,700
3 bed properties   £433,900
4 bed properties   £636,900
5+ bed properties £797,200

To afford the average cost of a 1 bed property using the mortgage calculation previously shown, a salary of 
£70,866 would be required.  To afford the average cost of a 2 bed property, a salary of £93,913 would be 
required.

Information provided by ‘mouseprice’ states that the average property in the DA13 area costs £474,000 
with average earnings being £27,037.  This means that the average property costs over 17 times more than 
the average salary. The source used by ‘mouseprice’ to assess price to earnings ratio is Calnea Analytics 
proprietary price data and earnings data – updated quarterly.

Affordable Rent

The Government has introduced changes relating to rents charged to new tenants of social housing from 
April 2011.  Affordable Rent properties allow landlords to set rents anywhere between current Social Rent 
levels and up to 80% of local market rents.  It is expected that Housing Benefit will support those on a 
lower income who are unable to pay Affordable Rents although this is not guaranteed.

As there are only 2 properties to rent in Vigo and little information available on rent levels in comparable 
adjoining areas, the following table shows Housing Benefit levels, known as Local Housing Allowance (LHA) 
for the DA13 area, North West Kent Broad Rental Market Area.  These figures have been used to estimate 
Affordable Rent levels.  

Size of Property Affordable Rent Levels £ pcm
1 bed 540
2 bed 663
3 bed 756
4 bed 1082

Page 30

http://www.mouseprice.com/


19

The table below shows income needed to afford the Affordable Rent levels using 30% of gross income as 
the indicator of what is affordable.

Size of Property Price £ pcm Gross Annual Income £
1 bed 540 21 600
2 bed 663 26 520
3 bed 756 30 240
4 bed 1082 43 280

Shared Ownership

To give an indication of respondents’ ability to afford Shared Ownership, levels of income and 
rent/mortgage have been taken into consideration on purchasing a 25% and 40% share of a property with 
estimated values of £210,000 for a 1 bed property, £295,000 for a 2 bed property and £335,000 for a 3 bed 
property.  These values take into consideration prices found on the Help to Buy East and South East website 
in the area www.helptobuyese.org.uk and on www.rightmove.co.uk   Affordability is calculated using the 
Homes England target incomes calculator.

Calculations are made assuming a 10% deposit of mortgage share.

Property 
Price
£

Share                            
%

Deposit 
Required
£

Monthly 
Mortgage 
£

Monthly 
Rent    
£

Monthly
Service
Charge      
£

Monthly 
Total      
£

Gross
Income 
Required
£

220 000 25 5500 262 378 80 720 25 964
220 000 40 8800 420 303 80 803 30 579
285 000 25 7125 340 490 80 910 32 783
285 000 40 11 400 544 392 80 1016 49 614
335 000 25 8375 400 576 80 1056 38 029
335 000 40 13 400 639 461 80 1180 46 564

Page 31

http://www.helptobuyese.org.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


20

7.  ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED

This section is divided into two categories, the need for affordable housing and the needs of 
older households wanting to downsize/move to more suitable housing of all tenures.

7.1 Assessment of the need for affordable housing

7 people said they need affordable housing now and 8 in the next 3 years.  At this stage, some respondents 
might be excluded if they do not want or are not eligible for affordable housing.  

Assessment of the 7 households seeking housing now

One respondent was excluded because the only tenure they said they wanted was owner occupation.

The 6 households in need of affordable housing now are:
 3 single people
 1 couple
 2 families

Single people – there were 3 single people.

Ages:

Age Frequency
16-19 1
20-24 1
45-59 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Renting privately 1
Living with relatives 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
2 1
3 2

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
Yes 0
No 3

Page 32



21

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent from Council/housing association 2
New Build Homebuy 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Flat/maisonette 1
House/bungalow 1
House/flat/maisonette/other (static home) 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 3

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 2
Need to change tenure 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
10 000 - 20 000 1
20 000 - 30 000 2

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in the Parish.

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at least a 
15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared Ownership also 
depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

10 000 - 20 000 1 1 with HB 0 0 0
20 000 - 30 000 2 2 0 1 x 1 bed 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.
  

Page 33



22

Couples – there was 1 couple.  The age of each household member was requested.

Ages:

Age Frequency
16-19 1
20-24 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
4 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
New Build Homebuy 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
House/flat/maisonette/bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 1

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
10 000 - 20 000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in the Parish.

Page 34



23

The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at least a 
15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared Ownership also 
depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

10 000 - 20 000 1 1 with HB 0 0 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.  

Families – there were 2 families.

Ages:

Age Adult Adult Child Child Child Child
Family 1 25-44 25-44 0-9 F 0-9 M
Family 2 45-59 10-15 F 10-15 M

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Renting privately 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
2 1
3 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 2

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
New Build Homebuy/owner occupation/
rent from Council/housing association

1

Rent from Council/housing association 1

Page 35



24

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
House 1
House/bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 2

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 1
Present home too expensive 2

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
10 000 - 20 000 1
40 000 - 50 000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They do not currently live in the 
Parish but have previously lived there.

One respondent is currently registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s Housing Register.

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at least a 
15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared Ownership also 
depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

10 000 - 20 000 1 1 with HB 0 0 0
40 000 - 50 000 1 1 0 1 x 3 bed 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.  

Assessment of the 8 households seeking housing in the next 3 years

Four respondents were excluded from this final assessment because the only tenure all 4 respondents said 
they wanted was owner occupation. 

Page 36



25

The 4 households in need of affordable housing in the next 3 years are:
  2 couples
  2 families

Couples – there were 2 couples.  The age of each household member was requested.

Ages:

Age Frequency
20-24 2
25-44 1
45-59 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 1
4 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 2

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
New Build Homebuy 2

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Flat/maisonette 1
House 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 2

Page 37



26

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 2

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
20 000 - 30 000 2

The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria; one respondent currently lives in the Parish 
and one does not but has previously lived there. 

The respondent is not currently registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s Housing Register.

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at least a 
15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared Ownership also 
depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

20 000 - 30 000 2 2 0 2 x 1 bed 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.  

Families – there were 2 families.

Ages:

Age Adult Adult Child Child Child Child
Family 1 25-44 25-44 0-9 M 0-9 M
Family 2 25-44 0-9 M

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Private renting 1
Living with relatives 1

Page 38



27

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
2 1
3 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1
Yes 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
New Build Homebuy 1
Rent from Council/housing association 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
House/bungalow 1
House/flat/maisonette 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 2

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 1
Other – need to be closer to son’s school 1
Other – increasing rent prices mean my 
future in property is uncertain

1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
10 000 - 20 000 1
20 000 - 30 000 1

The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria; one respondent currently lives in the Parish 
and one does not but has previously lived there. 

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

Page 39



28

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at least a 
15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared Ownership also 
depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

10 000 - 20 000 1 1 with HB 0 0 0
20 000 - 30 000 1 1 0 0 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing Benefit.  

7.2 Assessment of the need for housing for older households

2 older households said they need alternative housing now and 5 in the next 3 years.  

Assessment of the 2 households seeking housing now

The 2 households in need of housing now are:
 1 single person
 1 couple

Single people – there was 1 single person.

Age:

Age Frequency
75+ 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1

Page 40



29

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Sheltered/retirement housing 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 1

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
Under 10 000 1

The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in the Parish.

Couples – there was 1 couple.  The age of each household member was requested.

Age:

Age Frequency
45-59 1
60-74 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
5+ 1

Page 41



30

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 1

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 1
Present home too expensive 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
20 000 - 30 000 1

The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in the Parish.

Assessment of the 5 households seeking housing in the next 3 years

The 5 households in need of housing in the next 3 years are:
  3 single people
  2 couples

Single People – there were 3 single people.

Age:

Age Frequency
60-74 3

Page 42



31

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 3

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
2 1
3 1
4 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 3

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 3

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Bungalow 1
House/flat/maisonette/bungalow 1
Sheltered/retirement housing 1

Specific requirements:  One respondent did not answer the question.

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1
No 1

Details of specific requirements:
 Limited mobility – difficulty with stairs;
 No specific requirements at the moment but sheltered/retirement housing should be built with 

wheelchair access and all other support for the disabled.

Page 43



32

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need for better access to public transport 1
Need smaller home 1
Present home too expensive 1
Other – may need smaller, sheltered 
facility in the future

1

Other – no stairs 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  One respondent did not answer the question.

Income £ Frequency
20 000 - 30 000 2

The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria. They all currently live in the Parish.

Couples – there were 2 couples.  The age of each household member was requested.

Age:

Age Frequency
60-74 2
75+ 2

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 1
4 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 2

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 2

Page 44



33

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Bungalow/house 1
Sheltered/retirement housing 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1
No 1

Details of specific requirements:
 My husband is disabled and unable to walk unaided.

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 1
Present home too expensive 1
Need physically-adapted home 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
10 000 - 20 000 2

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in the Parish.

Page 45



34

8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  

The Summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the need for 
housing for older households.

8.1 Summary of the need for affordable housing 

The Vigo Rural Housing Needs Survey has found a need for up to 10 homes for local people who are in 
need of affordable housing; they are 3 single people, 3 couples and 4 families.

6 of the households need housing now and 4 in the next 3 years.

The 10 respondents who are in need of affordable housing indicated strong local connections to the Parish; 
6 currently live in the Parish and 4 live outside.

There are a total of 15 adults and 7 children in housing need.

6 respondents are currently living with relatives and 4 are renting privately.

The majority of respondents wanted a house or a flat/maisonette.

7 respondents said they need to move from their current home because they need to set up an 
independent home, 3 said their present home is too expensive, 1 respondent needs to change tenure and 1 
wants to move closer to their child’s school (respondents were able to indicate more than one reason).

In total, 6 respondents indicated an interest in New Build Homebuy.  4 of these households indicated the 
ability to afford a share of a property.  More detailed analysis of their income, amount of deposit they have 
available and actual cost of the Shared Ownership property would be required to confirm affordability.  

Taking into account Gravesham Borough Council’s allocation policy and Help to Buy eligibility, the following 
size and tenure of properties have been identified: 

Rented HA/Council
 3 x 1 bed
 3 x 2 bed

New Build Homebuy
 3 x 1 bed
 1 x 3 bed

8.2 Summary of the need for housing for older households

The survey has found a need for more suitable housing for 7 older households; they are 4 single people and 
3 couples.  They all currently live in the Parish.

2 households need housing now and 5 within the next 3 years.

All 7 households are owner occupiers.

Page 46



35

The most frequently given reasons for needing an alternative home were the need for a smaller property 
and present home being too expensive; other reasons include the need for better access to public transport 
and the need for a physically-adapted home.  

The 7 older households said they need the following type of housing:
 3 x sheltered/retirement housing
 2 x bungalow
 1 x house/bungalow/flat/maisonette
 1 x house/bungalow

Page 47



36

9.  APPENDIX V1 – QUESTION 7 COMMENTS

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make (to Q6).

Moved here for the rural location.  Would not want to see the area become any more built-up.  

We see more and more 'small developments' ruining rural areas all over the country.

I have had personal experience of living in an area with part privately owned and housing association.  It 
was not pleasant.  A lot of problems with HA tenants.

We are OK.

We do not wish to lose any woods etc.

Would be nice to be able to rent a property in the village, where the rent doesn't take half my income.

Affordable housing will bring more undesirable people into the area and drag Vigo down with them.  I 
would consider moving if this was to happen.

I would, as long as it doesn't change or spoil the beauty of where I live, and it was built in keeping with the 
surroundings.  

I would be concerned that trees etc would have to be removed and they are important to me and one of 
the main reasons I love this area.

Housing associations have already been purchasing houses in the local community and there is a correlation 
between this and an increase in crime and anti-social behaviour resulting in deterioration of the community.

Affordable housing used to be available constantly in the smaller homes of Highview where we bought our 
first home.  Unfortunately buy to let landlords have bought many of these houses and seem to have stunted 
the constant buying and selling of properties in the village.  Unless safeguards are imposed, buy to let 
landlords could buy the new homes and not really solve the problem.

I probably selfishly want to keep the landscape as it is without ruining it with more houses.

Because extra housing without additional services such as schools and doctors is unsustainable.

Limited access into the village, no need for more traffic and pollution also, already problems with young 
anti-social behaviour - not need to increase numbers and worsen matters.

When the village parished in 2000 one of the conditions set by the Village Trust was for no further 
development of the village.

The Parish of Vigo is owned by the residents of Vigo which does not permit building new properties.  It was 
agreed that they could build Highview which contains affordable housing provided all remaining land was 
given to the Vigo residents, there is therefore no land available for new buildings of any type.

When purchasing our property we were sure that a covenant protected the village against further building.

Page 48



37

I believe the village would be spoilt and the character lost.  There are more suitable sites such as the land 
at Culverstone Common.

If it were for the young in the Parish, not outsiders, otherwise the young would not be able to stay in their 
Parish and in contact with family and jobs.

There are no suitable sites without taking woodland which is what makes this village special and a great 
place to live.

Vigo is big enough as it is.  Parking is already at a maximum; roads need resurfacing yearly.  The school is 
already at maximum numbers.  Vigo's unique selling point is that is does not feel like an estate, losing 
woodland areas will tarnish this beautiful village.

We have no need for any more houses on Vigo.

Agree if development built for young couples starting out.

Vigo Parish Council has just told us that it has shelved the Vigo Neighbourhood Development Plan because 
any new housing would have to be on community land and thus change the whole precept of Vigo as we 
know and love it.  Could a housing association not buy up the less expensive (quite cheap in relative terms) 
existing houses as they become available and rent or part sell these?

Parish would become overpopulated; overcrowding would put further strain on already struggling resources 
and contribute to the demise of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  Slippery slope.  More traffic.

Absolutely against; there is no need/room for affordable housing and this need is fulfilled elsewhere i.e. 
Ebbsfleet.

Rural area which is the appeal to live here.  Would not want additional building on green land.

The above answer is dependant not only on location but size and style of development.  Also, how will 
parking be factored in for the extra housing - the lack of parking space is a very significant issue already?

In favour, providing it is for people of the Parish.

Affordable housing to be built in keeping with rest of village.  Only for people that have lived in the Parish 
for 25 years.

This is in an AONB.  Any further housing development would alter in a harmful way, a very beautiful place.  

Rural areas like Vigo and Green Belt land must be protected at all costs.  Ill-conceived development such as 
this are unnecessary with Ebbsfleet development so close.

I understand the demand and need for more affordable housing locally is of great priority and would fully 
support new developments and the release of some Green Belt land.

I am in agreement with a small development of affordable housing providing there are adequate services to 
cope.

If any more homes, would need better roads.  More shops, schools.  Parking already a problem.

Page 49



38

It would be difficult to sustain extra houses because of the increasing needs - doctors/schools/shops etc.
The covenants are there to protect the village and should not be changed under any circumstances.

Vigo was built in the 1960s as a private home development, we already have properties leased on the 
village and the upkeep and care has deteriorated - we need no more.

Plenty of Parish land suitable for development.

It is difficult to answer Q6 in isolation - it would depend on the type, size and location.

I will oppose any building in this area very strongly.

The Council should ensure all homes are habitable and inhabited before considering building new 
properties.  

Any new building should be environmentally friendly and off-grid.

Too many rented properties already.

Don’t want green space built on.

Our unbuilt-on land is all owned by the Parish Council who are bound to maintain it as open woodland/grass 
for all residents.

We moved from Gravesend to Vigo and the costs of living and working in Vigo preclude the usefulness of 
affordable housing in the Parish.  Public transport links form an effective barrier to work and availability of 
many basic living requirements.  In short you need financial resources to have a quality of life in Vigo.

All the land locally is Green Belt or country parkland.

Beautiful unspoilt area which would be spoilt by development.  Retirement accommodation would be less 
intrusive.

They should build small 2 bed bungalows for older people who want to downsize to release larger homes 
for families.

At this stage, Q6 is far too vague to answer.  Would depend not only on location but also size, design, price 
(affordability) etc.

As long as people are good, law abiding citizens and will not bring problems to the village.

If we thought they would truly go to Vigo residents young or old we may feel differently, but having worked 
for a developer who provided affordable housing amongst privately owned they became 'ghettos' and many 
were not maintained well with damaging effects for privately owned houses.  Also, Croudace advertised the 
original site as 'privately owned'.  One reason we chose Vigo.

I think that this is an excellent idea as long as the infrastructure is in place to support the extra properties 
and the properties remain affordable housing for villagers in the future.

Page 50



39

I do not feel there is enough space in Vigo for any more development.  Parking is a huge issue already for 
us and to introduce more residents would impact this further.

Need to keep the village the same size, already get queues on A227 locally and would spoil the rural 
setting.

Moved to Vigo because of quiet rural location and no proposed plan to build additional housing.

Wasn't aware that there is any available land in Vigo suitable for being built on.  NO building permitted on 
wooded Parish land.

The only reason this has come about is because the Government says that 'x amount of housing needs to 
be built.’  The whole system is flawed and doesn't work.  Stop so much immigration.

Having paid a premium to live in this lovely village, I fail to see why I should have to share it with 
subsidised housing.

There is no obvious space in the village without cutting down trees.

I think the village is the right size for the amenities we have and do not think it would be viable if made 
bigger.

Please look at the Vigo Neighbourhood Plan completed just before Xmas 2016 which took a considerable 
time to complete and was thrown out by Government as there were not defined suitable sites.  Vigo is a 
private housing estate sited in a woodland setting.  If a housing development were to be located here it 
would have to be found on woodland community land within the village and would cause considerable 
opposition by residents.  

Yes, as you get older you do need to downsize but I don't think you could do it here.

In reply to Q6 it all depends on the location.

Local doctors and schools are already stretched and additional housing will make matters worse.

Traffic problems, over crowded, parking.

Vigo is not a suitable location for affordable housing - no suitable sites, inadequate public transport.
The area is already starting to become run-down; with social housing it is likely to become worse as 
generally these people have no concern about how they live.

I would like the properties if built to be offered to those who have lived in the village first, like young people 
of residents and older people who wish to live here and want to downsize

When Croudace completed the houses in Highview it was on the understanding there would be no further 
development.  There is no land for further development.

Not sure about Q6, think it has to be really thought out i.e. transport, doctors, parking, all the usual 
amenities, schools etc.

Page 51



40

When I purchased my property, I was assured by the developer and my solicitor that a covenant was in 
place to prevent any such development in the future other than that already planned for at the time, and 
formed a large part of my decision to purchase.

Not only need affordable housing, but retirement homes for older people to downsize to.

Reluctant to give a 'blank cheque' ‘Yes’ to Q6.  In the right circumstances, we would agree to a small 
development though.

Village has always flourished due to the interconnecting green spaces and we should not lose any of these.  
As families mature, parking for vehicles is an issue.  If more housing is required locally then extend the 
boundary of the village eastwards by Vigo Rugby Club and do so on a similar village layout.

More beautiful trees felled.  Another concrete jungle.  The village would lose its uniqueness.  No, no, no.

The covenant we signed when buying our property as with all Vigo homeowners, prevents development on 
community land.

Concerned about 'small', 'affordable' and people 'from the parish'.  Not defined and not guaranteed.  What 
about impact on infrastructure.

Not on Parish land.

I would not be in favour of any additional development in the Parish as the area is very crowded, with busy 
roads and minimal amenities.

Local amenities and transport do not support further development of housing.

I recently moved from London to Vigo to escape the vast amount of housing development and 
overpopulation.

This is very dependent on location and the housing which you will build and who it is for.  More information 
needed.

The Parish is already busy enough with the current housing level.  The roads are too narrow for more traffic 
and parking a nightmare.  The rural location is what most of us live here for and the possible clearing of 
more land would be devastating.

We would not be in favour of development in Vigo.  We moved here for the open space and trees.  Parking 
and amenities are already overstretched.

I own a small house but would like to have a cloakroom (toilet) downstairs.

One of the main reasons for buying our house in Vigo was access to the woodland and we would be 
strongly against any of the woodland being built on.

Not enough parking for residents as it stands at the moment.  Parking is horrendous and not helped by 
allocated parking behind houses not being lit and up-keep is poor.  Hence parking in the road and causing 
major obstructions.

Page 52



41

As a small community and still growing I feel there is not much space for building or parking.

The reason we moved to Vigo 25 years ago was because of the woodland around the village, more housing 
would remove the woodland and the views and wildlife.

Have lived in a rural location on and off for many years, my son is now at a school there so being able to 
live affordably there as well would be perfect for my family.

We do not have enough parking space as it is, more housing will create more parking problems.

The housing/houses (2 bedroomed) are affordable by comparison to other local places.  This is a rural 
community and I would be very opposed to further development.  We already have DSS tenants in Vigo.  

We have poor transport facilities.

Vigo already has affordable housing.  New affordable homes should be on brownfield sites close to people’s 
work i.e. Gravesend.  It is nonsense to place people in Vigo who can't afford to live here.  How are they 
going to be able to afford transport costs etc?

There are already several areas around that have been destroyed by development.  Extending these areas 
would have less of an effect on the environment than damaging protected Vigo.

We feel that Vigo already has enough affordable properties and building more within the village footprint 
will affect the reason Vigo is such a nice place to live.  Also there should be more use of sites in and around 
Gravesend so as to help keep the town busy.

You will spoil the area if you infill the woods, gaps and green field parts of the village.

It’s overcrowded now and no parking, poor access, too many big vans.

This is in an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  It has lots of areas of woodland between houses.  The 
habitat is important for British wildlife.

Will any houses be DSS?

1. I would support this initiative but would not want to see Green Belt areas or woodland areas used for this 
purpose.  2. I hope that a link to the community would be a pre-requisite for possession to be provided.

Large garden.

Only if they were bought outright or mortgage.  

As stated, for people downsizing or small homes, this should be possible.  Homes previously rented out by 
housing associations in Highview were not successful for the village as they were not kept in good repair or 
the majority not even clean.

No room for development in Vigo.  Traffic and parking already an issue.  Vigo needs to remain an 
outstanding area of natural beauty it already is.

Page 53



42

Doctors and hospitals cannot cope.  Parking in Vigo is almost impossible in some areas with cars parked on 
green land and pavements.

Clear priority should be given to children of Parish residents or older residents wishing to downsize.

Affordable housing would suggest a need for a good public transport service, which this Parish does not 
have.

One of the reasons we moved here was for the trees and space.  We do not want that taken away.

Our green spaces are important for air quality, wildlife and our own mental and physical health.  Once gone, 
gone for good.  If this scheme goes ahead, there will be some adults living there of working age on 
benefits, possibly with lots of children.  There is enough trouble here from badly behaved children without 
adding to the problem.

Don't want homes squeezed in ‘willy-nilly’.

I would like to see more mid-priced semi-detached style housing for people who want to move up from a 
terrace, without having to leave the Parish.

The roads are already overcrowded.  Doctors can't cope, schools are full.  To build more housing is stupid 
and to be honest most if it would not be for Vigo residents.

No room for further development in the Parish.

Low rise accommodation needed for downsizing for elderly.

Devalue existing properties.

I do not favour social housing in Vigo.  The Borough is large enough to find another suitable site.  In some 
cases social housing tenants ruin areas.

It would be good to have some Help to Buy homes in the area and some more retirement/sheltered 
accommodation.

Affordable housing for older people too, maybe sheltered housing site.

We have seen the affects that can happen to the village with the addition of the Country Park with on street 
parking, noise and disturbance during day and night at unsocial hours.  Parking is very bad.

This is an area of outstanding beauty and as such I have no wish to see more of it lost to developers.

I wouldn't like to see our beautiful woodland cut down though.

The main reason that we bought our property in Vigo was because of its quiet and beautiful location.  We 
love the fact that we are surrounded by trees.  We certainly do not want to see this disappearing to make 
room for more houses.

It's about time that some of the people living in Vigo woke up to the real world and the desperate need of 
people wanting to find houses to live in.

Page 54



43

We moved to Vigo 50 years ago and would not like to see any further development which changed the rural 
and wooded aspect of the village.

It is a natural cycle of any village/town for older people to die eventually and young people to move away 
and seek a life.  They may return.  Houses are always for sale.

Not on community land.

I would like to buy, keep very close to my children’s school etc.  We are happy here.  My rent is £1,150 and 
as a single working parent it's tight.

If any further development is contemplated it should be scattered throughout the village and not placed 
adjacent to the most densely populated areas.  Any new housing units should have ample off road parking 
so that existing car parking problems are alleviated.

I would be very interested to see sheltered/retirement housing in this Parish, possibly for my future need.
It would be nice if properties that are currently rented out by landlords but are poorly maintained could be 
purchased and rented out at a lower rate, but also renovated.

There are already housing association owned properties in Vigo and the number has grown in recent years.  
In addition, private rental properties have increased.  Vigo is a relatively cheap area to buy a house so any 
investment in affordable housing will have more impact elsewhere.  Vigo is fully developed as the Parish 
Council led Neighbourhood Plan project demonstrated.  There are no locations where groups of housing 
could be developed.

Affordable housing should definitely be reserved for residents or previous residents of this Parish.  What 
does 'small development' mean?  Should not detract from the beauty of our village or lead to future 
developments.

The area is surrounded by beautiful Green Belt.  More housing will spoil the area.  We all had to start 
somewhere else, I could not afford to live near my parents so I moved elsewhere - that's life.

When I bought my house in Vigo I was informed that no other buildings are allowed to be built and the 
woodland would not be compromised.  It's in the title deeds.  Although I believe a church was allocated, 
this has never been built, sadly.

Page 55



44

10.  APPENDIX V2 – LETTER TO HOUSEHOLDERS AND VIGO RURAL HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY

Housing Strategy and Development Services
Ask for: Sharon Donald
Telephone: 01474 337652
Email: Sharon.donald@gravesham.gov.uk
My ref: VP/RHNS/SD
Date: May 2017

Dear Householder

Following a Rural Housing Needs Survey undertaken in Vigo Parish in 2012 and as part of an ongoing 
programme of Rural Housing Needs Surveys, the enclosed Survey is being sent out by Action with 
Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK) on the Council’s behalf to assess the need and gauge the level of 
support a small affordable housing scheme might have in your community. We also want to find out about 
the housing needs of older people within Vigo Parish who might want to downsize/move to more suitable 
housing.

Responses to the Survey will be analysed by a Rural Housing Enabler from ACRK with all information being 
kept confidential. The Rural Housing Enabler will then provide a summary report to Vigo Parish Council and 
Borough Council. 

Affordable housing means homes that can be rented or part bought (shared ownership) usually from a 
Housing Association, so that residents who cannot afford to buy or rent locally will not be forced to move 
away and to help people of all ages who would like to stay or return to their village and contribute to the 
village services that still exist. 

Depending on the outcome of this Survey, the Council and ACRK may try to identify a suitable site within 
Vigo Parish. If a site is found a village consultation event will be held so that residents of Vigo Parish can 
view and discuss the proposals and put their views forward.

This is a very important issue, so please take time to fill in this Survey.  Even if no one in your household 
has a housing need, we want to know your views.  

Please return this form using the FREEPOST envelope provided by 31 May 2017.

If any further information or additional questionnaires are required please contact the Rural Housing Enabler 
on 01303 813790.

More information is available on housing needs surveys in Gravesham via the following link:
www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-
needs-surveys
If you want more information on how ACRK enables rural housing, please use the following link:
www.ruralkent.org.uk/housing

Yours faithfully

Sharon Donald
Housing Strategy and Development Manager

Page 56

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-needs-surveys
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-needs-surveys
http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/housing


45

Page 57



46

Page 58



47

Page 59



48

Page 60



Istead Rise Rural Housing Needs 
Survey 

July 2017

Tessa O’Sullivan
Rural Housing Enabler
Action with Communities in Rural Kent

www.ruralkent.org.uk

Page 61

http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/


2

Contents
Page

1.  Executive Summary 3

2.  Introduction to the Istead Rise Rural Housing Needs Survey 4

3.  Background Information 4

4.  Method  5

5.  Results  6

6.  Local Housing Costs 17

7.  Assessment of Housing Need 20
7.1 Assessment of the need for affordable housing 20
7.2 Assessment of the need for housing for older households 27

8.  Summary of Findings 33
8.1 Summary of the need for affordable housing 33
8.2 Summary of the need for housing for older households 33

9.  Appendix IR1 – Question 7 Comments 35

10.  Appendix IR2 – Letter to Householders and Istead Rise Rural Housing
      Needs Survey 43

Page 62



3

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Rural Housing Enabler (RHE) undertook a survey in Istead Rise to ascertain if there are shortfalls in 
affordable housing provision within Istead Rise and also to examine the housing needs of older 
households within Istead Rise.  This report provides overall information as well as analysis of housing 
need.

A survey was delivered to every household within Istead Rise in June 2017.  Approximately 1,445 
surveys were distributed with 383 surveys being returned, representing a 27% response rate.  

Analysis of the returned survey forms identified that 98% of all respondents are owner occupiers.  75% 
of respondents have lived in Istead Rise for over 10 years.

For a first time buyer an income of £80,143 per annum and a deposit of £49,500 are needed to buy the 
cheapest property available within Istead Rise, which, at the time of writing the report, was a 3 bed 
semi-detached house for £330,000; the cheapest 2 bed property was £370,000; there were no 1 bed 
houses or flats available. This report uses a 15% deposit as a requirement to purchase a property; it is 
now possible to buy a property using a 10% deposit or lower but interest rates tend to be higher as 
would monthly repayments. To be able to afford to rent privately an income of approximately £52,000 is 
required for the cheapest property available which was a 3 bed semi-detached house for £1,300 pcm.  
Only one property was found available to rent privately in the area; there were no 1 bed houses or flats 
available.

A need for up to 10 affordable homes, for the following local households was identified:
 5 single people
 4 couples
 1 family
 All 10 households currently live in Istead Rise

Our analysis has also identified a need for alternative housing for 12 older households:
 7 single people
 5 couples
 All 12 households currently live in Istead Rise
 9 of the older households require alternative open market homes, 1 requires a residential care 

home and 2 require rented housing from the Council/housing association

Overall, the survey has identified a need for 12 affordable homes, 2 of which are for older households.  
In addition, there is a requirement for 9 open market properties for older households who wish to 
downsize/move to more suitable housing to meet their needs.  There is also a requirement for 1 place in 
a residential care home.  

Page 63



4

2.  INTRODUCTION TO THE ISTEAD RISE RURAL HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY

Istead Rise is a village approximately 3 miles south of Gravesend in the Borough of Gravesham with a 
population of 3,437 (2011 Census).  The nearest railway station is 2 miles away at Meopham (34 
minutes from London Victoria) and Ebbsfleet International railway station is 4 miles away.  Facilities in 
Istead Rise include a primary school, community centre, medical practice and 2 small shopping parades. 

Rural Housing Needs Surveys aim to investigate and establish the affordable housing needs of people 
who live in or have close ties to a Parish or rural area, and provide an independent report of that need, 
if any, using a transparent and robust methodology.

The RHE worked with Gravesham Borough Council to determine the format of the housing needs survey 
to be used in the Gravesham area; this was then sent to all Parish Councils in the Borough for 
consultation. It is intended that all the rural areas of the Borough will be surveyed on a rolling-out 
programme. 

A survey was undertaken in Istead Rise to establish the level of need for affordable housing and for 
older households of any tenure.

The aim of this survey is to identify in general terms if there is, or is not, a housing need from local 
people.  It is not to provide a list of names and addresses of individuals requiring a home.  If a need is 
identified, then a further Registration of Interest survey may be undertaken to update the levels of 
housing need.  At this stage, further details such as name and address, income, housing need and 
details of local connection will be taken.  The identification of potential sites e.g. infill sites, to meet the 
identified need would then be undertaken, preferably with the assistance of the Istead Rise Community 
Association.

3.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In a report published in December 2014, the Rural Housing Alliance has stated that ‘For many rural 
households, finding somewhere affordable in their local community remains a barrier, with homes 
costing over eight times the average salary in 90% of rural local authority areas.  This is an affordability 
gap which, in many areas, is even more extreme given low paid rural employment.’*

Small developments of local needs housing schemes can provide affordable housing for local people, 
thereby enabling them to stay in their community and contribute to village life.  This can make a real 
difference to the vitality of village services.

In 2007, Matthew Taylor then MP for Truro and St Austell, was asked by the then Prime Minister to 
conduct a review on how land use and planning can better support rural business and deliver affordable 
housing. Many rural communities are faced by a combination of higher than average house prices and 
lower than average local wages. This can create challenges for individual families, the local economy 
and the wider sustainability of the community.

On 23 July 2008, Matthew Taylor presented his Review to the Government.  The then Government 
issued their response to the review in March 2009 where they accepted the majority of Matthew Taylor’s 
recommendations (Department of Communities and Local Government 2009).

* Affordable Rural Housing:  A practical guide for parish councils.  December 2014.  Rural Housing Alliance.
http://ruralhousingalliance.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ParishCouncilGuideFullReport.pdf

Page 64

http://ruralhousingalliance.net/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/ParishCouncilGuideFullReport.pdf


5

The Government believe that the Community Right to Build will shift power from them to allow local 
people to deliver homes that are needed in their communities so that villages are vibrant places to live 
and younger people are not forced to move away because of a shortage of affordable homes.† The 
Community Right to Build forms part of the neighbourhood planning provisions contained in the Localism 
Act 2011.

The RHE Programme, which is delivered in Kent through Action with Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK) 
– the Rural Community Council for Kent and Medway, is supported by Local Authorities across Kent and 
Medway including Gravesham Borough Council.

ACRK is a Registered Charity (No. 212796) whose purpose is to improve the quality of life of local 
communities, particularly for disadvantaged people, and to facilitate the development of thriving, diverse 
and sustainable communities throughout rural Kent.  Since March 1998, ACRK has employed a RHE 
whose role is to provide independent support, advice and information to Parish Councils and community 
groups concerned with the lack of local needs housing in their rural communities.

The RHE will assist with carrying out a housing needs survey, analyse the results and when appropriate 
help identify suitable sites in conjunction with the local authority and others, for local needs housing 
schemes.  Once a partnership has been established between the Parish Council or community group, the 
chosen housing association and the local authority to develop a scheme, the independent role of the 
RHE helps to ensure projects proceed smoothly and to the benefit of the community.

4.  METHOD

The RHE from ACRK posted a copy of the survey to every household in Istead Rise in June 2017.   

Surveys were returned in pre-paid envelopes to ACRK.  Copies of the survey were available for anyone 
to complete who had left Istead Rise and wished to return; they were held by the RHE. It was asked 
that completed survey forms were returned by 30 June 2017.  All surveys received at ACRK by 30 June 
2017 are included in this report. 

Approximately 1,445 surveys were distributed with 383 returned by this date representing a return rate 
of 27%.

Some surveys were not fully completed, therefore the results are shown for the total answers to each 
question.

† http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact

Page 65

http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact


6

5.  RESULTS 

PART A

Listed below are the results of each question asked by the housing needs survey. 

Question 1.  How would you describe your home? 

Frequency
2001000

House
Flat/maisonette/bedsit

Sheltered/retirement housing*
Bungalow

Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
Other

243 House
0 Flat/maisonette/bedsit
0 Sheltered/retirement housing*

134 Bungalow
0 Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
4 Other

Question 2.  How many bedrooms does your current home have?

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

200

150

100

50

0

1 1 78 2 220 3
75 4 8 5+

* Retirement housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which consists of purpose built accommodation in which 
varying amounts of care and support can be offered, and where some facilities are shared.

Page 66



7

Question 3.  Who owns your home?

Frequency
2000

Owned outright by a household member(s)
Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

Rented from a Housing Association
Tied to a job

Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)
Rented from the local council

Rented from a private landlord
Other

273 Owned outright by a household member(s)
90 Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)
0 Rented from a Housing Association
0 Tied to a job
0 Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)
0 Rented from the local council
8 Rented from a private landlord
0 Other

98% of respondents are owner occupiers; 74% own their homes outright and 24% have a mortgage.

Question 4.  How many years have you lived in the village?

Frequency
150100500

less than 1 year

1 - 5 years

6 - 10 years

11 - 15 years

16 - 25 years

26+ years

5 less than 1 year
53 1 - 5 years
34 6 - 10 years
43 11 - 15 years
69 16 - 25 years

176 26+ years

75% of respondents have lived in Istead Rise for over 10 years.

Page 67



8

Question 5.  Have any of your children/parents/brothers/sisters moved away from the 
village in the last 5 years, due to difficulties in finding a suitable home locally?

23 Yes 351 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

23 Yes 351 No

Question 6.  Depending on location, would you be in favour of a small development of 
affordable housing for people from the village if there is a proven need?

126 Yes 235 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

200

150

100

50

0

126 Yes 235 No

65% of respondents who answered the question (61% of all respondents) would not be in favour of a 
small development of affordable housing for people from Istead Rise.

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make.

There were 195 responses to this question; a full list of comments can be found in Appendix IR1.

Page 68



9

Question 8.  Do you or a member of your household need separate or alternative 
accommodation either now or in the next 3 years?

Yes, now Yes, next 3 years No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

300

250
200

150
100

50
0

11 Yes, now
18 Yes, next 3 years

344 No

29 respondents (8%) said they have a housing need either now or in the next 3 years.

Page 69



10

PART B – Housing Needs

Only those respondents who deemed themselves in need of alternative housing were asked 
to complete PART B.

Question 9.  Are you completing this form for yourself or someone else?
20 Self 10 Someone else

Self Someone else

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

20
18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

20 Self 10 Someone else

Question 10.  If you are completing this form for someone else please state their 
relationship to you and where they currently live e.g. with parents, private renting etc.

Respondents who were completing the form for someone else were doing so for their adult children who 
were still living in the parental home.

Question 11.  Do you currently live in Istead Rise?
29 Yes 0 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

25

20

15

10

5

0

29 Yes 0 No

Page 70



11

Question 12.  What is your connection with the village?  

Local Connection FREQUENCY
Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years

23

Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 5 years

5

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived in the 
village for 5 out of the last 10 years

0

Do not currently live in the village but have close family who 
currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years

0

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived in the 
village continuously for at least 10 years and, in my opinion, was 
forced to move away due to a lack of suitable accommodation

0

Question 13.  What is your current housing situation?  

Frequency
1050

Owner occupier with/without mortgage
Living with relatives

Renting from council
Shared ownership/new build homebuy

Renting from Housing Association
Tied tenancy

Renting privately
Other

14 Owner occupier with/without mortgage
14 Living with relatives
0 Renting from council
0 Shared ownership/new build homebuy
0 Renting from Housing Association
0 Tied tenancy
2 Renting privately
0 Other

Page 71



12

Question 14.  How many bedrooms do you have in your current home?

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

0 1 1 2 17 3 8 4
1 5+

Question 15.  Are you registered on the council’s Housing Register?
1 Yes 28 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

25

20

15

10

5

0

1 Yes 28 No

Question 16.  Are you an older person/household wanting to downsize/move to more 
suitable accommodation?

15 Yes 14 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

14

12

10

8

6
4

2

0

15 Yes 14 No

Page 72



13

Question 17.  Which of the following options would be most suitable for you in alternative 
accommodation?

Frequency
1050

Rent from council/housing association*
New build homebuy **

Rent from a private landlord
Owner occupation

Other (please specify)

6 Rent from council/housing association*
7 New build homebuy **
0 Rent from a private landlord

14 Owner occupation
3 Other (please specify)

Question 18.  Do you have any comments on the options above?

The following comments were made:
 I wish to stay where I am until I can no longer manage;
 Have always lived in owner occupied;
 I’m living with parents at the moment but would be better off living in my own flat/small house 

but would prefer to live in Gravesend/Northfleet;
 Severe shortage of smaller properties due to present trend of converting and extending those 

originally built as bungalows etc. into four or more bedroom houses;
 Shared Ownership looks to be the only way I’ll be able to move, there’s nothing locally at 

present;
 We would like to build on the land next to the house we currently live in.  We could get 2/3 

dwellings suitable for retirement needs and of course others.

* To be considered for this type of accommodation, you need to be registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing Register.  Tel: 01474 564422

** Government scheme which enables people to buy a share in a newly built property (also known as shared 
ownership)

Page 73



14

Question 19.  What type of accommodation would meet your needs

Frequency
1050

House
Flat/maisonette

Bungalow
Sheltered/retirement housing*

Other

14 House
10 Flat/maisonette
12 Bungalow
3 Sheltered/retirement housing*
1 Other

Question 20.  Do you have specific‡ requirements?
6 Yes 23 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

20

15

10

5

0

6 Yes 23 No

Question 21.  If you answered ‘Yes’ to Question 20, please give details.

The following answers were given:
 Larger, more spacious property.  Not flats, area congested enough;
 Open plan is nice;
 I have a few problems.  My wife has dementia and no longer able to walk up the hill so are 

moving to a flatter area;
 No stairs, doors wide enough for wheelchair, walk-in shower;
 Warden on site;
 Level, easy access – disabled;
 A flat or bungalow in Gravesend would be ideal for me at the moment;
 New build of suitable flats for older people;
 Breathing problems due to COPD lung function condition;
 I have Tourette’s syndrome and ADHD, would be in my interest to live near parents.

 Retirement Housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which offers independent living in a home of your choice 
with other services on hand if you need or want them.
‡ Layout & design adapted for access eg wheelchair access, ground floor etc.

Page 74



15

Question 22.  Why do you need to move from your current home and what do you need in a 
new home?

Frequency
50

Need smaller home

Present home too expensive inc. major repairs and maintenance costs

Need to change tenure

Need physically-adapted home

Need larger home

Need to set up independent home

Need to be nearer work

Need for better access to public transport

Need to be close to a carer or dependent, to give or receive support

Other

The respondents who answered ‘Other’ gave the following reasons for needing to move:
 Access without steps;
 Getting married and want my own home;
 Wish to stay where I am until I can no longer manage.

Question 23.  Please indicate the number of people in each age group (male or female) 
needing to move

AGE 0-9 10-15 16-19 20-24 25-44 45-59 60-74 75+
Male 0 0 1 5 9 2 4 4
Female 3 0 0 6 5 4 5 5
Total 3 0 1 11 14 6 9 9

Page 75



16

Question 24.  What type of household will the new household become?

Frequency
121086420

One-person household
Lone-parent family
Two-parent family

Couple
Other

12 One-person household
1 Lone-parent family
3 Two-parent family

13 Couple
1 Other

Question 25.  Please indicate the total gross annual income (before tax) of the household in 
housing need (joint if a couple)  Including benefits but not housing benefit or council tax 
benefit.

Frequency
86420

Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)

£10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)
£20,000 - £30,000

£30,000 - £40,000

£40,000 - £50,000

£50,000 - £60,000
£60,000 - £70,000

More than £70,000

Page 76



17

6.  LOCAL HOUSING COSTS

To fully assess local housing need it is important to look at open market prices in the private sector of 
houses both to rent and buy.

Property for sale

Searches of www.rightmove.co.uk which markets property for a number of leading local estate agents, 
in July 2017, showed the following cheapest properties for sale in Istead Rise; no 1 bed properties were 
found:  

Type of Property No. of Bedrooms Price £
Bungalow 2 370 000
Semi-detached house 3 330 000
Semi-detached house 3 385 000
Semi-detached house 4 425 000

Property to rent

A similar search for rental property found only one property available to rent:

Type of Property No. of Bedrooms  Price £ pcm
Semi-detached house 3 1300

Household income required to afford current market prices 

Using local information, the table below shows gross income level needed to purchase a property in the 
area.  The figures are calculated assuming a 15% deposit and using 3.5 x gross income.  Monthly 
repayment is based on a 2 year fixed rate with HSBC at 3.69% (July 2017) 25 year mortgage term and 
is calculated using HSBC’s mortgage calculator.

Type of Property Price £ Deposit £ 
(15%)

Gross 
Income 
Level £

Monthly 
Repayment 

£ 
2 bed bungalow 370 000 55 500 89 857 1234
3 bed semi-detached house 330 000 49 500 80 143 1101
3 bed semi-detached house 385 000 57 750 93 500 1285
4 bed semi-detached house 425 000 63 750 103 214 1418

To gauge the income level required to afford to rent privately the following calculations assume that 
30% gross income is spent on housing.  (A household is considered able to afford market rented 
housing in cases where the rent payable would constitute no more than 30% of gross income).

Type of Property Price £ pcm Approx. Gross Annual 
Income £

3 bed semi-detached house 1300 52 000

In order to indicate affordability of the wider local area, using HM Land Registry data on house sales 
(www.mouseprice.com) using postcode area DA13 which lies within or includes part of the following 
towns, counties, localities, electoral wards and stations: Cobham, Downs, Gravesend, Hartley and 

Page 77

http://www.rightmove.co.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/
http://www.mouseprice.com/


18

Hodsoll Street, Istead Rise, Kent, Longfield, New Barn and Southfleet, Luddesdown, Meopham, 
Meopham North, Meopham South and Vigo, Northfleet Green, Shorne, Cobham and Luddesdown, 
Snodland West, Sole Street, South Street, Southfleet, Vigo, Woodlands, the average house prices in the 
last 3 months are:

1 bed properties   £291,800
2 bed properties   £386,700
3 bed properties   £433,900
4 bed properties   £636,900
5+ bed properties £797,200

To afford the average cost of a 1 bed property using the mortgage calculation previously shown, a 
salary of £70,866 would be required.  To afford the average cost of a 2 bed property, a salary of 
£93,913 would be required.

Information provided by ‘mouseprice’ states that the average property in the DA13 area costs £474,000 
with average earnings being £27,037.  This means that the average property costs over 17 times more 
than the average salary. The source used by ‘mouseprice’ to assess price to earnings ratio is Calnea 
Analytics proprietary price data and earnings data – updated quarterly.

Affordable Rent

The Government has introduced changes relating to rents charged to new tenants of social housing from 
April 2011.  Affordable Rent properties allow landlords to set rents anywhere between current Social 
Rent levels and up to 80% of local market rents.  It is expected that Housing Benefit will support those 
on a lower income who are unable to pay Affordable Rents although this is not guaranteed.

As there is only one property available to rent in Istead Rise and little information available on rent 
levels in comparable adjoining areas, the following table shows Housing Benefit levels, known as Local 
Housing Allowance (LHA) for the DA13 area, North West Kent Broad Rental Market Area.  These figures 
have been used to estimate Affordable Rent levels.  

Size of Property Affordable Rent Levels £ pcm
1 bed 540
2 bed 663
3 bed 756
4 bed 1082

The table below shows income needed to afford the Affordable Rent levels using 30% of gross income 
as the indicator of what is affordable.

Size of Property Price £ pcm Gross Annual Income £
1 bed 540 21 600
2 bed 663 26 520
3 bed 756 30 240
4 bed 1082 43 280

Shared Ownership

To give an indication of respondents’ ability to afford Shared Ownership, levels of income and 
rent/mortgage have been taken into consideration on purchasing a 25% and 40% share of a property 

Page 78



19

with estimated values of £210,000 for a 1 bed property, £295,000 for a 2 bed property and £335,000 for 
a 3 bed property.  These values take into consideration prices found on the Help to Buy East and South 
East website in the area www.helptobuyese.org.uk and on www.rightmove.co.uk   Affordability is 
calculated using the Homes England target incomes calculator.

Calculations are made assuming a 10% deposit of mortgage share.

Property 
Price
£

Share 
%

Deposit 
Required
£

Monthly 
Mortgage 
£

Monthly 
Rent
£

Monthly
Service
Charge 
£

Monthly 
Total
£

Gross
Income 
Required 
£

220 000 25 5500 262 378 80 720 25 964
  220 000 40 8800 420 303 80 803 30 579

285 000 25 7125 340 490 80 910 32 783
285 000 40 11 400 544 392 80 1016 49 614
335 000 25 8375 400 576 80 1056 38 029
335 000 40 13 400 639 461 80 1180 46 564

Page 79

http://www.helptobuyese.org.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


20

7.  ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED

This section is divided into two categories, the need for affordable housing and the needs of 
older households wanting to downsize/move to more suitable housing of all tenures.

7.1 Assessment of the need for affordable housing

5 people said they need affordable housing now and 10 in the next 3 years.  At this stage, some 
respondents might be excluded if they do not want or are not eligible for affordable housing.  

Assessment of the 5 households seeking housing now

One respondent was excluded because the only tenure they said they wanted was owner occupation.

The 4 households in need of affordable housing now are:
 1 single people
 2 couples
 1 family

Single people – there was 1 single person.

Age:

Age Frequency
20-24 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
4 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent from Council/housing association/
New Build Homebuy

1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Flat/maisonette/house/bungalow 1

Page 80



21

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 1

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 1
Need to be close to a carer or dependent 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
10 000 - 20 000 1

The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Istead Rise.

The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared 
Ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

10 000 - 20 000 1 1 with HB 0 0 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit.  

Couples – there were 2 couples.  The age of each household member was requested.

Ages:

Age Frequency
20-24 4

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
4 2

Page 81



22

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 2

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent from Council/housing association/
New Build Homebuy

1

New Build Homebuy 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
House 1
House/flat/maisonette/bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 2

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 2

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
20 000 - 30 000 1
50 000 - 60 000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Istead 
Rise.

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared 
Ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

20 000 - 30 000 1 1 0 1 x 1 bed 0
50 000 - 60 000 1 1 0 1 x 2 bed 0

Page 82



23

Families – there was 1 family.

Ages:

Age Adult Adult Child Child Child Child

Family 1 25-44 0-9 F

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent from Council/housing association 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Flat/maisonette 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 1

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
10 000 - 20 000 1

The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Istead Rise.

The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

Page 83



24

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared 
Ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

10 000 - 20 000 1 1 with HB 0 0 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit.  

Assessment of the 10 households seeking housing in the next 3 years

Four respondents were excluded from this final assessment for the following reasons:
 4 x tenure required was owner occupation only 

The 6 households in need of affordable housing in the next 3 years are:
  4 single people
  2 couples

Single people – there were 4 single people.

Ages:

Age Frequency
20-24 2
25-44 2

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 4

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 1
4 3

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 4

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent from Council/housing association 1
New Build Homebuy 3

Page 84



25

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
House 1
Flat/maisonette 1
Flat/maisonette/house 1
Flat/maisonette/bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 4

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 4
Need to be nearer work 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
Under 10 000 2
10 000 - 20 000 1
20 000 - 30 000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Istead 
Rise.

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared 
Ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

Under 10 000 2 2 with HB 0 0 0
10 000 - 20 000 1 1 with HB 0 0 0
20 000 - 30 000 1 1 0 1 x 1 bed 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the Affordable Rent will be eligible for Housing 
Benefit.  

Page 85



26

Couples – there were 2 couples.  The age of each household member was requested.

Ages:

Age Frequency
20-24 2
45-59 2

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 2

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1
Yes 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
New Build Homebuy 1
Rent from Council/housing association 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Bungalow 1
House/bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 2

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent home 1
Need smaller home 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
20 000 - 30 000 1
30 000 - 40 000 1

Page 86



27

The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria. They currently live in Istead Rise. 

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, Affordable Rent, Shared Ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of Shared 
Ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared Ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income £ No. of 
Respondents

Affordable
Rent

Private Rent Shared 
Ownership

Open Market

20 000 - 30 000 1 1 0 0 0
30 000 - 40 000 1 1 1 1 x 2 bed 0

7.2 Assessment of the need for housing for older households

6 older households said they need alternative housing now and 8 in the next 3 years.  

Assessment of the 6 households seeking housing now

One respondent was excluded; an assessment of their need could not be made due to insufficient 
information.

The 5 households in need of housing now are:
 2 single people
 3 couples

Single people – there were 2 single people.

Ages:

Age Frequency
75+ 2

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 2

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 2

Page 87



28

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 2

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Flat/maisonette 1
Bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1

Details of specific requirements:
 Level easy access, registered disabled.

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 2

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income £ Frequency
Under 10 000 1
10 000 - 20 000 2

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Istead 
Rise.

Couples – there were 3 couples.  The age of each household member was requested.

Ages:

Age Frequency
45-59 1
60-74 3
75+ 2

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 1
Renting privately 2

Page 88



29

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 3

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 3

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 1
Rent from Council/housing association 2

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
House 1
Sheltered/retirement housing 1
House/flat/maisonette/bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1

Details of specific requirements:
 Breathing problems due to COPD lung function condition.

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 1
Need for better access to public transport 1
Present home too expensive 2

Household’s joint gross annual income:  One respondent did not answer the question

Income £ Frequency
20 000 - 30 000 1
40 000 - 50 000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Istead 
Rise.

Assessment of the 8 households seeking housing in the next 3 years

One respondent was excluded; an assessment of their need could not be made due to insufficient 
information.

Page 89



30

The 7 households in need of housing in the next 3 years are:
  5 single people
  2 couples

Single People – there were 5 single people.

Ages:

Age Frequency
45-59 1
60-74 3
75+ 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 5

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
3 3
4 1
5+ 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 5

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 4
Other (residential care) 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Bungalow 1
Sheltered/retirement housing 1
Flat/maisonette 1
House/bungalow 1
Sheltered/retirement housing/bungalow 1

Specific requirements:  

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1

Details of specific requirements:
 No stairs.

Page 90



31

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 2
Need to set up independent home 1
Need to be close to a carer or dependent 1
Other – wish to stay where I am until I 
can no longer manage

1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  One respondent did not answer the question.

Income £ Frequency
Under 10 000 1
10 000 - 20 000 1
30 000 - 40 000 2

The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria.  They all currently live in Istead Rise.

Couples – there were 2 couples.  The age of each household member was requested.

Ages:

Age Frequency
60-74 3
75+ 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No. of Bedrooms Frequency
2 1
3 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 2

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 2

Page 91



32

Type of housing needed:

Type of Housing Frequency
Bungalow/house 1
Bungalow/flat/maisonette/sheltered/
retirement housing

1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1
No 1

Details of specific requirements:
 No stairs.  Doors wide enough for wheelchair.  Walk-in shower.

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 1
Present home too expensive 1
Need for better access to public transport 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  One respondent did not answer the question.

Income £ Frequency
10 000 - 20 000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Istead 
Rise.

Page 92



33

8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  

The Summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the need 
for housing for older households.

8.1 Summary of the need for affordable housing 

The Istead Rise Rural Housing Needs Survey has found a need for up to 10 homes for local people who 
are in need of affordable housing; they are 5 single people, 4 couples and 1 family.

5 of the households need housing now and 6 in the next 3 years.

The 10 respondents who are in need of affordable housing indicated strong local connections to Istead 
Rise; they all currently live in Istead Rise.

There are a total of 14 adults and 1 child in housing need.

The 10 households are all currently living with relatives.

The majority of respondents wanted a house or a flat/maisonette.

9 respondents said they need to move from their current home because they need to set up an 
independent home, 1 needs to be closer to a carer, 1 needs to be nearer work and 1 needs a smaller 
home (respondents were able to indicate more than one reason).

In total, 7 respondents indicated an interest in New Build Homebuy.  4 of these households indicated the 
ability to afford a share of a property.  More detailed analysis of their income, amount of deposit they 
have available and actual cost of the Shared Ownership property would be required to confirm 
affordability.  

Taking into account Gravesham Borough Council’s allocation policy and Help to Buy eligibility, the 
following size and tenure of properties have been identified: 

Rented HA/Council
 5 x 1 bed
 1 x 2 bed

New Build Homebuy
 2 x 1 bed
 2 x 2 bed

8.2 Summary of the need for housing for older households

The survey has found a need for more suitable housing for 12 older households; they are 7 single 
people and 5 couples.  They all currently live in Istead Rise.

5 households need housing now and 7 within the next 3 years.

10 households are owner occupiers and 2 households are private rented tenants.

The most frequently given reasons for needing an alternative home were the need for a smaller property 
and present home being too expensive; other reasons include the need for better access to public 

Page 93



34

transport, the need to be close to a carer and the need to set up an independent home.

9 households want to buy alternative housing on the open market, 1 wants to live in a residential care 
home and 2 want to rent from the Council/housing association.  

The 12 older households said they need the following type of housing:
 2 x flat/maisonette
 2 x bungalow
 2 x sheltered/retirement housing
 2 x house/bungalow
 1 x house
 1 x sheltered/retirement housing/bungalow
 1 x bungalow/flat/maisonette/sheltered/retirement housing
 1 x house/flat/maisonette/bungalow

9.  APPENDIX IR1 – QUESTION 7 COMMENTS

Page 94



35

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make (to Q6).

It would appear that you want opinions and information from people who want further housing in Istead 
Rise.

I have lived in my present home for 63 years (having built it with my husband and other help).  Many 
changes have occurred and I would not like to see it overrun with crammed housing but realise young 
people need affordable housing.

Regarding the above question there is no guarantee that only village residents would benefit.  People 
from outside would eventually move in spoiling the community.

Insufficient infrastructure to sustain additional housing.

Our bungalow is perfect for us.

No.  People from village wouldn't be given the chance to get them.  They would be given to immigrants, 
travellers or people that just want free housing.

We do not have space on Istead Rise for more housing accommodation.  The area is already full 
enough.  More would mean drain on medical centre, roads and school.

We do not need any more homes in Istead Rise.  It is a small village and that's why people chose to live 
here.  People here will fight any development, without any doubt at all.  Please don't ruin it!!

Previous experience indicates that any 'affordable housing' will be used to house people from outside the 
village, including migrants.  Istead Rise is a settled community, the parking is already a problem with 
houses having 2-3 cars, most of which park on busy roads.  I do not believe it is in the interest of 
residents to build more housing.  What evidence is there that any new housing will be taken up by 
current 'villagers'.

No building on Green Belt land.

I purposely moved to a smaller house, commanding a higher price to get away from social housing and a 
more deprived lower output area in favour of a quieter rural life.

No more houses, would rather see cows in the field.

I would not support any further building in Istead Rise, affordable or otherwise.  Current infrastructure 
would not cope with extra people in the village.

Things would suffer if more houses are built at Istead Rise, busier roads, schools, doctors’ surgery, etc.

I, like many widowed occupy a 3 bedroom family home.  I do not require an affordable house.  What is 
needed, not only in Istead Rise but nationally is bungalow type dwellings, 2 bedrooms with a patio 
garden, garage parking constructed within the confines of the existing boundaries.

There is enough building of various housing round us in Ebbsfleet, Swanscombe and Northfleet.  So let’s 
leave rural areas such as Istead Rise, New Barn, etc alone and keep the fields.

Providing it is only a small development.

Page 95



36

We would strongly oppose/against to any development site in Istead Rise.  We moved here for the 
surrounding fields, we feel the A227, doctors, school and The Drove Way would not cope with 
development.

More houses no!!  We already have a terrible bus service (one an hour, no buses Sundays and Bank 
Holidays).  Doctors' surgery is full - and only one school.  Keep Istead Rise as it is!!

Not on land between the current settlement and the A2 Tollgate interchange with A227.

There is no capacity in Istead Rise for any additional residents/traffic.  Trying to get on Wrotham Road is 
at times horrendous enough as it is, especially when trying to turn right towards Meopham.

The reason for my answer to Q6 is that this should be an opening for a larger development to take place.   
Istead Rise's facilities are at full stretch i.e. surgery and shops, the bus service is only hourly and any 
new building would be on the edge of the village.  Should there be any new development in the future 
there should be a strict maximum, say 25.

Good village NO affordable housing.

Adequate affordable housing located close by - Northfleet/Gravesend.

Now widowed, I live alone, age 79 (male).

Small and affordable would not be adequate and comfortable.  They would be cramped and cheaply 
built.

Affordable housing may affect existing property values.

The infrastructure would not support further development i.e. transport, schools, doctors, etc.

Area is congested enough.

All the brownfield sites, within and around Gravesend, should be reclaimed and used for affordable 
housing development, before expanding into the Green Belt.

We are a small community and wish to stay so.  Many years ago we built a community centre - a pub 
had been suggested and the residents dismissed this idea.  The residents wish Istead Rise to remain as 
it is.

There are already too many new homes being built in the surrounding area.  This area is already under 
pressure with transport and other infrastructure issues.  People have moved here over the years to enjoy 
being in a semi-rural environment.  This seems to be gradually eroding thereby changing the desirable 
nature of where we live.  We would oppose any new development of the area and immediate surrounds.

My village does not have any social housing - I would not be in favour of this.  Also in fields to be built 
on.

We need it in the village.  Too many houses or bungalows are being extended making them even more 
expensive to buy in the future.

Istead Rise appears to be surrounded by agricultural land and this should not be used for building 
development.

Page 96



37

Regarding Q6 - I trust great thought will be given to design and location for this 'small development'.  In 
my opinion it should be a single storey development on a reasonably flat location close to the shops and 
doctors’ surgery.

Houses built to blend in with the village, not blocks of flats.

Istead Rise is not a village but a housing estate on the edge of Gravesham.  There is no Parish Council.    
This is not a rural community and there is social housing in reasonably close proximity.

No need, leave our village alone!

The location of the development would be very important.

This would not be guaranteed for 'people from the village', however you wish to dress this up.  I'm sure a 
'site' has already been identified and plans already drafted.

Local GPs’ surgery already overstretched.  Would need to increase services to match any increase in 
demand.

Once you start building where will it stop!!  And who for!!  It will become a concrete jungle and we will be 
the ones to suffer.

In theory yes, but how do you manage the allocation of housing - how local is local?  Also part rent/part 
buy - what happens to the property when sold, i.e. how do you control who it is sold to?  Also transport is 
so poor families on limited income need a car in order to get to work.  Does this mean only non-working 
families will find property suitable?

Retain our Green Belt land.

Istead Rise is big enough as it is.

Local services (GP, school) already full now - no facilities for more people.

Sheltered/retirement apartments would be a good option for older residents.

We already suffer from vandals who come from outside the village.  Rubbish, cars vandalised, etc.   
What is it for that councils want to destroy idyllic rural communities and villages?  Profiteering land 
developers!  There are hundreds of houses already being built at Springhead, Ebbsfleet, etc.  Please do 
not destroy Gravesham!

Moved to be part of countryside.  Thought it was Green Belt land?  Probably already a done deal.

I am 82 and wish to move to a smaller property but my son and wife lost everything in the recession and 
I have been supporting them with regard to a home.

The village is more than large enough with tons of lorries, car carriers and cars thundering through it.   
The roads are too busy now.  We have few green spaces left and do not want any more to be lost.   
Doctors and school full up.

Any affordable housing would devalue existing properties.  Also facilities e.g. schools, medical practice 
already stretched to limit.

The answer to Q6 would be very dependent on the size of the development.

Page 97



38

If the housing is truly affordable i.e. less than £150,000 so that young people would have a chance to get 
onto the housing ladder then I would be in favour.

Do not build any more local houses.  It is Green Belt.  Hospitals, doctors, schools cannot cope.  We do 
not want to breathe more pollution from traffic.

Whilst I appreciate that not all those who live in affordable housing are troublesome, it does come with 
the territory and I moved into the area to avoid such issues.

I feel sheltered housing for the elderly and/or shared ownership and one or two bedroomed would be a 
good idea, 10-12 homes max.

Would have concerns if any potential development was on Green Belt and small scale development 
only.

I am 71, my wife is 64 - we are unable to manage our garden.

I'd prefer if these properties are not rental - part buy would be more suitable for this area.

I didn't move here to live in a concrete jungle which this is becoming.  There are enough houses going 
up at Ebbsfleet to already spoil this area.  It is gridlocked most of the time so goodness knows once 
occupied it will be a further nightmare and area being completely spoilt.

Yes, a small development providing it is within the boundary of the village and not on Green Belt land.

It does depend on location.

Re: Q6, if any new development it would be to the north of the village as would be less impact on 
villagers 'views' to countryside in other areas.

If councils stopped granting permission to turn bungalows into 5 bedroom houses there would be enough 
smaller accommodation for older people to downsize.

Housing to buy for our children on Istead Rise.

Use all brownfield sites before losing more land.

We are absolutely against any development especially affordable housing.

I would say 'yes' if it was just for the likes of my son and his family, BUT IT WON'T, it will be for the 
immigrants/foreigners that need the housing association to put them in.  I have lived with that scheme 
before and it was nothing but trouble/noise/mess/police being called/housing associations putting the 
wrong people into a nice 'quiet' village, more traffic/no schooling facilities.  NO do not want these people 
renting out these properties to whoever, who do not care for the village.  A DEFINITE NO TO THIS 
SCHEME.

I am a single parent paying double in rent for a house than a mortgage would be for the same size 
house.

Born in Gravesend, have loved the area but feel it is losing its countryside.  Most of the 'locals' are folk 
that have moved here from London etc and use convenience to work in London.  I am disappointed that 
permission is given for alterations to enlarge property, causing loss of privacy and street parking.

Page 98



39

You didn't say what price you call affordable, so far I haven't seen any houses that the young can afford.

In a village with a high proportion of elderly residents, smaller suitable housing would be helpful for those 
wishing to downsize but not leave the village.

As long as infrastructure of roads, schools and doctors, etc are also improved/increased.

Retired people still living in large family home but can't afford to downsize within the village.

Only if there was a larger school, GP surgery to support this.  The school could possibly support this if it 
did not take so many children from out of the area.  Affordable housing would still be well above 
£300,000 which the younger generation cannot afford.  Our children who have grown up here are being 
forced to move out of the area as are the older generation because all the bungalows are being turned 
into large houses.  There are enough rundown places in Gravesend/Northfleet which could be used 
without taking more of our countryside.

I don't consider the infrastructure and existing facilities are adequate to support additional developments.

Already only a small amount of green space for community activities and sewers, pipework etc already 
don't manage current housing needs.

We downsized in 2012, we are here for the duration of time.

As a large amount of bungalows have now been converted to big houses there is a need for a 
development of smaller properties for those wishing to downsize but stay in Istead Rise.

Istead Rise is already a busy village and with more housing I think it would lose its village feel and would 
devalue all houses.

Due to the number of elderly people on the rise, I feel a warden operated complex would be able to 
relieve any housing problem by releasing properties for others.

This could only be achieved by building on Green Belt land which I would be strongly opposed to.

Because the affordable housing built will not remain solely for people that are from the village itself and 
is bound to be offered to outsiders.  Affordable houses bring in less fortunate people and often trouble 
too!  Istead Rise is relatively trouble free and it would go downhill and end up another 'rough' estate.

Istead Rise has been a nice, pleasant village to live in for over 50 years.  Building more houses would 
enlarge the area when not required.  Most young Istead Rise residents want to move away from the area 
for different experiences and lifestyles.

Depends, not a straightforward answer.  My house has a wonderful view over fields, would not want 
houses there!  If away from me and doesn't devalue my property or destroy my view then OK.

Mobility is a good thing.  People need to be willing to move to other parts of the Borough, county, 
country.

Max. speed limit too high.

Istead Rise has always been private housing only.  It is a decent/safe area and I don't want the tone 
lowered by affordable housing.  The roads are already busy as is the doctors.  We cannot take any more 
people.

Page 99



40

What we really need is provision for the elderly who have to move away when their properties become 
unmanageable.

20 units or under, mix of affordable and social.

People from Istead Rise should have priority over non-residents for any affordable housing.

Love the community as is.

The reason to move to a small village was for it to be a small village; we do not need any more 
houses/traffic.  Also is Ebbsfleet not going to provide enough homes?

Not enough spaces at the doctors for the amount of residents.  We chose Istead Rise because there are 
no affordable Council homes.

If you are considering more housing in Istead Rise - these may be for young families - therefore the 
playing fields etc must be kept available - they should not be built on.

There is no suitable site within Istead Rise that will not encroach on dwindling countryside.

Infrastructure in area wouldn't support any new development.

It is important to keep the character of the village and 'affordable housing' can bring other issues.  When 
we were first married and for some 16 years we had to live in the town before being able to move to a 
rural location.  Retirement housing for those in Istead Rise would be acceptable.

Affordable housing just 2 minutes by car from this area.

The services such as electricity and drainage are not adequate enough now.  The power often dips.

Would it be possible to put roads and services in by Gravesham Borough Council and plots sold to 
private individuals as was done in the past at Painters Ash, avoiding the busy shops junction.

Location is the most important factor.

Green Belt land should not be used for any development.

Istead Rise is not a suitable place for this kind of development.  It would spoil the area and devalue the 
properties.

The infrastructure is inadequate at present.  This needs to be improved before any further development 
is considered.  Against any further development being carried out to our village.

The infrastructure would not be sustainable i.e. doctor, school.

Do not want a new development with housing association tenants being housed to then bring the village 
down, we have all paid lots of money for the houses around here.

If the location is appropriate.

Population has already outgrown infrastructure and facilities.

Any further development would encroach on Green Belt land.  Would result in further strain on school 
placements and doctors' surgery and traffic flow.  Your question mentions 'small development'.  That, in 
politician's parlance means a thin edge of the wedge.

Page 100



41

The village does not have the infrastructure to accommodate any more houses and people.  Who would 
live in this 'affordable housing'?  Do you think we are naive!

Having spent my childhood growing up in Istead Rise before moving away and coming back, the 
surrounding area was a fantastic place to grow up in and the reason why I moved back here was to bring 
my children up in the same rural environment.

No development should take place beyond the village envelope as currently defined by the boundary of 
the Green Belt.

Small, two bedroomed terrace houses would be ideal for elderly people - more suitable than apartments.

I wouldn't support because there are very few facilities in Istead Rise.  It would be more appropriate to 
site affordable housing in Northfleet/Gravesend.

There is no need for affordable housing in Istead Rise.

There are enough brownfield sites to use first.

Stop anyone buying a bungalow in Istead Rise and making it into a house, older people need 
bungalows.

Enough development at Ebbsfleet, infrastructure over used.

We have had all this before in Istead Rise.  We want to keep our Green Belt and have no wish for any        
development.  The school could not cope nor could the doctors and the A227 definitely couldn't cope 
with any more traffic.  Use the brownfield sites in Gravesend and leave Istead Rise alone.

In favour of affordable housing for people from the village only, not for others from orough or anywhere 
else.  Not to be used to house people who other councils etc cannot rehouse.  Infrastructure needs must 
be given due consideration as roads in and out are already congested.  Parking could also be a problem.

Clearly I can only answer when location is made known.  I would not like to see any recreational or 
Green Belt land allocated to housing.

The infrastructure does not lend itself to any further development.  Stop rehousing people from outside 
the Borough in Gravesham.

Planning applications for buildings - such as house bungalows etc should be resisted due to parking 
issues and loss of amenity.

There are lots of developments in a short distance of Istead Rise.  The traffic in Istead Rise has 
increased because of people dropping off children at school, either from outside the area or just being 
lazy.

Ebbsfleet Garden City should be providing all the affordable housing in the area that is needed.  To build 
affordable housing in or around Istead Rise would destroy the balance of life that we currently enjoy as a 
thriving village.

The above question is nonsense as you cannot discriminate against people outside the village.  If it was 
possible our answer may be different.

There are no suitable sites for any development.  In my time here I have never heard anyone looking for 
affordable housing in Istead Rise.

Page 101



42

Can't see where it would go without destroying the village.

To achieve this you would need to build on Green Belt land which we are not in favour of.

Istead Rise was originally conceived as a residential area.  It seems it has now become an industrial 
estate.  At least six properties in Lewis Road have trade vehicles permanently parked outside plus their 
privately owned cars.  The road is not built for this number of vehicles.  Do these people have licenses to 
trade from home?

The only development the village needs is McCarthy & Stone type of accommodation for elderly people.

One of the reasons we purchased here was because there is no social/affordable housing and the area 
is well kept by homeowners.

Put a stop to planning permission being granted to developers/owners extending/enlarging properties, 
which have a proven track record of being suitable to elderly single people.  There ae a great number of 
elderly living in family sized properties who wish to downsize without moving out of the area.  Any 
developments should be for retirement purposes only.

Affordable housing in the village must only be made available to people from the village by proof of 
address and eligibility.

Doctors/schools do not have room for more people.  They are full now.

Provided it was for people from the village and not sold on for profit to non-villagers.

Istead Rise is a country village and I would like to see it remain that way.  There are houses galore being 
built in Ebbsfleet and Greenhithe.  Our infrastructure can't cope.  Hospitals, doctors, schools can't 
manage as it is, let alone with more houses.

I am opposed to any development in Istead Rise.  The road network is not suitable for additional traffic 
and the village feel would be lost.

I support poor people who work hard, not lazy people so the answer above is not clear cut!  So yes, to 
poor people who are prepared to work and no to people who ae not prepared to contribute to our 
community.

We give up too much of our land to so called 'affordable housing'.  There are plenty of disused buildings 
in and around the Gravesham Borough that can be converted into flats/houses with all the amenities in 
place.

Not enough information.

If they had a place for older people with wardens or just bungalows.

Page 102



43

10.  APPENDIX IR2 – LETTER TO HOUSEHOLDERS AND ISTEAD RISE RURAL HOUSING 
NEEDS SURVEY

Housing Strategy and Development Services
Ask for: Sharon Donald
Telephone: 01474 337652
Email: sharon.donald@gravesham.gov.uk
My ref: IR/RHNS/SD
Date: June 2017

Dear Householder

Following a Rural Housing Needs Survey undertaken in Istead Rise in 2012 and as part of an ongoing 
programme of Rural Housing Needs Surveys, the enclosed Survey is being sent out by Action with 
Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK) on the Council’s behalf to assess the need and gauge the level of 
support a small affordable housing scheme might have in your community. We also want to find out 
about the housing needs of older people in Istead Rise who might want to downsize/move to more 
suitable housing.

Responses to the Survey will be analysed by a Rural Housing Enabler from ACRK with all information 
being kept confidential. The Rural Housing Enabler will then provide a summary report to Istead Rise 
Community Association and Borough Council. 

Affordable housing means homes that can be rented or part bought (shared ownership) usually from a 
Housing Association, so that residents who cannot afford to buy or rent locally will not be forced to move 
away and to help people of all ages who would like to stay or return to their village and contribute to the 
village services that still exist. 

Depending on the outcome of this Survey, the Council and ACRK may try to identify a suitable site within 
Istead Rise. If a site is found a village consultation event will be held so that residents of Istead Rise can 
view and discuss the proposals and put their views forward.

This is a very important issue, so please take time to fill in this Survey.  Even if no one in your household 
has a housing need, we want to know your views.  

Please return this form using the FREEPOST envelope provided by 30 June 2017.

If any further information or additional questionnaires are required please contact the Rural Housing 
Enabler on 01303 813790.

More information is available on housing needs surveys in Gravesham via the following link:
www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-
data/housing-needs-surveys
If you want more information on how ACRK enables rural housing, please use the following link: 
www.ruralkent.org.uk/housing

Yours faithfully

Sharon Donald

Page 103

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-needs-surveys
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-needs-surveys
http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/housing


44

Housing Strategy and Development Manager

Page 104



45

Page 105



46

Page 106



47

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Luddesdown Rural Housing 
Needs Survey 

October 2018

Tessa O’Sullivan
Rural Housing Enabler
Action with Communities in Rural Kent

www.ruralkent.org.uk

Page 109

http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/


2

Contents         Page

1.  Executive Summary  3

2.  Introduction to the Luddesdown Rural Housing Needs Survey  4

3.  Background Information  4

4.  Method  5

5.  Results  6

6.  Local Housing Costs 16

7.  Assessment of Housing Need 19
7.1 Assessment of the need for affordable housing 19
7.2 Assessment of the need for housing for older households 19

8.  Summary of Findings 21
8.1 Summary of findings for affordable housing 21
8.2 Summary of findings for housing for older households 21

9.  Appendix L1 – Question 7 Comments 22

10. Appendix L2 – Letter to Householders and housing needs survey 23

Page 110



3

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Rural Housing Enabler (RHE) undertook a housing needs survey in Luddesdown to ascertain if there 
are shortfalls in affordable housing provision and to examine the housing needs of older households 
within the village.  This report provides overall information as well as analysis of housing need.

A survey was delivered to every household within Luddesdown in September 2018.  Approximately 85 
surveys were distributed with 33 surveys being returned, representing a 39% response rate.  

Analysis of the returned survey forms identified that 91% of all respondents are owner occupiers.  60% 
of respondents have lived in Luddesdown for over 10 years.

An investigation of property prices in the area found the following; the only property found for sale in 
the village cost £3,500,000.  The cheapest, nearest property available at the time of writing the report, 
was found in Cobham, it was a 2 bed house for £315,000; an income of approximately £76,500 and 
deposit of £47,250 would be required to buy this property.  There were no properties found available to 
rent in Luddesdown; the nearest, cheapest property was found in Meopham, it was a 3 bed house. To 
be able to afford to rent this property an income of approximately £48,000 would be required.

Our analysis identified a need for alternative housing for 1 older household:
 1 couple
 The household currently live in Luddesdown
 The household require a rented bungalow from the Council/Housing Association
 The household require a physically-adapted home

Page 111



4

2.  INTRODUCTION TO THE LUDDESD0WN HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY

Luddesdown is a village approximately 7 miles south of Gravesend in the Borough of Gravesham with a 
population of 220 (2011 Census).  The nearest railway station is 2 miles away at Meopham (34 minutes 
from London Victoria) and Ebbsfleet International railway station is 9 miles away.

Rural Housing Needs Surveys aim to investigate and establish the affordable housing needs of people 
who live in or have close ties to a Parish or rural area, and provide an independent report of that need, 
if any, using a transparent and robust methodology.

The Rural Housing Enabler worked with Gravesham Borough Council to determine the format of the 
housing needs survey to be used in the Gravesham area; this was then sent to all Parish Councils in the 
borough for consultation. It is intended that all the rural areas of the Borough will be surveyed on a 
rolling-out programme. 

A survey was undertaken in Luddesdown to establish the level of need for affordable housing.

The aim of this survey is to identify in general terms if there is, or is not, a housing need from local 
people.  It is not to provide a list of names and addresses of individuals requiring a home.  If a need is 
identified, then a further Registration of Interest survey may be undertaken to update the levels of 
housing need.  At this stage, further details such as name and address, income, housing need and 
details of local connection will be taken.  The identification of potential sites, e.g. infill sites, to meet the 
identified need would then be undertaken, preferably with the assistance of Luddesdown Parish Council.

3. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In a report published in June 2018 by the Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR) it is stated that: 
‘The affordability gaps in rural areas are high compared to urban areas. The average rural house price is 
around £19,000 above the average for England as a whole, at £320,700 compared to £301,900, and is 
more than £87,000 higher than the urban average excluding London (£233,600)* 

Small developments of local needs housing schemes can provide affordable housing for local people, 
thereby enabling them to stay in their community and contribute to village life.  This can make a real 
difference to the vitality of village services.

In 2007 Matthew Taylor, then MP for Truro and St Austell, was asked by the then Prime Minister to 
conduct a review on how land use and planning can better support rural business and deliver affordable 
housing. Many rural communities are faced by a combination of higher than average house prices and 
lower than average local wages. This can create challenges for individual families, the local economy 
and the wider sustainability of the community.

On July 23rd 2008 Matthew Taylor presented his Review to the Government.  The then Government 
issued their response to the review in March 2009 where they accepted the majority of Matthew Taylor’s 
recommendations (Department of Communities and Local Government 2009). 

The Government believe that the Community Right To Build will shift power from them to allow local 
people to deliver homes that are needed in their communities so that villages are vibrant places to live 
and younger people are not forced to move away because of a shortage of affordable homes.†  The 

* A New Rural Settlement: Fixing the affordable housing crisis in rural England https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-
06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
† http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact

Page 112

https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf


5

Community Right to Build forms part of the neighbourhood planning provisions contained in the Localism 
Act 2011.  

The Rural Housing Enabler Programme, which is delivered in Kent through Action with Communities in 
Rural Kent – the Rural Community Council for Kent and Medway, is supported by Local Authorities 
across Kent and Medway including Sevenoaks District Council.

Action with Communities in Rural Kent is a registered charity (No. 212796) whose purpose is to improve 
the quality of life of local communities, particularly for disadvantaged people, and to facilitate the 
development of thriving, diverse and sustainable communities throughout rural Kent.  Since March 1998 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent has employed a Rural Housing Enabler whose role is to provide 
independent support, advice and information to Parish Councils and community groups concerned with 
the lack of local needs housing in their rural communities.

The RHE will assist with carrying out a housing needs survey, analyse the results and when appropriate 
help identify suitable sites in conjunction with the local authority and others, for a local needs housing 
scheme.  Once a partnership has been established between the Parish Council, the chosen housing 
association and the local authority to develop a scheme, the independent role of the RHE helps to 
ensure the project proceeds smoothly and to the benefit of the community.

4.  METHOD

The Rural Housing Enabler from Action with Communities in Rural Kent posted a copy of the survey to 
every household in Luddesdown in September 2018.   

Surveys were returned in pre-paid envelopes to Action with Communities in Rural Kent.  Copies of the 
survey were available for anyone to complete who had left Luddesdown and wished to return, they were 
held by the Rural Housing Enabler. It was asked that completed survey forms were returned by 3rd 
October 2018.  All surveys received at Action with Communities in Rural Kent by that date are included 
in this report. 

Approximately 85 surveys were distributed with 33 returned by this date representing a return rate of 
39%.

Some surveys were not fully completed therefore the results are shown for the total answers to each 
question.

Page 113



6

5.  RESULTS 

Section 1

Listed below are the results of each question asked by the housing needs survey. 

Question 1.  How would you describe your home? 

Frequency
20100

House
Flat/maisonette/bedsit

Sheltered/retirement housing*
Bungalow

Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
Other

25 House
0 Flat/maisonette/bedsit
0 Sheltered/retirement housing*
5 Bungalow
1 Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
0 Other

Question 2.  How many bedrooms does your current home have?

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

10

8

6

4

2

0

0 1 6 2 10 3 9 4
8 5+

 Retirement housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which consists of purpose built accommodation in which 
varying amounts of care and support can be offered, and where some facilities are shared

Page 114



7

Question 3. Who owns your home?

Frequency
100

Owned outright by a household member(s)
Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

Rented from a Housing Association
Tied to a job

Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)
Rented from the local council

Rented from a private landlord
Other

19 Owned outright by a household member(s)
11 Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)
0 Rented from a Housing Association
0 Tied to a job
0 Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)
2 Rented from the local council
1 Rented from a private landlord
0 Other

91% of respondents who answered the question are owner occupiers; 58% own their homes outright 
and 33% have a mortgage.

Question 4.  How many years have you lived in Luddesdown?

Frequency
876543210

less than 1 year
1 - 5 years

6 - 10 years
11 - 15 years
16 - 25 years

26+ years

1 less than 1 year
5 1 - 5 years
7 6 - 10 years
5 11 - 15 years
7 16 - 25 years
8 26+ years

20 respondents (60%) have lived in Luddesdown for over 10 years.

Page 115



8

Question 5.  Have any of your children/parents/brothers/sisters moved away from 
Luddesdown in the last 5 years, due to difficulties in finding a suitable home locally?

2 Yes 29 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

25

20

15

10

5

0

2 Yes 29 No

Question 6.  Depending on location, would you be in favour of a small development of 
affordable housing for people from the village if there is a proven need?

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

18
16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

12 Yes 19 No

61% of respondents who answered the question (58% of all respondents) would not be in favour of a 
small development of affordable housing for people from Luddesdown.

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make

There were 15 responses to this question; a full list of comments can be found in Appendix L1.

Page 116



9

Question 8.  Do you or a member of your household need separate or alternative 
accommodation either now or in the next 3 years?

Yes, now Yes, next 3 years No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

0 Yes, now
2 Yes, next 3 years

31 No

2 respondents (6%) said they have a housing need in the next 3 years.

Page 117



10

Section 2 – Housing Needs

Question 9. Are you completing this form for someone else?
1 Self 1 Someone else

Self Someone else

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

1

0

1 Self 1 Someone else

Question 10.  If you are completing this form for someone else please state their 
relationship to you and where they currently live e.g. with parents, private renting etc.

The respondent completing the form for someone else was doing so for their adult child who was living 
in the parental home.

Question 11.  Do you currently live in Luddesdown?
2 Yes 0 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

2

1

0

2 Yes 0 No

Page 118



11

Question 12.  What is your connection with the village?  Respondents were asked to indicate all 
connections that applied to them.  

Local connection FREQUENCY
Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years

2

Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 5 years

0

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
for 5 out of the last 10 years

0

Do not currently live in the village but have close family who 
currently live there and have done so continuously for the last 10 
years

0

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
continuously for at least 10 years and, in my opinion, was forced to 
move away due to a lack of suitable accommodation

0

Question 13.  What is your current housing situation?  

Frequency
10

Owner occupier with/without mortgage
Living with relatives

Renting from council
Shared ownership/new build homebuy

Renting from Housing Association
Tied tenancy

Renting privately
Other

0 Owner occupier with/without mortgage
1 Living with relatives
1 Renting from council
0 Shared ownership/new build homebuy
0 Renting from Housing Association
0 Tied tenancy
0 Renting privately
0 Other

Question 14.  How many bedrooms do you have in your current home?

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

1

0

0 1 1 2 1 3 0 4
0 5+

Page 119



12

Question 15.  Are you registered on the Council’s Housing Register?
1 Yes 1 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

1

0

1 Yes 1 No

Question 16.  Are you an older person/household wanting to downsize/move to more 
suitable accommodation?

1 Yes 1 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

1

0

1 Yes 1 No

Page 120



13

Question 17.  Which of the following options would be most suitable for you in alternative 
accommodation?

Frequency
10

Rent from council/housing association*
New build homebuy **

Rent from a private landlord
Owner occupation

Other (please specify)

1 Rent from council/housing association*
0 New build homebuy **
1 Rent from a private landlord
0 Owner occupation
0 Other (please specify)

Question 18.  Do you have any comments on the above options?

There were no comments

Question 19.  What type of accommodation would meet your needs?

Frequency
10

House
Flat/maisonette

Bungalow
Sheltered/retirement housing*

Other

0 House
1 Flat/maisonette
1 Bungalow
0 Sheltered/retirement housing*
0 Other

* To be considered for this type of accommodation, you need to be registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing Register.  Tel: 01474 564422

** Government scheme which enables people to buy a share in a newly built property (also known as shared 
ownership)
 Retirement Housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which offers independent living in a home of your choice 
with other services on hand if you need or want them.

Page 121



14

Question 20.  Do you have any specific requirements?
1 Yes 1 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

1

0

1 Yes 1 No

Question 21.  If you answered ‘Yes’ to Question 20, please give details

The following answer was given:
 Ground floor bathroom.  No stairs.  Grab rails inside and outside of home.

Question 22.  Why do you need to move from your current home and what do you need in a 
new home?

Frequency
10

Need smaller home
Present home too expensive inc. major repairs and maintenance costs

Need to change tenure
Need physically-adapted home

Need larger home
Need to set up independent home

Need to be nearer work
Need for better access to public transport

Need to be close to a carer or dependent, to give or receive support
Other

Question 23.  Please indicate the number of people in each age group (male or female) 
needing to move

AGE 0 - 9 10 -15 16 - 19 20 -24 25 - 44 45 - 59 60 - 74 75+
Male 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Female 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1
Total 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 2

Page 122



15

Question 24.  What type of household will the new household become?

Frequency
10

One-person household
Lone-parent family
Two-parent family

Couple
Other

1 One-person household
0 Lone-parent family
0 Two-parent family
1 Couple
0 Other

Question 25.  Please indicate the total gross annual income of the household in housing 
need

Frequency
10

Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)

£10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)

£20,000 - £30,000

£30,000 - £40,000

£40,000 - £50,000

£50,000 - £60,000

£60,000 - £70,000

More than £70,000

Page 123



16

6.  LOCAL HOUSING COSTS

To fully assess local housing need it is important to look at open market prices in the private sector of 
houses both to rent and buy.

Property for sale

Searches of www.rightmove.co.uk which markets property for a number of leading local estate agents, 
in October 2018 found only one property for sale in Luddesdown at a cost of £3,500,000.  The cheapest 
property to be found was half a mile away: 

Type of Property Number of 
Bedrooms

Price 
£

Terraced house (Cobham) 2 315 000

Property to rent

A similar search for rental property found nothing available.  The nearest and cheapest property found 
was in Meopham:

Type of Property Number of 
Bedrooms

 Price £pcm.

Terraced house (Meopham) 3 1200

Household income required to afford current market prices 

Using local information, the table below shows gross income level needed to purchase a property in the 
area.  The figures are calculated assuming a 15% deposit and using 3.5 x gross income.  Monthly 
repayment is based on a 2 year fixed rate with HSBC at 4.19% (October 2018) 25 year mortgage term 
and is calculated using HSBC’s mortgage calculator.

It should be noted that in the current economic climate lenders have made the borrowing criteria for 
potential mortgagees far stricter by requiring an average deposit of around 15% deposit, making 
securing a mortgage difficult for some first time buyers, especially those on lower incomes.  Although 
there are now higher LTV mortgages available, they tend to attract a higher interest rate.  

Type of Property Price £ Deposit 
(15%)

Gross Income 
Level

Monthly Repayment 

2 bed house 315 000 47 250 76 500 1102

Page 124

http://www.rightmove.co.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


17

To gauge the income level required to afford to rent privately the following calculations assume that 
30% gross income is spent on housing.  (A household is considered able to afford market rented 
housing in cases where the rent payable would constitute no more than 30% of gross income).

Type of Property Price 
£ pcm

Approx. Gross Annual 
income £

3 bed house 1200 48 000

Using HM Land Registry data on house sales (www.mouseprice.com) using postcode area DA13 which 
lies within or includes part of the following towns, counties, localities, electoral wards and stations: 
Cobham, Downs, Gravesend, Hartley and Hodsoll Street, Istead Rise, Kent, Longfield, New Barn and 
Southfleet, Luddesdown, Meopham, Meopham North, Meopham South and Vigo, Northfleet Green, 
Shorne, Cobham and Luddesdown, Snodland West, Sole Street, South Street, Southfleet, Vigo, 
Woodlands, the average house prices in the last 3 months are -

1 bed properties   £308,900
2 bed properties   £386,900
3 bed properties   £433,100
4 bed properties   £614,500
5+ bed properties £778,900

To afford the average cost of a 1 bed property using the mortgage calculation previously shown, a 
salary of £70,866 would be required.  To afford the average cost of a 2 bed property a salary of £93,961 
would be required.

Information provided by ‘mouseprice’ states that the average property in the DA13 area costs £488,900 
with average earnings being £27,037.  This means that the average property costs over 18 times more 
than the average salary. The source used by ‘mouseprice’ to assess price to earnings ratio is Calnea 
Analytics proprietary price data and earnings data – updated quarterly.

Affordable Rent

The Government has introduced changes relating to rents charged to new tenants of social housing from 
April 2011.  Affordable Rent properties allow landlords to set rents anywhere between current social rent 
levels and up to 80% of local market rents.  It is expected that Housing Benefit will support those on a 
lower income who are unable to pay Affordable Rents although this is not guaranteed.

As there were no properties available to rent in Luddesdown and little information available on rent 
levels in comparable adjoining areas, the following table shows housing benefit levels, known as Local 
Housing Allowance (LHA) for the DA13 area, North West Kent BRMA.  These figures have been used to 
estimate affordable rent levels.  

Size of Property Affordable Rent Levels £pcm
1 bed 540
2 bed 683
3 bed 756
4 bed 1114

Page 125

http://www.mouseprice.com/


18

The table below shows income needed to afford the affordable rent levels using 30% of gross income as 
the indicator of what is affordable.

Property Price
£ pcm

Gross annual
Income £

1 bed 540 21 600
2 bed 683 27 320
3 bed 756 30 240
4 bed 1114 44 560

Shared ownership

To give an indication of respondents’ ability to afford shared ownership, levels of income and 
rent/mortgage have been taken into consideration on purchasing a 25% and 40% share of a property 
with estimated values of £250,000 for a 1 bed property, £300,000 for a 2 bed property and £360,000 for 
a 3 bed property.  These values take into consideration prices found on the Help to Buy East and South 
East website in the area www.helptobuyese.orguk and on www.rightmove.co.uk   Affordability is 
calculated using the Homes and Communities Agency’s target incomes calculator.

Calculations are made assuming a 10% deposit of mortgage share.

Property 
price £

Share Deposit 
Required
£

Monthly 
mortgage 
£

Monthly 
rent £

Monthly
Service
charge

Monthly 
total £

Gross
Income 
required

250 000 25% 6250 298 430 80 808 29 111
 250 000 40% 8750 477 344 80 901 31 345
300 000 25% 7500 358 516 80 954 34 357
300 000 40% 12 000 572 413 80 1065 41 699
360 000 25% 9000 429 619 80 1128 40 652
360 000 40% 18 000 687 413 80 1180 62 548

Page 126

http://www.helptobuyese.orguk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


19

7.  ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED

This section is divided into two categories, the need for affordable housing and the needs of 
older households wanting to downsize/move to more suitable housing of all tenures.

7.1  Assessment of the need for affordable housing

One respondent said they need affordable housing in the next 3 years. 

The respondent was excluded because the only tenure they wanted was to rent from a private landlord

7.2 Assessment of the need for housing for older households

One older household said they require alternative housing in the next 3 years.  

Assessment of the 1 household seeking housing in the next 3 years

The 1 household in need of housing in the next 3 years is –
  1 x couple

Couples – there was 1 couple.  The age of each household member was requested

Age Frequency
75+ 2

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Renting from Council 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
2 1

Registered on the Council’s Housing Register:  

Housing Register Frequency
Yes 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent form Council/Housing 
Association

1

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
Bungalow 1

Page 127



20

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1

Details of specific requirements:
 Ground floor bathroom.  No stairs.  Grab rails inside and outside of home

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need physically adapted home 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income Frequency
Under £10,000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in 
Luddesdown.

Page 128



21

8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  

The summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the needs 
of older households.

8.1 Summary of the need for Affordable Housing 

The survey did not identify a need for general needs affordable housing

8.2 Summary of the requirement for housing for older households

The survey has found a requirement for more suitable housing for 1 older household; they are 1 couple 
who currently live in Luddesdown.  

The household requires housing within the next 3 years.  They currently rent from the Council and need 
to move as they require a physically-adapted home.  They require the following:

1 x bungalow to rent from the Council/Housing Association.

Page 129



22

9.  APPENDIX L1

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make (to Q6).

Luddesdown is no different to other villages; some people cannot afford to live there

An affordable housing site would not be in keeping with this area of green belt AONB land

Luddesdown does not have the road capacity to accept more housing.  The roads are narrow and badly 
maintained.  Each new house usually means 2 cars to add to roads.  No shops, buses etc.  It is a rural 
area, keep it so.

We live in an area of outstanding natural beauty (AONB) and these need to be protected otherwise we 
won't have any.

Regarding Q8 neither myself nor my wife wish to alter the current arrangements.  However, my wife has 
Alzheimer’s.  Who knows what the future will bring.

Provided it was just for people from the village and remained so, otherwise it would be just another 
housing development.

Too many houses as it is.

Infrastructure is already stretched - medical and social.

I have no option but to support local housing development as I have 4 children who may want to live 
locally.  However, affordable housing soon becomes inflated at the point of resale and the problem is 
perpetuated.

There isn't the space for a small development and the infrastructure of roads/internet is not suitable.

Under no circumstances should any new houses be built, even if it was just one house.  This will set a 
precedent and soon Luddesdown will be lost.  It will become a built up area with option C river crossing 
it will be overwhelmed with buildings and traffic.  Keep Luddesdown rural, no, no, no to new houses.

There is no need for anymore development in this rural unspoilt greenbelt area.

We are a hamlet, barely a village.  There is no infrastructure.  People move here once they are 
established as a family unit.  We have all had to wait to be able to achieve this.  Youngsters should be 
more central with facilities for young families e.g. buses, trains, shops, school, youth centres.  When the 
time is right the older people move out and downsize - it is misguided to provide homes everywhere.

The concept of affordable housing does not work.  There is nothing to stop local people selling to the 
highest bidders, therefore, the first wave of local buyers will sell on and move, this pushes prices up.

No shops, no transport, no local school.

Page 130



23

Dear Householder

Following a Rural Housing Needs Survey undertaken in Luddesdown Parish in 2013 and as part of an 
ongoing programme of Rural Housing Needs Surveys, the enclosed Survey is being sent out by Action 
with Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK) on the Council’s behalf to assess the need and gauge the level 
of support a small affordable housing scheme might have in your community. We also want to find out 
about the housing needs of older people in Luddesdown Parish who might want to downsize/move to 
more suitable housing.

Responses to the Survey will be analysed by a Rural Housing Enabler from ACRK with all information 
being kept confidential. The Rural Housing Enabler will then provide a summary report to Luddesdown 
Parish Council and Borough Council. 

Affordable housing means homes that can be rented or part bought (shared ownership) usually from a 
Housing Association, so that residents who cannot afford to buy or rent locally will not be forced to move 
away and to help people of all ages who would like to stay or return to their village and contribute to the 
village services that still exist. 

Depending on the outcome of this Survey, the Council and ACRK may try to identify a suitable site within 
Luddesdown Parish. If a site is found a village consultation event will be held so that residents of 
Luddesdown Parish can view and discuss the proposals and put their views forward.

This is a very important issue, so please take time to fill in this Survey.  Even if no one in your household 
has a housing need, we want to know your views.  

Please return this form using the FREEPOST envelope provided by 3 October 2018.

If any further information or additional questionnaires are required please contact the Rural Housing 
Enabler on 01303 813790.

More information is available on housing needs surveys in Gravesham via the following link:
www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-
data/housing-needs-surveys
If you want more information on how ACRK enables rural housing, please use the following link: 
www.ruralkent.org.uk/housing

Yours faithfully

Sharon Donald
Housing Strategy and Development Manager

Housing Strategy and Development Services
Ask for: Sharon Donald
Telephone: 01474 337652
Email: sharon.donald@gravesham.gov.uk
My ref: LP/RHNS/SD
Date: Sep 2018

Page 131

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-needs-surveys
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-needs-surveys
http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/housing


24

Page 132



25

Page 133



26

Page 134



27

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Shorne Rural Housing Needs 
Survey 

October 2018

Tessa O’Sullivan
Rural Housing Enabler
Action with Communities in Rural Kent

www.ruralkent.org.uk

Page 137

http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/


2

Contents         Page

1.  Executive Summary  3

2.  Introduction to the Shorne Rural Housing Needs Survey  4

3.  Background Information  4

4.  Method  5

5.  Results  6

6.  Local Housing Costs 17

7.  Assessment of Housing Need 20
7.1 Assessment of the need for affordable housing 20
7.2 Assessment of the need for housing for older households 27

8.  Summary of Findings 33
8.1 Summary of findings for affordable housing 33
8.2 Summary of findings for housing for older households 34

9.  Appendix SR1 – Question 7 comments 35

10. Appendix SR2 – Letter to householders and housing needs survey 42

Page 138



3

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Rural Housing Enabler (RHE) undertook a housing needs survey in Shorne to ascertain if there are 
shortfalls in affordable housing provision and to examine the housing needs of older households within 
the village.  This report provides overall information as well as analysis of housing need.

A survey was delivered to every household within Shorne in September 2018.  Approximately 1056 
surveys were distributed with 338 surveys being returned, representing a 32% response rate.  

Analysis of the returned survey forms identified that 89% of all respondents are owner occupiers.  71% 
of respondents have lived in Shorne for over 10 years.

High property prices and a predominance of privately owned homes means that some local people are 
unable to afford a home within Shorne.  For a first time buyer an income of £110,500 per annum and a 
deposit of £68,250 are needed to buy the cheapest property available within Shorne, which, at the time 
of writing the report, was a 3 bed detached house for £455,000. To be able to afford to rent privately an 
income of approximately £38,000 is required for the cheapest property available which was a 2 bed 
cottage for £950pcm.  

A need for up to 6 affordable homes, for the following local households was identified:
 2 single people
 2 couples
 2 families
 All 6 households currently live in Shorne

Our analysis has also identified a need for alternative housing for 9 older households:
 5 single people
 4 couples
 All 9 households currently live in Shorne
 5 of the older households require alternative open market homes and 4 require rented housing 

from the Council/Housing Association

Overall, the survey has identified a need for 10 affordable homes, 4 of which are for older households.  
In addition there is a requirement for 5 open market properties for older households who wish to 
downsize/move to more suitable housing for their needs.  

Page 139



4

2.  INTRODUCTION TO THE SHORNE HOUSING NEEDS SURVEY

Shorne is a village approximately 5 miles south of Gravesend in the Borough of Gravesham with a 
population of 2487; 1417 of those people are aged 45 and over (2011 Census).  The nearest railway 
station is in Gravesend (24 minutes from London St Pancras) and Ebbsfleet International railway station 
is 7 miles away.

Rural Housing Needs Surveys aim to investigate and establish the affordable housing needs of people 
who live in or have close ties to a parish or rural area, and provide an independent report of that need, 
if any, using a transparent and robust methodology.

The Rural Housing Enabler worked with Gravesham Borough Council to determine the format of the 
housing needs survey to be used in the Gravesham area; this was then sent to all Parish Councils in the 
borough for consultation. It is intended that all the rural areas of the Borough will be surveyed on a 
rolling-out programme. 

A survey was undertaken in Shorne to establish the level of need for affordable housing.

The aim of this survey is to identify in general terms if there is, or is not, a housing need from local 
people.  It is not to provide a list of names and addresses of individuals requiring a home.  If a need is 
identified, then a further Registration of Interest survey may be undertaken to update the levels of 
housing need.  At this stage, further details such as name and address, income, housing need and 
details of local connection will be taken.  The identification of potential sites, e.g. infill sites, to meet the 
identified need would then be undertaken, preferably with the assistance of Shorne Parish Council.

3. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In a report published in June 2018 by the Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR) it is stated that: 
‘The affordability gaps in rural areas are high compared to urban areas. The average rural house price is 
around £19,000 above the average for England as a whole, at £320,700 compared to £301,900, and is 
more than £87,000 higher than the urban average excluding London (£233,600)* 

Small developments of local needs housing schemes can provide affordable housing for local people, 
thereby enabling them to stay in their community and contribute to village life.  This can make a real 
difference to the vitality of village services.

In 2007 Matthew Taylor, then MP for Truro and St Austell, was asked by the then Prime Minister to 
conduct a review on how land use and planning can better support rural business and deliver affordable 
housing. Many rural communities are faced by a combination of higher than average house prices and 
lower than average local wages. This can create challenges for individual families, the local economy 
and the wider sustainability of the community.

On July 23rd 2008 Matthew Taylor presented his Review to the Government.  The then Government 
issued their response to the review in March 2009 where they accepted the majority of Matthew Taylor’s 
recommendations (Department of Communities and Local Government 2009). 

The Government believe that the Community Right To Build will shift power from them to allow local 
people to deliver homes that are needed in their communities so that villages are vibrant places to live 
and younger people are not forced to move away because of a shortage of affordable homes.†  The 

* A New Rural Settlement: Fixing the affordable housing crisis in rural England https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-
06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
† http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/neighbourhoodplansimpact

Page 140

https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf
https://www.ippr.org/files/2018-06/1530194000_a-new-rural-settlement-june18.pdf


5

Community Right to Build forms part of the neighbourhood planning provisions contained in the Localism 
Act 2011.  

The Rural Housing Enabler Programme, which is delivered in Kent through Action with Communities in 
Rural Kent – the Rural Community Council for Kent and Medway, is supported by Local Authorities 
across Kent and Medway including Sevenoaks District Council.

Action with Communities in Rural Kent is a registered charity (No. 212796) whose purpose is to improve 
the quality of life of local communities, particularly for disadvantaged people, and to facilitate the 
development of thriving, diverse and sustainable communities throughout rural Kent.  Since March 1998 
Action with Communities in Rural Kent has employed a Rural Housing Enabler whose role is to provide 
independent support, advice and information to Parish Councils and community groups concerned with 
the lack of local needs housing in their rural communities.

The RHE will assist with carrying out a housing needs survey, analyse the results and when appropriate 
help identify suitable sites in conjunction with the local authority and others, for a local needs housing 
scheme.  Once a partnership has been established between the Parish Council, the chosen housing 
association and the local authority to develop a scheme, the independent role of the RHE helps to 
ensure the project proceeds smoothly and to the benefit of the community.

4.  METHOD

The Rural Housing Enabler from Action with Communities in Rural Kent posted a copy of the survey to 
every household in Shorne in September 2018.   

Surveys were returned in pre-paid envelopes to Action with Communities in Rural Kent.  Copies of the 
survey were available for anyone to complete who had left Shorne and wished to return, they were held 
by the Rural Housing Enabler. It was asked that completed survey forms were returned by 3rd October 
2018.  All surveys received at Action with Communities in Rural Kent by the 30th June are included in this 
report. 

Approximately 1056 surveys were distributed with 338 returned by this date representing a return rate 
of 32%.

Some surveys were not fully completed therefore the results are shown for the total answers to each 
question.

Page 141



6

5.  RESULTS 

Section 1

Listed below are the results of each question asked by the housing needs survey. 

Question 1.  How would you describe your home? 

Frequency
2001000

House
Flat/maisonette/bedsit

Sheltered/retirement housing*
Bungalow

Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
Other

238 House
5 Flat/maisonette/bedsit
2 Sheltered/retirement housing*

88 Bungalow
0 Caravan/mobile home/temporary structure
0 Other

Question 2.  How many bedrooms does your current home have?

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

120

100

80

60

40

20

0

12 1 55 2 134 3
108 4 25 5+

 Retirement housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which consists of purpose built accommodation in which 
varying amounts of care and support can be offered, and where some facilities are shared

Page 142



7

Question 3. Who owns your home?

Frequency
2001000

Owned outright by a household member(s)

Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)

Rented from a Housing Association

Tied to a job

Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)

Rented from the local council

Rented from a private landlord

Other

224 Owned outright by a household member(s)
78 Owned with mortgage by a household member(s)
3 Rented from a Housing Association
0 Tied to a job
0 Shared ownership (part owned/part rented)

18 Rented from the local council
10 Rented from a private landlord
2 Other

89% of respondents who answered the question are owner occupiers; 66% own their homes outright 
and 23% have a mortgage.

Question 4.  How many years have you lived in Shorne?

Frequency
120100806040200

less than 1 year

1 - 5 years

6 - 10 years

11 - 15 years

16 - 25 years

26+ years

15 less than 1 year
48 1 - 5 years
37 6 - 10 years
36 11 - 15 years
71 16 - 25 years

131 26+ years

238 respondents (71%) have lived in Shorne for over 10 years.

Page 143



8

Question 5.  Have any of your children/parents/brothers/sisters moved away from Shorne 
in the last 5 years, due to difficulties in finding a suitable home locally?

25 Yes 306 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

25 Yes 306 No

Question 6.  Depending on location, would you be in favour of a small development of 
affordable housing for people from the village if there is a proven need?

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

160
140
120
100
80
60
40
20
0

141 Yes 178 No

56% of respondents who answered the question (52% of all respondents) would not be in favour of a 
small development of affordable housing for people from Shorne.

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make

There were 118 responses to this question; a full list of comments can be found in Appendix S1.

Page 144



9

Question 8.  Do you or a member of your household need separate or alternative 
accommodation either now or in the next 3 years?

Yes, now Yes, next 3 years No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

300
250
200
150
100
50
0

5 Yes, now
13 Yes, next 3 years

320 No

18 respondents (5%) said they have a housing need either now or in the next 3 years.

Page 145



10

Section 2 – Housing Needs

Question 9. Are you completing this form for someone else?

Self Someone else

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

13 Self 5 Someone else

Question 10.  If you are completing this form for someone else please state their 
relationship to you and where they currently live e.g. with parents, private renting etc.

Respondents who were completing the form for someone else were doing so for their adult children who 
were still living in the parental home.

Question 11.  Do you currently live in Shorne?
17 Yes 1 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

16
14
12
10
8
6
4
2
0

17 Yes 1 No

Page 146



11

Question 12.  What is your connection with the village?  Respondents were asked to indicate all 
connections that applied to them.  

Local connection FREQUENCY
Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 10 years

11

Currently live in the village and have done so continuously for the 
last 5 years

5

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
for 5 out of the last 10 years

1

Do not currently live in the village but have close family who 
currently live there and have done so continuously for the last 10 
years

1

Do not currently live in the village but have previously lived there 
continuously for at least 10 years and, in my opinion, was forced to 
move away due to a lack of suitable accommodation

1

Question 13.  What is your current housing situation?  

Frequency
6420

Owner occupier with/without mortgage
Living with relatives

Renting from council
Shared ownership/new build homebuy

Renting from Housing Association
Tied tenancy

Renting privately
Other

5 Owner occupier with/without mortgage
6 Living with relatives
2 Renting from council
0 Shared ownership/new build homebuy
0 Renting from Housing Association
0 Tied tenancy
5 Renting privately
0 Other

Question 14.  How many bedrooms do you have in your current home?

1 2 3 4 5+

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

7

6

5

4

3

2

1

0

2 1 4 2 2 3 7 4
2 5+

Page 147



12

Question 15.  Are you registered on the Council’s Housing Register?
5 Yes 13 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

5 Yes 13 No

Question 16.  Are you an older person/household wanting to downsize/move to more 
suitable accommodation?

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1
0

9 Yes 9 No

Page 148



13

Question 17.  Which of the following options would be most suitable for you in alternative 
accommodation?

Frequency
6420

Rent from council/housing association*

New build homebuy **

Rent from a private landlord

Owner occupation

Other (please specify)

7 Rent from council/housing association*
3 New build homebuy **
0 Rent from a private landlord
7 Owner occupation
1 Other (please specify)

Question 18.  Do you have any comments on the above options?

The following comments were made:
 Please note my daughter does not have to move but would like to stay in the village and would 

like to leave home as part of her progression in life
 It would be beneficial to have more houses built in the village to accommodate the demand
 I retire in 3 years and won’t be able to afford the high rent I currently pay so would need 

something not too expensive but still stay in the village
 I may need this change in 3 years or not if I am healthy and able to work
 80 next year
 Not clear on my options when my father passes on and the property needs to be sold to pay the 

equity company
 I would like to part buy but not sure I can at age 54?  I work full time though

* To be considered for this type of accommodation, you need to be registered on Gravesham Borough Council’s 
Housing Register.  Tel: 01474 564422

** Government scheme which enables people to buy a share in a newly built property (also known as shared 
ownership)

Page 149



14

Question 19.  What type of accommodation would meet your needs?

Frequency
1050

House
Flat/maisonette

Bungalow
Sheltered/retirement housing*

Other

11 House
7 Flat/maisonette

10 Bungalow
6 Sheltered/retirement housing*
0 Other

Question 20.  Do you have any specific requirements?
5 Yes 12 No

Yes No

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y

12

10

8

6

4

2

0

5 Yes 12 No

Question 21.  If you answered ‘Yes’ to Question 20, please give details

The following answers were given:
 Can’t get in my bath.  Painful joints, am currently on housing list B medical need
 There does not seem to be suitable housing for someone wishing to downsize in Shorne
 Ground floor
 Due to age related health problems need to be on one leave
 I have medical needs that make moving around hard and I’m epileptic
 Parking available.  Small garden

 Retirement Housing includes Extra Care Accommodation which offers independent living in a home of your choice 
with other services on hand if you need or want them.

Page 150



15

Question 22.  Why do you need to move from your current home and what do you need in a 
new home?

Frequency
50

Need smaller home

Present home too expensive inc. major repairs and maintenance costs

Need to change tenure

Need physically-adapted home

Need larger home

Need to set up independent home

Need to be nearer work

Need for better access to public transport

Need to be close to a carer or dependent, to give or receive support

Other

Question 23.  Please indicate the number of people in each age group (male or female) 
needing to move

AGE 0 - 9 10 -15 16 - 19 20 -24 25 - 44 45 - 59 60 - 74 75+
Male 0 2 0 2 3 2 4 1
Female 2 0 0 2 3 2 6 0
Total 0 2 0 4 6 4 10 1

Question 24.  What type of household will the new household become?

Frequency
876543210

One-person household
Lone-parent family
Two-parent family

Couple
Other

8 One-person household
2 Lone-parent family
1 Two-parent family
7 Couple
0 Other

Page 151



16

Question 25.  Please indicate the total gross annual income of the household in housing 
need

Frequency
6543210

Under £10,000 (less than £190 pw)

£10,000 - £20,000 (£190-£380 pw)

£20,000 - £30,000

£30,000 - £40,000

£40,000 - £50,000

£50,000 - £60,000

£60,000 - £70,000

More than £70,000

Page 152



17

6.  LOCAL HOUSING COSTS

To fully assess local housing need it is important to look at open market prices in the private sector of 
houses both to rent and buy.

Property for sale

Searches of www.rightmove.co.uk which markets property for a number of leading local estate agents, 
in October 2018 found 10 properties for sale in Shorne; only one of those properties was valued under 
£500,000, see table below:

Type of Property Number of 
Bedrooms

Price 
£

Detached house 3 455 000

Property to rent

A similar search for rental property found the following 3 properties available to rent:

Type of Property Number of 
Bedrooms

 Price £pcm.

Cottage 2 950
Detached house 4 1775
Semi-detached house 4 2300

Household income required to afford current market prices 

Using local information, the table below shows gross income level needed to purchase a property in the 
area.  The figures are calculated assuming a 15% deposit and using 3.5 x gross income.  Monthly 
repayment is based on a 2 year fixed rate with HSBC at 4.19% (October 2018) 25 year mortgage term 
and is calculated using HSBC’s mortgage calculator.

It should be noted that in the current economic climate lenders have made the borrowing criteria for 
potential mortgagees far stricter by requiring an average deposit of around 15%, making securing a 
mortgage difficult for some first time buyers, especially those on lower incomes.  Although there are 
now higher LTV mortgages available, they tend to attract a higher interest rate.  

Type of Property Price £ Deposit 
(15%)

Gross Income 
Level

Monthly Repayment 

3 bed house 455 000 68 250 110 500 1591

Page 153

http://www.rightmove.co.uk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


18

To gauge the income level required to afford to rent privately the following calculations assume that 
30% gross income is spent on housing.  (A household is considered able to afford market rented 
housing in cases where the rent payable would constitute no more than 30% of gross income).

Type of Property Price 
£ pcm

Approx. Gross Annual 
income £

2 bed cottage 950 38 000
4 bed house 1775 71 000
4 bed house 2300 104 000

Using HM Land Registry data on house sales (www.mouseprice.com) using postcode area DA13 which 
lies within or includes part of the following towns, counties, localities, electoral wards and stations: 
Cobham, Downs, Gravesend, Hartley and Hodsoll Street, Istead Rise, Kent, Longfield, New Barn and 
Southfleet, Luddesdown, Meopham, Meopham North, Meopham South and Vigo, Northfleet Green, 
Shorne, Cobham and Luddesdown, Snodland West, Sole Street, South Street, Southfleet, Vigo, 
Woodlands, the average house prices in the last 3 months are -

1 bed properties   £308,900
2 bed properties   £386,900
3 bed properties   £433,100
4 bed properties   £614,500
5+ bed properties £778,900

To afford the average cost of a 1 bed property using the mortgage calculation previously shown, a 
salary of £70,866 would be required.  To afford the average cost of a 2 bed property a salary of £93,961 
would be required.

Information provided by ‘mouseprice’ states that the average property in the DA13 area costs £488,900 
with average earnings being £27,037.  This means that the average property costs over 18 times more 
than the average salary. The source used by ‘mouseprice’ to assess price to earnings ratio is Calnea 
Analytics proprietary price data and earnings data – updated quarterly.

Affordable Rent

The Government has introduced changes relating to rents charged to new tenants of social housing from 
April 2011.  Affordable Rent properties allow landlords to set rents anywhere between current social rent 
levels and up to 80% of local market rents.  It is expected that Housing Benefit will support those on a 
lower income who are unable to pay Affordable Rents although this is not guaranteed.

As there were only 3 properties available to rent in Shorne and little information available on rent levels 
in comparable adjoining areas, the following table shows housing benefit levels, known as Local Housing 
Allowance (LHA) for the DA13 area, North West Kent BRMA.  These figures have been used to estimate 
affordable rent levels.  

Size of Property Affordable Rent Levels £pcm
1 bed 540
2 bed 683
3 bed 756
4 bed 1114

Page 154

http://www.mouseprice.com/


19

The table below shows income needed to afford the affordable rent levels using 30% of gross income as 
the indicator of what is affordable.

Property Price
£ pcm

Gross annual
Income £

1 bed 540 21 600
2 bed 683 27 320
3 bed 756 30 240
4 bed 1114 44 560

Shared ownership

To give an indication of respondents’ ability to afford shared ownership, levels of income and 
rent/mortgage have been taken into consideration on purchasing a 25% and 40% share of a property 
with estimated values of £250,000 for a 1 bed property, £300,000 for a 2 bed property and £360,000 for 
a 3 bed property.  These values take into consideration prices found on the Help to Buy East and South 
East website in the area www.helptobuyese.orguk and on www.rightmove.co.uk   Affordability is 
calculated using the Homes and Communities Agency’s target incomes calculator.

Calculations are made assuming a 10% deposit of mortgage share.

Property 
price £

Share Deposit 
Required
£

Monthly 
mortgage 
£

Monthly 
rent £

Monthly
Service
charge

Monthly 
total £

Gross
Income 
required

250 000 25% 6250 298 430 80 808 29 111
 250 000 40% 8750 477 344 80 901 31 345
300 000 25% 7500 358 516 80 954 34 357
300 000 40% 12 000 572 413 80 1065 41 699
360 000 25% 9000 429 619 80 1128 40 652
360 000 40% 18 000 687 413 80 1180 62 548

Page 155

http://www.helptobuyese.orguk/
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/


20

7.  ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED

This section is divided into two categories, the need for affordable housing and the needs of 
older households wanting to downsize/move to more suitable housing of all tenures.

7.1  Assessment of the need for affordable housing

Nine respondents said they need affordable housing; 2 respondents need it now and 7 in the next 3 
years.  At this stage, some respondents might be excluded if they do not want or are not eligible for 
affordable housing.  

Assessment of the 2 households seeking housing now

One respondent was excluded because the only tenure they said they wanted was owner occupation.

The 1 household in need of affordable housing now is –
 1 family

Families there was 1 family

Ages

Adult
Age

Adult 
Age

Child 
Age

Child 
Age

Child
Age

Child
Age

Family 1 25-44 10-15 M

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Renting from the Council 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
2 1

Registered on the council’s housing register:  

Housing Register Frequency
Yes 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent from Council/Housing 
Association

1

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
Flat/maisonette/Bungalow 1

Page 156



21

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1

Details of requirements:
 I have medical needs that make moving around hard and I’m epileptic

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Other (relationship 
breakdown)

1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income Frequency
£10,000 - £20,000 1

The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Shorne.

The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, affordable rent, shared ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income Number of 
respondents

Affordable
rent

Private 
rent

Shared 
ownership

Open 
market

£10,000 - 
£20,000

1 1 with HB 0 0 0

It is assumed that respondents who cannot afford the affordable rent will be eligible for housing benefit.  

Page 157



22

Assessment of the 7 households seeking housing in the next 3 years

Two respondents were excluded from this final assessment for the following reasons:
 2 x tenure required was owner occupation only 

The 5 households in need of affordable housing in the next 3 years are –
  2 single people
  2 couples
  1 family

Single people – there were 2 single people

Age Frequency
20-24 1
45-59 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
3 1
4 1

Registered on the Council’s housing register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 2

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent from Council/housing 
association

1

New build homebuy 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
House 1
Flat/maisonette/Bungalow/
House

1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 2

Page 158



23

Reason for seeking new home:  There were no responses to this question

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income Frequency
£20,000 - £30,000 2

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Shorne.

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, affordable rent, shared ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income Number of 
respondents

Affordable
rent

Private 
rent

Shared 
ownership

Open 
market

£20,000 - 
£30,000

2 2 0 1 x 1 bed 0

Couples – there were 2 couples.  The age of each household member was requested – one respondent 
did not indicate their partner’s age

Age Frequency
20-24 1
25-44 2

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Living with relatives 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
4 2

Registered on the Council’s housing register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 2

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
New build homebuy 2

Page 159



24

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
House/Flat/Maisonette 2

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 2

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to set up independent 
home

2

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income Frequency
£20,000-£30,000 1
£40,000-£60,000 1

The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria; they currently live in Shorne. 

The following table shows the respondents’ ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, affordable rent, shared ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income Number of 
respondents

Affordable
rent

Private 
rent

Shared 
ownership

Open 
market

£20,000-
£30,000

1 1 0 1 x 1 bed 0

£40,000-
£60,000

1 1 1 1 x 2 bed 0

Page 160



25

Families there was 1 family

Ages

Adult
Age

Adult 
Age

Child 
Age

Child 
Age

Child
Age

Child
Age

Family 1 45-59 10-15 M

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Renting privately 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
3 1

Registered on the Council’s housing register:  

Housing Register Frequency
Yes 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent from Council/Housing 
Association

1

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
House/Bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
No 1

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Other (Not sure how long 
house will be available to rent)

1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income Frequency
£20,000 - £30,000 1

The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Shorne.

Page 161



26

The following table shows the respondent’s ability to afford the various forms of tenure available; private 
rent, affordable rent, shared ownership and open market.

It should be noted that actual affordability of open market purchase depends on the ability to pay at 
least a 15% deposit and other finances necessary to buy a home.  Actual affordability of shared 
ownership also depends on having the necessary finances.

Shared ownership has only been assessed where a desire for it has been indicated.

Income Number of 
respondents

Affordable
rent

Private 
rent

Shared 
ownership

Open 
market

£20,000 - 
£30,000

1 1 0 0 0

Page 162



27

7.1 Assessment of the need for housing for older households

Nine older households said they need alternative housing; 3 need it now and 6 in the next 3 years.  

Assessment of the 3 households seeking housing now

The 3 households in need of housing now are –
 1 single person
 2 couples

Single people – there was 1 single person

Age Frequency
60-74 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
4 1

Registered on the Council’s housing register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 1

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
Bungalow/House 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1

Details of specific requirements:
 Parking available.  Small garden

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 1

Page 163



28

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income Frequency
£10,000-£20,000 1

The respondent indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Shorne.

Couples – there were 2 couples.  The age of each household member was requested

Age Frequency
45-59 2
60-74 2

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 1
Renting privately 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
2 1
Studio flat 1

Registered on the Council’s housing register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 1
Yes 1

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 1
Rent from Council/Housing 
Association

1

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
Sheltered/retirement housing/
Bungalow

1

Flat/maisonette/Bungalow 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 2

Page 164



29

Details of specific requirements:
 Due to age related health problems need to be on one level
 Can’t get in bath.  Painful joints am currently on housing list B, medical need

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need physical adapted home 1
Need accommodation on one 
level

1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  One respondent did not answer the question

Income Frequency
£20,000 - £30,000 1
£30,000 - £40,000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Shorne.

Page 165



30

Assessment of the 6 households seeking housing in the next 3 years

The 6 households in need of housing in the next 3 years are –
  4 x single people
  2 x couples

Single People – there were 4 single people

Age Frequency
60-74 4

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Owner occupier 2
Renting privately 2

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
1 1
2 1
4 1
5+ 1

Registered on the Council’s housing register:  

Housing Register Frequency
No 4

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Owner occupation 2
Rent from Council/Housing 
Association

2

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
House/Flat/maisonette/
Bungalow/Sheltered/retirement
housing

2

Sheltered/retirement housing/
Bungalow

2

Specific requirements:  

Requirement Frequency
No 4

Page 166



31

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need smaller home 2
Other – Cost of private rent 1
Other – Pending retirement 1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  One respondent did not answer the question

Income Frequency
£30,000 - £40,000 3
£60,000 - £70,000 1

The respondents indicated one of the local connection criteria; they all currently live in Shorne.

Couples – there were 2 couples.  The age of each household member was requested

Age Frequency
60-74 3
75+ 1

Current housing: 

Current Housing Frequency
Renting from Council 1
Owner occupier 1

Current number of bedrooms:

No of bedrooms Frequency
1 1
4 1

Registered on the Council’s housing register:  

Housing Register Frequency
Yes 2

Tenure best suited:  

Tenure Frequency
Rent form Council/Housing 
Association

1

Owner occupation/Other – 
OAP home

1

Page 167



32

Type of housing needed:

Type of housing Frequency
Bungalow 1
Sheltered/retirement housing 1

Specific requirements:

Requirement Frequency
Yes 1
No 1

Details of specific requirements:
 Ground floor

Reason for seeking new home:  

Reason Frequency
Need to be close to a carer or 
dependent, to give or receive 
support

1

Other – Ground floor as stairs 
are becoming difficult

1

Household’s joint gross annual income:  

Income Frequency
£10,000 - £20,000 1
£20,000 - £30,000 1

The respondents indicated at least one of the local connection criteria.  They currently live in Shorne.

Page 168



33

8.  SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  

The summary is in two sections; summary of the need for affordable housing and summary of the needs 
of older households.

8.1 Summary of the need for Affordable Housing 

The Housing Needs Survey has found a need for up to 6 homes for local people who are in need of 
affordable housing; they are 2 single people, 2 couples and 2 families.

1 of the households needs housing now and 5 in the next 3 years.

The 6 respondents who are in need of affordable housing indicated strong local connections to Shorne; 
they all currently live there.

There are a total of 8 adults and 2 children in housing need.

4 households are currently living with relatives, 1 household is a Council tenant and 1 is a private tenant.  

The majority of respondents wanted a house or a flat/maisonette.

In total, 3 respondents indicated an interest in new build homebuy; these households indicated the 
ability to afford a share of a property.  More detailed analysis of their income, amount of deposit they 
have available and actual cost of the shared ownership property would be required to confirm 
affordability.  

Taking into account Gravesham Borough Council’s allocation policy and Help to Buy eligibility, the 
following size and tenure of properties has been identified – 

Rented HA/Council
 1 x 1 bed
 2 x 2 bed

Newbuild Homebuy
 2 x 1 bed
 1 x 2 bed

Page 169



34

8.2 Summary of the requirement for housing for older households

The survey has found a requirement for more suitable housing for 9 older households; they are 5 single 
people and 4 couples.  They all currently live in Shorne.

3 households require housing now and 6 within the next 3 years.

5 households are owner occupiers, 3 households are private rented tenants and 1 is a Council tenant.

The most frequently given reason for needing an alternative home was the need for a smaller home; 
other reasons include need to be close to a carer and need a physically-adapted home.

5 households want to buy alternative housing on the open market and 4 want to rent from the 
Council/Housing Association.  

The 9 older households said they require the following type of housing:
 1 x flat/maisonette/bungalow (rented)
 1 x bungalow (rented)
 1 x sheltered/retirement housing
 1 x house/bungalow
 3 x sheltered/retirement housing/bungalow
 2 x bungalow/flat/maisonette/house/sheltered/retirement housing (2 x rented)

Page 170



35

9.  APPENDIX S1

Question 7.  Please provide any further comments that you would like to make (to Q6).

There is plenty of affordable housing within a 5 mile radius

Not on Riverview Park

The sole reason to 'No' in Q7 is due to how government, County Councils and Borough Councils grant an initial 
planning application and then extend a site or an alternative site in reasonably close proximity to the first one.

There is no such thing as a 'small development' it is always the thin end of the wedge.

The village is already crowded - with constant traffic problems and local facilities over-stretched.

Providing parking is considered properly.

I live in Marling Way, Shorne West and I find it almost impossible to get my car out of my driveway.  I could agree 
to any more housing until you try to alleviate the traffic problems.

But not on farmland or greenbelt.  Kent is already becoming a concrete jungle and the reason we chose to live 
where we are, because it's rural.

We live on Riverview Park just off Thong Lane so we don't class that as living in Shorne village.

We know many people in the village and the balance is great.

We have to live somewhere.

Resources such as shop, doctor, school are not there, especially the school which causes chaos in the village.  
Access roads from A2 and Rochester Road are inadequate.

If an increase in housing was to occur then a proportionate increase in infrastructure would be desirable.

Shorne is a tiny village and don't think it could deal with any new development.  Volume of traffic is bad enough.

Local services such as doctors and dentist are already stretched - this will add to problem unless further surgeries 
are invested in.  Building should not cream the profit.

Do not wish to see beauty of village ruined by new houses anywhere.

No more houses - too busy.

Shorne is an area mostly in natural beauty with wonderful greenbelt with a community ethic.  We would not want 
this to be built on and spoilt.

I feel things are fine as they are.

Appreciate the need for more houses but would like to retain the village/community feel that is in existence.

Page 171



36

We chose to live in a rural community.  Any development would take that feeling away - affordable housing does 
not mean it would go to local people.  Guarantee it would - I doubt it.  Incoming residents would not appreciate 
the way of life.

Providing it is for people from the village and local area and not built on greenbelt land.

As we are having this LTC built in our back gardens with all the associated pollution and inconvenience the houses 
should go elsewhere.

Totally against any change to the format of this village.  We are already being bombarded with Lower Thames 
Crossing, building no greenbelt, no this.  Gravesend Council need to stand up to the government and tell it like it 
is that the borough cannot take any more housing and people.  We are over-populated for the amount of jobs, 
land and infrastructure available.  Enough is enough.

We live in a rural area surrounded by woods that are for all to enjoy not to have trees removed for more housing.

As I live in Shorne West this does not affect me.  We have our own problems with future development on 
greenbelt land being proposed.

Definitely only for people from the village not overspill.  Suggestion all housing fitted with solar panels - an 
advantage to residents.

Shorne village is and should remain protected.  Introducing affordable homes would devalue the area and homes 
and is not the right demographic for Shorne.

As long as young people or people in need from the village are given first choice.  Also the village needs more 
elderly accommodation for residents to be able to move down.

Shorne is a traditional village not a part of Gravesend itself.  This corridor of green land between Gravesend and 
Higham need protecting.

Small development not on greenbelt.

Re Q8.  I am 90 years old and for my age in good health.  However, in September I have to have an operation to 
rectify a previous treatment so I cannot really give an answer to Q8 until have some experience of my 'repair'.

Not on greenbelt land

Affordable housing is always a 'relative' statement.  I am for it, as long as it is sensible and not just for 'friends of 
friends'.  Who decides who gets a house?

With the huge housing developments on Gravesham's borders at Ebbsfleet there is no need for any more housing 
in an already densely populated area.  The roads and local services are unable to cope with any more people.

Thousands of homes already in this area - what's going to happen to our greenbelt?

It will not be for people from the village but outsiders.

Too much congestion already.

Shorne is a small village and should remain that way.

Difficult to think where a new development could go without spoiling the village.

Page 172



37

Villages must keep boundaries no urban sprawl.

Local area has reached development saturation point.  There is insufficient public services and transport 
infrastructure for any further development.  100% oppose.

Existing local authority houses in Shorne should be allocated to Shore families.

There is already a considerable amount of social housing in Shorne many of which house people who choose not 
to work.  More would only encourage even more to live curtsey of the state and the tax payers.  Those that can 
should get jobs.

Only if it also contained space for people buying in full with a mortgage as well.

Preserving the greenbelt land separating Gravesend and Medway Towns is of paramount importance to me.

I feel enough of our beautiful countryside and wildlife is being lost.  Anymore housing in such a lovely part of 
Kent, would be a terrible shame.

No space.

I walked through Gravesend this morning and it is a disgrace; homeless people everywhere.  The borough doesn't 
need affordable housing it needs investment in social care to help those with mental health conditions, addiction 
first.  Fix that then let's talk about affordable housing.

Only in favour of a small development for people from Shorne.

Another Racsfield Close

The parish needs to remain in the character it has had for many years, as the villagers have known and respected 
for a very long time.  Affordable housing will drastically change the dynamics of this beautiful village.

I have 4 grandchildren, 3 of which are looking for affordable housing.

No brownfield sites in the village (that we're aware of) so would require building on greenbelt/agricultural land - 
not acceptable.  Would potentially change the character of the village - adversely.  Our children recognise that to 
return to Shorne they need to gradually progress in property market (as we did 25 years ago).

Services are not able to cope - SP etc.

There would be no infrastructure to cater for more homes.

There are people from outside the village living in social housing - it there was need for housing from the village 
people that is where they should be.

Are we talking affordable or social?

Say no to the Lower Thames Crossing.  No greenbelt land should be built on.  No person’s right to light not their 
present rural outlook should be affect in any way.  How much valuable tax payer’s money has been wasted on this 
survey?

With the proposed building of option c, we feel currently the area is overdeveloped.

Page 173



38

Perhaps a continuation of the row of houses along the A226 between Chalk and Shorne.  I would not like the 
actual village to be changed.

Only following consultation as to the location and infrastructure provision to support the development.

Estates being built all around Shorne destroying the rural life that we came from London to achieve.  A2 so 
congested already and gridlocked most days - would only get worse.

Very dependent on location.  Shorne is surrounded by beautiful woods and farmland and this should be preserved 
from any development - housing or otherwise.  You'll never get it back.

Strongly oppose a housing development.

Why is the Council intent on ruining our local villages, such as Shorne.  Firstly we had the threat of an airport in 
the estuary, then we had the new crematorium/cemetery at Chalk, which is already making traffic on A226 much 
heavier than before, now we have the river crossing to content with, are you now really considering extra housing 
in the area, Shorne does not have the infrastructure for it.  The school is already full and some local people are 
having a problem getting their children into it; the doctor's surgery is always full, and the traffic through the 
village is really heavy, especially at school times.  There is affordable housing in the Shorne area already with 
several small cottages often coming on the market, and, of course there is already plenty of housing being built 
around this area, Ebbsfleet, Cuxton, Snodland, Wainscott, as well as further into Kent.  I think Kent is doing its bit 
as far as new housing is concerned and it is essential that we keep our rural villages such as Shorne to have a 
balance.

At the moment there is a field to the back of the property and would like it to stay that way.

The roads through Shorne are getting busier and there are no amenities such as school, doctors as they are 
stretched to bursting already.

The village, particularly the Ridgeway, is already heavily trafficked and at times noisy and dangerous.  Additional 
housing will add to this problem.  More recently the village was threatened by the Lower Thames Crossing (KCC 
supported) and is vulnerable.

Affordable housing for previous family members who've moved away would be acceptable providing utilities are 
available and limited number of houses.

I would not be in favour of any large scale development as it would spoil the village.

We do not have the infrastructure for more housing i.e. doctors, schools, poor bus service also Higham station 
does not have good links to London now during the day.  It's too rural for most people they want to be in 
Gravesend with better access to amenities.  Shorne and Higham are not desirable areas to live for young or old 
people as if you don't have a car it would be hard to get anywhere.

Why do we have to keep developing the South East?  The country is full.

As long as infrastructure was in place - more shops or a small supermarket would be good.

There is hardly any green spaces left in the village and the village would be getting too large for its amenities.

Affordable housing is not suited to villages.  Public transport is not good enough.

Page 174



39

Good idea to have affordable housing, not everyone can afford to live in the village so this gives other people a 
chance to live here.

We had one on St Mary's Island.  The resident in affordable house did not look after their property or gardens and 
it made certain areas scruffy.  Such a shame as the houses were lovely.

Don't think we should build on green belt as am concerned about the disappearing countryside.

Shorne is already going to be blighted by the lower Thames river crossing and now you want to further blight the 
village by building where it's not wanted or welcome.  Leave Shorne alone.  Small is good big is bad.  You planners 
won't be happy until there is no green and pleasant land left in England.

Village is small and already very busy with traffic and in order to keep the integrity and quaintness of the village 
and its surrounding areas - no more houses should be built.

Leave the greenbelt alone, build and you're out.

Will possibly destroy greenbelt, when already Option C will be doing that.

Yes, if it is in Shorne West, where there is room, presumably using infill around the new Thames Crossing link 
road, adjoining Riverview Park.  I cannot see Shorne village itself has any suitable places.

Cannot answer Q6 as I don't know of location of sites you have in mind.

No as overcrowded now, hard to get doctors, dentist, school places at present.  Moved to this area because of 
rural setting which is already blighted due to the new lower Thames crossing road.

I like having undeveloped greenbelt land surrounding the village, and feel affordable housing (which I agree is 
essential) should be on brownfield land, I don't believe there is any in the village.

There is no land available for additional housing of any sort.

All my children still live in Kent, but none of them wanted to live in Shorne.

The area here is already overcrowded enough.

I grew up on a social housing estate when people had more care and consideration for others and their 
surroundings.  This is my only concern.  I've worked very hard for what I have achieved and I do not want this 
compromised.

My daughter does not live with us although she sometimes stays for a couple of weeks with her son.  My 
daughter and son have been on Gravesham housing list for well over 5 years - she keeps bidding but no luck and 
was told by a member of the housing team we would be better to give up her job and go on benefits.  My 
daughter works full time and would be able to pay full rent and Council Tax but because of this she has been told 
she has no chance of being housed!

Re Q6 providing present infrastructure could cope with increased affordable housing for present villagers.

Need the two bedrooms

No more building as soon it will not be a village it will become a town.

Page 175



40

There are enough empty dwellings and brown sites to house and build in Gravesend town without ruining other 
areas.

Q4 not extensive enough as this family have been in this property for 62+ years and being in Lower Shorne feel 
that the Shorne community stops at the x roads.

Sort out the traffic issues first.  Then housing!

Providing housing for people who have been brought up in the village, not outsiders.

Not to build on green land

Housing should go to local people first.  If rented housing is also available, tenants should/must be made to keep 
property tidy and clean.  Enough parking must also be available so as not to clog up the roads and pavements.

Do not build any new houses.  Shorne is in no need for new houses.

Do we not have enough housing in the area already?

I do not think we need more housing gin the surrounding areas of Shorne and West Shorne.  There is enough 
brown land sites to use up and there are other areas of Kent where there is plenty of land to build i.e. Sevenoaks, 
Wrotham district - why Gravesend Shorne.  We have a busy A2 and a proposed new river crossing.  More housing 
means more cars - it's congested enough.  Keen our green belt please!

There is lots of affordable housing within Gravesend/15 min radius.  Why do you need to put 'new builds' in 
village location?  Spoiling the look of village and why people live/buy here.

Our first home was not in Shorne, we bought in another location to suit our needs and pocket.  Shorne should 
remain a village location to aspire to.

Small and affordable independent units with garden and garage.

No more housing this is a pretty, semi-rural village that once more housing is built it will then keep on expanding 
and become another town.

I'm completely against any more building in the Shorne Parish especially the village.  This area is already being 
ruined by Option C so leave us alone and stop spoiling a lovely part of Kent

More houses mean extra cars and vehicles.  There is no public transport so the narrow road in the village will be 
impassable should more vehicles be parked.

All developments would result in individuals making huge sum of money.  If land could be compulsory purchased 
at pre planning permission prices then sold to local youngsters at a genuine full ownership reduced price then I 
would agree to it (time restriction of resale to 10 years).

In order to answer Q6 I would need several definitions.  What are the possible locations?  What is 'small'?  How 
will the need be 'proven'?  And what is affordable?

This is a loaded question.  Definitions needed

Being in rented accommodation, I would like the opportunity to rent/part buy a more affordable property.

We should not build on greenbelt land.  We should enjoy the openness of the green belt that is Gravesham policy.

Page 176



41

More houses means more cars.  The village cannot cope with increased traffic.

With the new Thames Crossing that is going through my local area I would not want any more disruption to my 
rural location.

AONB.  Doesn't lend itself to genuine affordable housing.

Page 177



42

APPENDIX SR2 – Letter to householder and housing needs survey

Housing Strategy and Development Services
Ask for: Sharon Donald
Telephone: 01474 337652
Email: sharon.donald@gravesham.gov.uk
My ref: SP/RHNS/SD
Date:  Sep 2018

Dear Householder

Following a Rural Housing Needs Survey undertaken in Shorne Parish in 2013 and as part of an ongoing 
programme of Rural Housing Needs Surveys, the enclosed Survey is being sent out by Action with 
Communities in Rural Kent (ACRK) on the Council’s behalf to assess the need and gauge the level of 
support a small affordable housing scheme might have in your community. We also want to find out 
about the housing needs of older people in Shorne Parish who might want to downsize/move to more 
suitable housing.

Responses to the Survey will be analysed by a Rural Housing Enabler from ACRK with all information 
being kept confidential. The Rural Housing Enabler will then provide a summary report to Shorne Parish 
Council and Borough Council. 

Affordable housing means homes that can be rented or part bought (shared ownership) usually from a 
Housing Association, so that residents who cannot afford to buy or rent locally will not be forced to move 
away and to help people of all ages who would like to stay or return to their village and contribute to the 
village services that still exist. 

Depending on the outcome of this Survey, the Council and ACRK may try to identify a suitable site within 
Shorne Parish. If a site is found a village consultation event will be held so that residents of Shorne 
Parish can view and discuss the proposals and put their views forward.

This is a very important issue, so please take time to fill in this Survey.  Even if no one in your household 
has a housing need, we want to know your views.  

Please return this form using the FREEPOST envelope provided by 3 October 2018.

If any further information or additional questionnaires are required please contact the Rural Housing 
Enabler on 01303 813790.

More information is available on housing needs surveys in Gravesham via the following link:
www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-
data/housing-needs-surveys
If you want more information on how ACRK enables rural housing, please use the following link: 
www.ruralkent.org.uk/housing

Yours faithfully

Sharon Donald
Housing Strategy and Development Manager

Page 178

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-needs-surveys
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/housing-needs-surveys
http://www.ruralkent.org.uk/housing


43

Page 179



44

Page 180



45

Page 181



46

Page 182



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Cabinet Committee

Date: 25 September 2019

Reporting officer: Wale Adetoro Assistant Director (Housing)

Subject: Draft Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy

Purpose and summary of report: 
To seek approval and adoption of the council’s Private Sector Housing Enforcement policy. 
The council has legal duties to ensure that accommodation in the private rented sector meets 
minimum housing management, health and safety standards and to deal with landlords and 
letting agents that fail to meet those standards. Financial penalties have been introduced by 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016 as an alternative to prosecution to meet the 
Government's aim of clamping down on 'rogue' landlords and letting agents and reduce 
offending.

The main aim of the policy is to set out the circumstances in which a financial penalty will be 
used, and the various factors taken into consideration in setting the appropriate penalty. The 
table of financial penalties in appendix 1 has been constructed to be broadly similar to other 
local housing authorities across Kent, to facilitate working together where a landlord has 
committed breaches in more than one local authority area.
 

Recommendations:
1. That the council’s Private Sector Housing Enforcement policy is approved and 

recommended to Cabinet for adoption.

2. That the council’s Policy for imposing financial penalties under the Housing Act 2004 
and the Housing and Planning Act 2016 at Appendix 1is approved and recommended 
to Cabinet for adoption

1. Background

1.1 The Government announced the introduction of financial penalties for certain 
housing offences with a press release entitled: “Tougher measures to target rogue 
landlords – New rules will help crackdown on rogue landlords that flout the rules 
and improve safety and affordability for renters”. The aim is for more enforcement 
action to be taken against the small minority of landlords and letting agents who 
neglect their responsibilities and do not comply with the legislation

Page 183 Agenda Item 6



2

1.2 The legislation does not permit a local housing authority to prosecute and issue a 
financial penalty for the same offence. MHCLG issued statutory guidance in April 
2018 which requires local housing authorities to develop policies to set out the 
circumstances in which a prosecution or a financial penalty will be imposed and 
the appropriate level of financial penalty in each case.

1.3 This policy outlines how the council intends to determine the appropriate sanction 
in each case. The general presumption is in favour of imposing a financial penalty 
unless there are circumstances relating to the seriousness of the offence or the 
frequency of offending that mean that prosecution is appropriate.

2. Implications

2.1 The implications are summarised in Appendix I.

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

3.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements

Page 184



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal The proposals contained in the policy will help ensure that the council's duties to 
regulate standards within private sector rented accommodation are met.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The proposals are intended to set out the council’s approach to dealing with 
offences committed under the Housing Act 2004. The use of financial penalties up 
to a maximum of £30,000 is the most efficient and proportionate way of dealing will 
all but the most serious offences or persistent offenders. Monies collected will be 
retained by the council to further its statutory functions in relation to private housing 
enforcement work.

Risk Assessment Failure to deal with management, health and safety breaches in the private rented 
sector could leave the council exposed to legal action. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
Yes. it ensures that all landlords and managing agents renting out 
accommodation in the private sector are dealt with in a fair, transparent and 
consistent manner.

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan In line with the objectives of the Corporate Plan 2019-24 strategic objective 2, the 
Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy will help the council to meet the 
housing needs of all residents including vulnerable people. 

Crime and Disorder The introduction of financial penalties as an alternative to prosecution of 'rogue' 
landlords enhances the council's ability to uphold standards in the private rented 
sector and will act as a deterrent to provent further offences.

Page 185

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

As with other policies under review by the department, the intention is to make this 
policy available on the council's website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The provision of suitable Temporary Accommodation will contribute towards 
meeting the needs of vulnerable residents. 

Page 186



1

Housing Services 
Policy

GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL
HOUSING SERVICES

Version:
1

Policy Draft Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy

Issue Date:
**.**.2019

Ref PSHE/PolicyV1/2019 Review Date:
**.**.2023

Staff affected Housing Services Member Approval
**.**.2019

Approved by

Lead Officer Housing Needs and Improvements Manager

Table of Contents

Section Page No
1 Introduction 2
2 Purpose Statement 2
3 Policy Aims 2
4 Scope of Policy 2
5- 14 Policy Statement 2
15 Service Review 14
16 Complaints 14
17 Appendix 1 – Policy for imposing financial 

penalties under the Housing Act 2004 and 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016

15

18 Appendix 2 – Statement of principles for the 
issue of civil penalty charges under the 
Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm 
(England) Regulations 2015

27

Page 187



2

1. Introduction
The council has responsibilities to ensure that accommodation in the private 
rented sector meets minimum housing management, health and safety standards 
and to deal with landlords and letting agents that fail to meet those standards

2. Purpose statement
This policy sets out the council’s approach to enforcing relevant legislation 
relating to private rented sector accommodation within the borough of 
Gravesham.

3. Policy Aims
3.1 The council's aim in respect of the above functions is to:

 set out the legal requirements, policies, principles and priorities that the 
Private Housing Service will follow when enforcing legislation

 help provide safer and healthier private housing to protect and improve the 
quality of life for the residents of Gravesham

 increase public confidence in the quality and management of accommodation
 raise the profile and demonstrate the transparency of enforcement in the 

private rented sector
 improve the energy efficiency of private rented sector accommodation

3.2 This policy is designed to:

 ensure consistency of approach and enforcement 
 enable officers to make reasoned decisions regarding enforcement 
 inform the public of the principles by which enforcement action is determined 

and subsequently taken 
 ensure that, as a signatory to the Government's Enforcement Concordat, the 

council has a relevant (and periodically reviewed) policy in place for the 
private housing function

4. Scope of the Policy
The Private Sector Housing Team has responsibilities that include:

 assessment of hazards in residential premises under the Housing Health and 
Safety Rating System (HHSRS)

 statutory nuisance affecting residential properties 
 standards of repair, amenities and fire precautions, and management in 

Houses in Multiple Occupation including licensing of properties within the 
mandatory licensing scheme 

5. Policy statement
Enforcement means an action carried out in exercise of or against the  
background of enforcement powers. This is not limited to formal enforcement 
action such as prosecution, service of legal notices, and application for a rent 
repayment order or the issue of civil penalty notices. It includes inspections or 
investigations related to property or land and any relevant person where the 
purpose is checking compliance with legislation or to give advice to help comply 
with the law.

Page 188



3

5.2 The Government has introduced legislation that gives the council the option to 
impose a financial penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to prosecution for 
certain housing offences. These new powers were introduced to help local 
authorities take more enforcement action against rogue landlords. (See Appendix 
1 – Policy for imposing financial penalties under the Housing Act 2004 and the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016)

5.3 Local authorities are entitled to retain any monies collected, provided they are 
used to fund private sector housing enforcement functions. However, before any 
financial penalties can be issued, statutory guidance requires the council to 
develop and document a policy which sets out when it should prosecute and 
when it should impose a financial penalty, and the level of financial penalty it 
should impose in each case.

5.4 The council can impose such penalties for offences that occur on or after 6 April 
2017. The offences for which a financial penalty can be imposed are:

 Failing to comply with an Improvement Notice;
 Failing to licence a house in multiple occupation (“HMO”):
 Knowingly permitting the over-occupation of a licensed HMO;
 Failing to comply with the condition of an HMO licence;
 Failing to comply with an overcrowding notice in respect of a non-licensable 

HMO;
 Failing to comply with HMO management regulations; and
 Breaching a banning order.

6. Enforcement Objectives 
The Private Housing Service primarily covers all privately owned residential 
accommodation and privately owned land. In normal circumstances enforcement 
action will be carried out with the objectives to ensure that: 

 tenants of a private landlord or a Registered Provider of Social Housing (RP) 
live in homes free of actionable hazards which affect their health and safety

 privately rented houses, including Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs), 
are managed in accordance with any relevant statutory regulations or other 
legal requirements

 reasonable and practicable steps are taken to prevent or reduce any anti-
social behaviour by the occupiers or visitors to privately rented properties

 all licensable rented properties are licensed and licence conditions are met
 owners or occupiers who are vulnerable and unable to support independent 

living, live in accommodation which is free of significant risks to their health 
and safety

 owners or occupiers of privately owned land or property do not cause a 
statutory nuisance to other land or property owners, or do not present an 
unacceptable risk to public health, safety or the environment

7. General Principles of Policy 
7.1 The council seeks to avoid bureaucracy and unnecessary expense. However, the 

council recognises that it is a regulator and that it must act properly, promptly and 

Page 189



4

efficiently where there is a contravention of a statutory requirement – particularly 
when compliance cannot readily be achieved by means of informal action or 
advice. 

7.2 When premises which are in poor condition are identified the council will normally 
consider the case for drawing this informally to the attention of the owner. This 
informal opinion will normally be provided in writing. Such written opinion would 
include an explanation of: 

 the remedial action which in the council's opinion is needed and the timescale 
in which the council considers the action needs to be taken

 why the council considers remedial action needs to be taken and the nature 
of the enforcement action the council might be required to take in the future if 
the advice is not followed 

7.3 Enforcement officers will use their skill, knowledge, experience and judgement to 
decide how individual cases should be dealt with and whether a situation should 
be resolved by informal means or by formal proceedings. Those officers will take 
advice from colleagues and senior officers where appropriate and will have due 
regard to this policy. 

7.4 The council exercises discretion in accordance with this policy in undertaking 
other actions. Enforcement will be carried out with due regard to the 
circumstances of the individual or business, and to ensure that the rights of 
individuals and organisations are safeguarded. Enforcement will be carried out 
without prejudice and human rights issues will be properly considered and 
enacted. There will be a consistency of approach towards enforcement. 

7.5 The council's enforcement activity is predominantly focused on private rented 
properties; however there are circumstances when the council will intervene in 
owner occupied properties; such as when the property is having an adverse 
effect on neighbouring properties. As indicated above the council must take 
action where it is brought to its attention that a property contains a category 1 
hazard or is causing a nuisance. A category 1 hazard may be dealt with by 
informal or formal means, and in the case of a statutory nuisance being 
determined the council must serve a notice on the responsible person. This will 
normally be as a result of information provided by a member of the public; 
however where a property is in very poor condition then a pro-active inspection 
visit may be made to the property. 

7.6 The occupier's wishes will be taken into account when considering what action is 
taken about the property. For example a suspended notice can be served when it 
is not considered to be in the best interests of the occupier for works to be 
carried out, subject however to an overriding consideration of ensuring the health 
and safety both of the occupier and any neighbours. 

7.7 In the case of Houses in Multiple Occupation which comprise a number of flats in 
a converted house any requirement by the council for the provision of fire 
precautions will necessitate works being carried out to owner occupied as well as 
rented flats. 

Page 190



5

8. Standards, procedures and penalties
8.1 The standards which landlords and owners of properties must reach in respect of 

their properties are laid down in legislation reinforced by decisions of the courts. 
The council will always be prepared to justify its decisions with regard to the 
appropriate legislation and case law and put such justification in writing. 

8.2 Standards for all licensable Houses in Multiple Occupation are specified by the 
government. This standard as contained in the council’s ‘Guidance to HMO 
Amenity Standards’ have been produced in partnership with other Kent local 
authorities and approved by council members. This standard is also applied to 
smaller Houses in Multiple Occupation which do not require licensing. 

8.3 All investigations into alleged breaches of legislation will follow best professional 
practice and the requirements of:

The Human Rights Act 1998 
The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984- Codes of Practice 
The Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 
The Code for Crown Prosecution 
Legislation and Regulatory Reform Act 2008 
Regulators' Compliance Code 
Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008 

8.4 The council will deal courteously and efficiently with all individuals, organisations 
and businesses that it comes into contact with. Staff will identify themselves by 
name, and contact numbers will be made available. Electronic means of 
communication (for example, by email) will be facilitated wherever possible. 
Information and advice will be provided in plain language, and details of charges 
etc. will be made readily available. 

8.5 Transparency is important in maintaining public confidence in the council's 
regulatory capability. The council will help those being regulated and others to 
understand what they need to do and how it may be achieved. The council will 
also make its own role in the matter clear. 

8.6 The council will explain carefully (and, if necessary, in writing) why the action is 
necessary, who must carry it out, and by what date it must be carried out. A clear 
distinction will be made between a legal requirement and a recommendation. The 
council will give every reasonable opportunity for discussion before formal 
enforcement action is taken, unless urgent action is necessary to protect health 
and/or safety, or to prevent the destruction of evidence that could compromise 
the council's case. In such circumstances, the council will give a written 
explanation of its reasons for taking immediate action and this will be done as 
soon as practicable after the event. The council will give written notice of any 
rights of appeal against enforcement action at the time that the action is taken. 

8.7 Discretionary enforcement action taken by the council will be proportionate to the 
risks posed to the occupiers/public's health and safety. Enforcement action will 

Page 191



6

be proportional to the degree of harm / risk and to the particular circumstances of 
the case. The following issues will be considered; 

 the physical condition of the premises (e.g. whether it is practicable to repair 
or whether the structure is completely outworn) and of any premises onto 
which they abut (e.g. within a terrace of houses of a block of flats)

 whether a defect comes within the landlords legal repairing obligations
 the life expectancy of the premises if repaired
 the need to take into account the relationship of the premises with 

neighbouring properties and the condition of those properties
 proposals for the future of the area in which the premises are situated
 how the condition of the property will affect the local environment and overall 

appearance of the locality: 

8.8 The council will carry out enforcement in a fair, equitable, and consistent manner 
in accordance with its policies and procedures. Similar approaches will be taken 
in similar circumstances to achieve similar ends. However, the council 
recognises that consistency does not mean uniformity and that officers of the 
council are required to take decisions that take account of a wide variety of 
situations and circumstances. Officers are expected to take account of local and 
national standards and guidance, and be aware of this policy. Any departures 
from the policy must be agreed by the Housing Needs & Improvements Manager 
or Assistant Director (Housing) and recorded in writing, including reasons for the 
departure. 

8.9 The council and its officers must be able to justify their decisions and be subject 
to public scrutiny. All decisions will be within the framework of published strategy 
and policies. Any deviations from policy will be discussed with a senior officer 
and/or Housing Panel and documented with reasons. Any changes or revisions 
to policy will be subject to approval by Cabinet.

8.10 Enforcement effort will be targeted on a risk assessed basis so as to focus on 
problems. This will include proactive projects focused on identified high risk 
properties and topic areas, and reactive work which will be complaint and 
intelligence lead. Businesses and individuals who persistently break regulations 
will be dealt with using the full range of powers and sanctions available. These 
are some examples of how we may target action – this is not an exhaustive list: 

 property type or occupation 
 door to door surveys, Council Tax information 
 landlords whose tenants receive Housing benefit/Universal Credit. These 

tenants tend to be more vulnerable and the standards in these properties are 
more likely to be of a lower quality in terms of risks to health and safety to the 
occupiers

 unlicensed properties
 poorly managed rental properties

8.11 The council can require any person with an interest in the property to produce 
relevant documents at a time and place specified. Documents will normally be 
required to be produced at the Civic Centre, Windmill Street 

Page 192



7

8.12 Council officers, who are authorised in writing, have formal powers of entry to 
residential premises at all reasonable times. Normally 24 hours’ notice of the 
intention to enter must be given to all interested parties and occupants, however 
entry without notice is authorised for investigation of offences relating to Houses 
in Multiple Occupation. A warrant can be obtained from the local magistrates 
court authorising entry by force if need be and this may be authorised by the 
court without prior notice to the owner or occupiers where admission has been 
refused or the occupier is temporarily absent or an application for admission 
would defeat the purpose of entry (for example to investigate overcrowding). 
Where the council has reason to believe that a statutory nuisance exists similar 
powers of entry are available and a warrant can be authorised for entry by force. 

8.13 While formal enforcement action is a necessary and important part of the 
enforcement process, it should generally be viewed as a last resort. The council 
will normally inform a landlord by telephone or letter about works needed to a 
property. This enables the council to reach sensible agreements with owners and 
landlords by giving them the right to make representations; and helps reduce the 
burden that can arise from having to take formal enforcement action. The council 
are not prevented from taking immediate enforcement action in any case where 
such action appears to them to be necessary. Such decisions will be taken by the 
council in the light of the circumstances of each case. While those circumstances 
will inevitably vary, examples where immediate action might be warranted 
include: 

 where a council considers there is imminent risk to the health and safety of 
the occupants of the premises

 where the council has followed pre-formal enforcement procedures with the 
owner of landlord on previous occasions and considers that to repeat this 
would amount to an unreasonable duplication of effort

In addition we provide guidance, advice and assistance in order to help landlords 
achieve compliance with legal requirements and to meet best practice within the 
private rented sector.

8.14 Gravesham’s Better Homes Standard, is a voluntary landlord accreditation 
scheme to promote high standards of accommodation and management in the 
private rented sector. It is a set of standards relating to the management and 
physical condition of rented accommodation. Details of the scheme are published 
on the council’s website https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/housing/private-
housing/private-landlords/overview

The aims of the scheme are:

 to raise and maintain standards 
 to promote good relations between landlord and tenant
 to give tenants the option to choose an accredited landlord
 to build on relationships between landlords and the council

Page 193

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/housing/private-housing/private-landlords/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/housing/private-housing/private-landlords/overview


8

8.15 The Housing Act 2004 provides a number of different enforcement actions as 
follows:

 service of a Hazard Awareness Notice – this notifies of the existence of a 
hazard but does not require remedial works 

 service of an Improvement Notice - this requires work to be carried out to 
remedy a defect 

 service of a Prohibition Order – this prohibits the use of the whole or part of a 
residential premises 

 emergency Remedial Action – this enables the council to take immediate 
steps to remedy a serious health and safety risk 

 emergency Prohibition Order – this prohibits the use of the whole or part of a 
premises with immediate effect 

 make a Demolition Order – to demolish a property which contains serious 
health and safety hazards 

 declare a Clearance Area – used where a number of properties are involved 
 service of a civil penalty/fixed penalty notice

In addition an improvement notice and prohibition order may be suspended for a 
period until a specified condition occurs. The council is obliged to review any 
suspended action at least every 12 months. 

8.16 A number of statutory enforcement procedures enable the Council to carry out 
'Works in Default' following the expiry of the term stated in a Notice. The purpose 
of the Works in Default process is to enable the council to affect a remedy to the 
particular situation that has given rise to the service of a statutory Notice 
(generally prior to prosecution). Work may generally be carried out by the 
council, or at the council's instruction – the cost of such works (plus 
administrative charges) being recovered either as a civil debt or by virtue of a 
'charge' being placed on a subject property. The council will use Works in Default 
where there is tangible risk to public health and/or safety or that of the occupier 
and where there is a reasonable chance of recovering the costs of the works. 
The council will generally advise the recipients of notices before Works in Default 
are carried out. 

8.17 Where a category 1 hazard exists and that hazard involves a risk of serious harm 
the council may take steps to remove the hazard without prior notification to the 
landlord. A notice must be served within 7 days of taking the action and a right of 
appeal exists even though the work has already been carried out. The cost of 
carrying out these works will be recharged to the person responsible and the 
costs may become a charge on the property if not repaid. 

8.18 A simple caution may be appropriate where someone has admitted to an offence, 
or where it is their first offence of this type or they have assisted officers in 
remedying the situation that led to the offence. For example applying for a 
licence as soon as they are able or quickly complying with the requirements of a 
notice. Simple cautions warn people that their behaviour has been unlawful and 
makes them aware of the legal consequences should they commit further 
offences. 

Page 194



9

8.19 Prosecution is an important part of enforcement. However, the council 
recognises that the instigation of a prosecution is a serious matter and that it may 
be used in conjunction with other action to secure compliance. Decisions 
regarding prosecution will take account of the Code for Crown Prosecutors and 
the Police and Criminal Evidence Act. The decision to start prosecution 
proceedings in court will be taken following discussions with the Assistant 
Director (Housing) and with Legal Services. A prosecution will not be 
commenced or continued unless the council is:

 satisfied that it is in the interest of the public or the environment;
 that there is sufficient, admissible and reliable evidence that the offence has 

been committed, and 
 there is a realistic prospect of a conviction. 

In considering prosecution the council will consider: 

 The nature of the offence 
 The effect of the offence 
 The foreseeability of the circumstances or the resultant offence 
 The intent of the offender 
 The history of offender 
 The attitude of the offender 
 The deterrent effect on the offender or on others 

8.20 Under section 49 of the Housing Act 2004 the council will continue to make a 
reasonable charge as a means of recovering certain expenses incurred in 
serving an Improvement Notice, a Hazard Awareness Notice, a Prohibition Order 
or in taking Emergency Remedial Action There is no maximum charge and the 
charge will be assessed by the amount of work carried out in preparing and 
serving each notice. Certain legislation enables the council to serve a Penalty 
Charge Notice. Failure to pay a civil penalty may result in the council bringing 
prosecution proceedings or in the recovery of the charge as a debt through court 
action. 

8.21 The Private Housing team is responsible for enforcing the following requirements 
which can be subject to a civil penalty: 

• failure to comply with a notice requiring the provision of a smoke or carbon 
monoxide detector (£5000 maximum)

• from 1 April 2018, failure to comply with new energy efficiency requirements 
for rented properties. (£5000 maximum) 

• failure to display details of the Government approved redress scheme that 
businesses are a member of. (£5000 maximum)

• failure to be a member of a Government approved residential lettings or 
management redress scheme when required to do so. Government guidance 
states that the expectation is that for this contravention, a £5,000 penalty 
should be considered the norm and that a lower penalty should only be 
charged if the council is satisfied that there are extenuating circumstances. It 
will be up to the council to decide what such circumstances might be, taking 

Page 195



10

into account any representations the lettings agent or property manager 
makes during the 28 day period following the authority’s notice of intention to 
issue a penalty

Each case will be considered on its own merits and the relevant statutory appeal 
rights are provided with any notice served. 

8.22 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 Act gives the council the power to issue Civil 
Penalty notices of up to £30,000 as an alternative to prosecution, where there is 
evidence beyond reasonable doubt of certain offences i.e. failure to: 

• comply with an improvement notice
• license a property which requires a licence
• comply with licence conditions or occupancy requirements 
• comply with an overcrowding notice
• comply with HMO management regulations requirements

8.23 Civil Penalties can be used where a breach is serious and the council may 
determine that a significant financial penalty (or penalties if there have been 
several breaches), rather than prosecution, is the most appropriate and effective 
sanction in a particular case. The government have issued statutory guidance to 
councils on the use of Civil Penalty notices under the 2016 Act. The council has 
also published its own policy (Appendix 1) on how it will decide on the level of 
financial penalty which is in accordance with the government guidance. 

The decision when to prosecute, agree a simple caution or when to issue a civil 
penalty will made on a case-by-case basis in line with this policy and current 
guidance. 

8.24 The upper limit for fines in the magistrates’ court has been removed; this means 
if found guilty of an offence, there is no maximum fine. In some cases the council 
can apply to court to recover rent from a landlord if a property has been let 
illegally. Officers will provide Legal Services with all the relevant information to 
enable the recovery of costs to be sought at court. Any costs application made is 
likely to include the time officers have spent investigating a case and the legal 
costs involved

8.25 Verdicts and sentences in criminal cases are given in open court and are a 
matter of public record. The council will decide whether to publicise sentences 
following prosecution on a case by case basis. Publicising guidance has a 
presumption in favour of publicising outcomes of criminal cases and basic 
personal information about convicted offenders.

9. Mandatory HMO licensing 
9.1 From 1 October 2018, a mandatory licence is required for HMOs with five or 

more occupiers living in two or more households sharing some facilities, 
regardless of the number of storeys in the property.Systematic surveys using 
available relevant information held by the Council will be carried out to identify 
unlicensed properties. If a landlord has approached the Council for a licence an 
informal approach will be adopted so long as a valid application with the 
appropriate fee is subsequently duly made within 28 days. We will consider any 

Page 196



11

representations regarding exceptional circumstances that may have resulted in 
the application not being made. In other circumstances the Council will carry out 
an investigation and if appropriate consider taking formal action.  Landlords who 
fail to reapply for a licence in properties that require a renewal of their licence or 
fail to provide the required information or the appropriate fee within 28 days may 
also be investigated for failing to licence a licensable property. 

9.2 Fines for failure to license a property are unlimited. Where landlords have been 
convicted of the offence of operating an unlicensed property the council may use 
Rent Repayment Orders to claim back any housing benefit or equivalent paid 
whilst the property was unlicensed. We may also provide tenants with information 
and advice on how and when they can apply to The First Tier Tribunal Service to 
claim back the rent they paid whilst the property was unlicensed. Under the 2016 
Act the council can also serve a civil penalty notice of up to a maximum of 
£30,000 for failure to license a property. 

9.3 HMO licences will normally be granted for the full five year period. We may 
reduce the length of the licence from five years to an appropriate lesser period: 

• to remove any advantage over those licence holders who applied at the 
appropriate time; or 

• where a planning application relating to the premises has yet to be decided; 
or

• where the property has not been satisfactorily managed; or 
• where we are concerned the proposed management arrangements may not 

be satisfactory and want to see evidence that they are before allowing a 
longer licence period to be granted.

9.4 In granting an HMO licence the council must be satisfied that the proposed 
licence holder, manager and any person involved in the management of the 
property are fit and proper persons. A person’s fit and proper status may be 
reviewed at any time if circumstances change. A finding that the person does not 
satisfy this standard may result in refusal of an application or revocation of 
existing licence(s). 

9.5 Licences issued for rented properties include requirements on the number of 
persons or households that are permitted to occupy a property as well as licence 
conditions. Licence conditions may require works with regard to the physical 
condition of the property or in relation to the management of the property. 
Knowingly permitting the over occupation of a licenced property or failing to meet 
licence condition(s) without reasonable excuse are a criminal offence(s). The 
2016 Act introduced civil penalty notices of up to £30,000 which the council can 
serve on individuals as an alternative to prosecution. 

9.6 Revoking a property licence under the Housing Act 2004 may be taken under the 
following circumstances: 

 breach(es) of licence condition(s); 
 where the licence holder and/or manager are no longer considered to be Fit 

and Proper person(s). 
 by agreement. 

Page 197



12

 where there is a banning order on the licence holder. 

9.7 Rent Repayment Orders (RRO) can be made by a First Tier Tribunal where they 
are satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that a landlord has committed certain 
offences (whether the landlord has been convicted of that offence or not). The 
landlord can be required to repay up to 12 months’ rent, either to a tenant for rent 
paid or a council for housing benefit or universal credit paid in relation to the rent 
of a property. The relevant offences are: 

 violence for securing entry 
 illegal eviction or harassment of occupiers 
 failure to comply with an improvement notice or prohibition order
 failure to license a property which requires a licence 
 for breach of a banning order 

Councils must consider applying for an RRO if they become aware of someone 
being convicted of one of the offences which can lead to an RRO. The council 
can also help tenants apply for an RRO. Applications for an RRO can be made in 
addition to other formal action taken in relation to the same conduct. When 
deciding whether or not to apply for an RRO the council’s policy is to: 

 treat each case on its own merits; 
 ensure that applying for an RRO would meet the enforcement objectives in 

this policy; 
 consider the impact of the breach on the occupier or others affected by the 

offence committed; 
 consider the likelihood of the application being successful;
 consider the level of resources it will take to make a successful application 

and
 decide whether it is more appropriate for the tenant to apply for the order 

themselves. 

The council is also obliged to have regard to the statutory guidance issued to 
local authorities on applying for an RRO entitled Rent Repayment Orders under 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016: Guidance for Local Authorities. 

9.7 Management Orders will be used as a last resort where other attempts have 
failed and where there is no reasonable prospect of a licence being granted. 
Management Orders may also be used where it is necessary to protect the 
health, safety or welfare of occupiers, visitors or persons living in the vicinity or 
anti-social behaviour is affecting other occupiers, visitors or persons in the 
vicinity of the premises. Under the 2016 Act, where an agent or landlord is 
banned from operating in the private rented sector management orders may also 
be used.

10.  Overcrowding 
10.1 We will investigate complaints from private rented sector tenants about 

overcrowded living conditions, from other parties where they are concerned 
about children or vulnerable adults living in overcrowded conditions or where 
overcrowded conditions are legitimately impacting on a neighbours’ health, safety 

Page 198



13

or welfare. We will liaise with the Council’s Housing Options Team where we are 
taking enforcement action that is likely to lead to a family moving out of their 
accommodation. When deciding on the most appropriate course of action each 
case will be judged on its own merits. 

10.2 We may advise persons living in overcrowded living conditions that their health is 
at risk but that the most appropriate action is not to require them to move out. We 
may serve overcrowding notices in relation to HMOs if having regard to the 
rooms available, it considers that an excessive number of persons is being, or is 
likely to be, accommodated in the property. Under the 2016 Act the council can 
serve a civil penalty notice of up to £30,000 on a person failing to comply with an 
overcrowding notice. 

11. Anti-social behaviour 
Where we have legal powers to deal with anti-social behaviour of private rented 
sector tenants or visitors to a rented property, we will initially liaise with partners 
such as the Community Safety Team, police and with landlords including licence 
holders, to seek an informal resolution. Where this fails we will consider taking 
legal action against the person responsible if this is possible. This can include 
taking action under any licence conditions. Where complaints of anti-social 
behaviour are more appropriately dealt with by other Council services, such as 
the Community Safety Team, or the Police, these complaints will be referred to 
them. 

12. Retaliatory Eviction 
The Deregulation Act 2015 provides tenants protection from eviction in retaliation 
for making a complaint in relation to health and safety issues in their home. The 
protection  applies where a relevant formal legal notice has been served under 
the Housing Act 2004. Following consultation with tenant, landlord and agent 
groups Private Housing will only serve the relevant formal legal notices in line 
with this policy. 

13 Entry Clearance Inspections
In order for an Entry Clearance Inspection to take place, the following information 
must be provided:

 Name of person(s) seeking residency
 Date of Birth
 Address of homeland 
 UK property address where they will be residing

This information will need to be provided by the Home Office letter or applicant’s 
solicitor letter. The charge for this service will be assessed by the amount of work 
undertaken by the officer in the same way as the charge is calculated for 
charging for enforcement.

14. Working with other Regulators 
Where the council and another enforcement agency (for example, the Health and 
Safety Executive and the Fire Authority) both have powers to take enforcement 
action, the council will liaise with that other body to ensure that:

Page 199



14

 action is effectively co-ordinated
 that proceedings are for the appropriate offence 
 inconsistencies are avoided

In respect of means of escape from fire in Houses in Multiple Occupation or 
buildings containing flats the council is obliged to consult with the Kent & 
Medway Fire and Rescue Authority in accordance with the agreed protocol 
"Working together in Partnership" 

15. Service Review Procedure 
The council will review this enforcement policy at least every three years or when 
changes in legislation or centrally issued guidance makes this necessary. The 
review will be carried out in consultation with the Gravesham Private Sector 
Landlords' Forum and other partners and stakeholders.

16. Complaints Procedure 
The council has a formal complaints procedure, although many complaints can 
be dealt with directly by a senior manager within the relevant service department. 
Information regarding the formal complaints procedure may be obtained from 
Customer Services on tel: 01474 564422, or through the council's Internet web 
site: www.gravesham.gov.uk 

In addition to the council's own complaints procedures, the Local Government 
Ombudsman hears complaints regarding local government maladministration, 
and details of this service are also available from Customer Services. 

Appendices

Appendix 1 – Policy for imposing financial penalties under the Housing Act 2004 and the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 

Appendix 2 - Statement of Principles for the determining of financial penalties – The 
Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 

Contributors – Development of this policy was assisted through information provided by 
Bristol City Council and Thanet District Council

Page 200

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/


15

Appendix 1

Policy for imposing financial penalties under the Housing Act 2004 and the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016

Section 126 and Schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (“the 2016 Act”) 
amended the Housing Act 2004 (“the 2004 Act”) to allow financial penalties to be 
imposed by local housing authorities as an alternative to prosecution for certain housing 
offences. Under section 249A of the 2004 Act, a local housing authority may now impose 
a financial penalty on a person if satisfied, beyond reasonable doubt that the person's 
conduct amounts to a “relevant housing offence”. 

The relevant housing offences are offences under the 2004 Act, namely: 
 Failing to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30); 
 Failing to licence a house in multiple occupation (“HMO”) under Part 2 (section 

72(1));
 Knowingly permitting the over-occupation of an HMO licensed under Part 2 

(section 72(2));  
 Failing to comply with the condition of an HMO licence issued under Part 2 

(section (72(3)); 
 Failing to licence a house subject to selective licensing under Part 3 (section 

95(1)); 
 Failing to comply with the condition of a selective licence issued under Part 3 

(section (95(2)); 
 Failing to comply with an overcrowding notice in respect of a non-licensable 

HMO (section 139(7)); and 
 Failing to comply with HMO management regulations (section 234(3)). 

A person who commits any of the above-mentioned offences without reasonable excuse 
is liable on summary conviction to a fine of any amount in the Magistrates’ Court. A 
financial penalty imposed by a local housing authority as an alternative must not exceed 
£30,000. 

The 2016 Act also introduced banning orders under Chapter 2 of Part 2. A local housing 
authority may apply to a First-tier Tribunal for a banning order against a person who has 
been convicted of a “banning order offence”. A banning order offence is an offence set 
out in The Housing and Planning Act 2016 (Banning Order Offences) Regulations 2018 
(SI 2018/216). A range of offences under 14 Acts of Parliament are listed, including 
those listed above as relevant housing offences. 

A banning order made by a First-tier Tribunal may prohibit a person from engaging in 
one or more of the following activities: 

 Letting housing
 Engaging in letting agency work
 Engaging in property management work. 

A person who breaches a banning order commits an offence under section 21(1) of the 
2016 Act and is liable on summary conviction to imprisonment, or to a fine, or to both. 

Page 201



16

However, a local housing authority may instead impose a financial penalty under section 
23 of the 2016 Act of an amount not exceeding £30,000. 
A local housing authority cannot both prosecute and impose a financial penalty in 
respect of the same offence. It must decide which course of action is most appropriate. 
The same criminal standard of proof is required for a financial penalty as for a 
prosecution. Before taking formal action, a local housing authority must therefore be 
satisfied that if the case were to be prosecuted in the Magistrates’ Court, there would be 
a realistic prospect of conviction. 

In exercising their functions in respect of financial penalties, local housing authorities 
must have regard to any statutory guidance issued under section 23(10) and Schedules 
1 and 9 of the 2016 Act. In April 2018, the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government issued: Civil penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 - 
Guidance for Local Housing Authorities. The guidance requires local housing authorities 
to develop and document a policy which sets out when it should prosecute and when it 
should impose a financial penalty; and the level of financial penalty it should impose in 
each case. 

The guidance states that local housing authorities should consider the following factors 
to help ensure that any financial penalty is set at an appropriate level: 

 Severity of the offence
 Culpability and track record of the offender
 The harm caused to the tenant (actual and potential)
 Punishment of the offender (the penalty should be proportionate to the offence 

and have a real economic impact)
 Deter the offender from repeating the offence
 Deter others from committing similar offences
 Remove any financial benefit the offender may have obtained as a result of 

committing the offence. 

This policy sets out how Gravesham Borough Council (“the council”) will impose financial 
penalties in accordance with relevant legislation and statutory guidance. Significantly, 
these new powers allow local housing authorities to retain the income received from 
financial penalties to fund private sector housing enforcement activities. This is clearly 
intended to help local housing authorities take more enforcement action. The council will 
use the new powers robustly whenever it is appropriate to do so. 
Each offence will be assessed on a case-by-case basis. However, the starting position is 
that the council will seek to impose a financial penalty for a relevant offence, unless 
there are circumstances relating to the offence that advocate pursuing a criminal 
prosecution instead. 

The council may choose to prosecute for a relevant offence if it is of a particularly 
serious nature. The imposition of a financial penalty in accordance with the policy set out 
below may not constitute a sanction of sufficient severity in relation to some offences, as 
the policy has prescribed ranges and is further restricted by the statutory maximum of 
£30,000. If the council is of the opinion that an offence is of such serious nature that it 
warrants a more significant financial sanction than that which could be imposed by this 
policy, it will normally seek to prosecute the offender(s). 

Page 202



17

The breach of a banning order under the 2016 Act is a serious offence, and the council 
will give careful consideration to the option of prosecution in such cases, as the courts 
have the power to impose a prison sentence as a punishment. 

Prosecution may also be an appropriate course of action when an offender has 
committed the same offence on more than one occasion in the past. Preventing 
reoffending is an important consideration and a successful prosecution resulting in a 
criminal record might be a more significant deterrent in some circumstances.  

Wider public awareness may also be a key consideration. Prosecutions are held in the 
public domain and can be publicised by the council and local media. Such publicity in 
respect of an offender may be in the public interest in certain circumstances and helps to 
deter others from committing similar offences. If an offender is subject to a financial 
penalty, their personal information will not be available in the public domain. 

There may be other situations in which prosecution may be the most appropriate 
sanction. Accordingly, the council will carefully review the merits of prosecution for every 
offence before making a final decision as to an appropriate sanction.  

  
A financial penalty may be of any amount up to the statutory maximum of £30,000. 
However, local housing authorities are expected to reserve the higher amounts for the 
worst offenders and take a logical and proportionate approach to setting the level of 
financial penalties more generally. The overarching principle is that the more serious the 
offence, the higher the penalty should be. The penalty for each offence must therefore 
be determined on a case-by-case basis. 

Having due regard to the statutory guidance published by Government, the council has 
developed the Table of Financial Penalties set out below. The table specifies a range of 
starting points from £1,000 to £30,000. The starting point is determined by the severity of 
the offence, which is based on an assessment of the following four factors: 

Culpability is a key factor in determining the severity of an offence. Therefore, the level 
of any penalty will initially be set by calculating the culpability category, which then 
determines the culpability premium. There are four culpability categories, namely: 

 Very high - This category applies to offences where the offender has deliberately 
breached or flagrantly disregarded the law. This category is subject to a 100% 
culpability premium

 High - This category applies to offences where the offender had foresight of a 
potential offence, but through wilful blindness, decided not to take appropriate and/or 
timely action. This category is subject to a 80% culpability premium

 Medium - This category applies to offences committed through an act or omission 
that a person exercising reasonable care would not commit. Any person or other 
legal entity operating as a landlord or agent in the private rented sector is running a 
business and is expected to be aware of their legal obligations. This category is 
subject to a 60% culpability premium

 Low - This category applies to offences where there was fault on the part of the 
offender, but significant efforts had been made to secure compliance with the law, 
but those efforts were not sufficient. This category may also apply to situations where 

Page 203



18

there was no warning of a potential offence. This category is subject to a 40% 
culpability premium. 

Track Record: The council would expect a good landlord or agent to have very little 
contact with the council's Private Sector Housing Team, other than for advice or for 
licensing obligations. They would be expected to maintain their properties in a good and 
safe condition and keep up-to-date and comply with all relevant legal requirements. 
Unfortunately, there are landlords and agents who are regularly subject to enforcement 
action owing to their failure to maintain their properties in an acceptable condition. A 
historically non-compliant landlord or agent should be subject to a more significant 
penalty on the basis that they have yet to change their behaviour. A penalty amount 
adjustment relating to the offender’s track record is therefore appropriate. This should 
help deter repeat offending. 

The council will review all relevant records to identify any previous evidence of legislative 
failings. However, only evidence relating to the five years immediately prior to the 
offence date will be taken into account. The evidence reviewed will include: 

 Any previous convictions for housing related offence
 Whether previously subject to a financial penalty for a housing related 

contravention
 Whether previously subject to, or associated with, statutory enforcement action 

(e.g. Improvement Notice, Emergency Prohibition Order, etc.); and 
 The number of genuine housing condition complaints received in respect of 

properties associated with the offender. 

Following the review, the offender’s track record will be classed as one of the following 
three categories:  

Significant- Where there is evidence of multiple enforcement interventions by the 
council’s Private Sector Housing Team, together with evidence of non-compliance, 
the significant category will be used. In most cases, this category will also be used 
for any offender who has been successfully prosecuted for a housing offence or been 
subject to a housing related-financial penalty. 

Some -This category will be used where the offender is associated with more 
evidence than would normally be expected of a good landlord or agent having regard 
to the size and nature of their portfolio. There is likely to be evidence of statutory 
enforcement action.  

None or negligible - This category will be used if, following a review of the council’s 
records, there is no relevant evidence associated with the offender. Any 
unsubstantiated housing condition complaints will be disregarded. The council may 
also exercise its discretion to disregard any evidence where the issues were minor in 
nature and there was no reluctance on the part of the landlord or agent to resolve the 
issues within reasonable timescales. The descriptor “Negligible” has been included 
to allow for a fair and reasonable review of evidence in respect of landlords and 
agents with larger portfolios. Therefore, if the evidence is negligible having regard to 
the size of the portfolio in Gravesham, this category will be used. 

Page 204



19

Portfolio size - The size of an offender’s portfolio will be taken into account when 
determining the amount of financial penalty. While all landlords and agents are expected 
to be aware of their legal obligations, the larger the business is, the more proficient and 
professional the landlord or agent should be. Furthermore, offenders with a larger 
portfolio will have more assets and a higher rental income and as such the penalty 
should have regard to their ability to pay.  Taking into account the size of the offender’s 
portfolio helps ensure that the penalty is set at a high enough level to have a real 
economic impact, such that it serves as an appropriate punishment as well as a 
deterrent. 

There are four size categories which relate to the number of units of accommodation the 
offender has ownership of, responsibility for, or association with. The size categories 
are:  

 One unit of accommodation
 2 - 4 units of accommodation
 5 - 19 units of accommodation
 20 or more units of accommodation. 

A unit of accommodation is a single dwelling house, a flat (whether self-contained or not) 
or a room or bedsit within a house in multiple occupation (“HMO”).  

The common parts of a building containing one or more flats will also be counted as one 
unit of accommodation for the purposes of determining the portfolio size, if the landlord 
or agent concerned is only responsible for the common parts and not for any flats within 
the building. If the landlord or agent concerned is responsible for one or more flats within 
the building, the common parts will be disregarded. 

Some offenders own properties directly; some are directors of companies which own 
property. It is also not uncommon for an offender to be strongly associated with the 
management of a rented property, but actual ownership, for whatever reason, is in the 
name of a husband, wife or partner. All units of accommodation that are clearly 
associated with the offender will be taken into account when determining the portfolio 
size. 

The council will determine which category to place the offender in using the information it 
already holds and any information it can reasonably obtain in making the assessment.  If 
the council cannot ascertain any information as to whether the offender has any other 
properties, an assumption will be made, with the default position being two to four units 
of accommodation. However, if an agent is the offender, it will be assumed that they are 
responsible for 20 or more units of accommodation. 

Risk of Harm - The nature of the exposure to a harmful occurrence is an important 
factor when considering the severity of an offence. The council will assess the risk of 
harm by having regard to the seriousness of the harm risked as well as the likelihood of 
that harm occurring. To assist in determining the level of risk, potential harm outcomes 
are classified as serious, severe or extreme and the likelihood classified as low, medium 
or high. The offence will be placed into one of the following four categories:

Level 1 - This category will be used when the risk of harm does not fall within the 
Level 2, Level 3 or Level 4 categories. Any offence associated with the operation of 

Page 205



20

an unlicensed premise under the HMO and selective licensing regimes will usually 
fall into this category if there is no particular risk of harm associated with the 
condition or management of the property concerned. 

Level 2 -The use of this category may infer that the offence was associated with an 
extreme harm outcome, but the likelihood of a harmful event occurring was low. This 
category may be used when the risk of harm related to a severe harm outcome and 
the likelihood of a harmful event occurring was medium. This category may also be 
used when the risk of harm related to a serious harm outcome and the likelihood of a 
harmful event occurring was high. 

Level 3 - The use of this category may infer that the offence was associated with an 
extreme harm outcome and the likelihood of a harmful event occurring was medium. 
This category may also be used when the risk of harm related to a severe harm 
outcome and the likelihood of a harmful event occurring was high.  

Level 4- The use of this category will usually infer that the offence was associated 

with an extreme harm outcome and the likelihood of a harmful event occurring was 

high.  

Having made the four-step assessment described above, the council will determine the 
starting point for the financial penalty using the Table of Financial Penalties set out 
below. This table was developed by Thanet District Council and has been widely 
adopted throughout Kent to ensure consistency in application. 

Page 206



21

 Table of Financial Penalties 

Risk of Harm Culpability Track 
Record 

Portfolio 
Size Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 

1 £7,500 £10,000 £12,500 £20,000 
2 to 4 £10,000 £12,500 £15,000 £22,500 
5 to 19 £15,000 £17,500 £20,000 £27,500 

Significant 

20 + £17,500 £20,000 £22,500 £30,000 
1 £5,000 £7,500 £10,000 £17,500 

2 to 4 £7,500 £10,000 £12,500 £20,000 
5 to 19 £12,500 £15,000 £17,500 £25,000 

Some 

20 + £15,000 £17,500 £20,000 £27,500 
1 £2,500 £5,000 £7,500 £15,000 

2 to 4 £5,000 £7,500 £10,000 £17,500 
5 to 19 £10,000 £12,500 £15,000 £22,500 

Very High 
 

(100% 
Premium) 

None or 
negligible 

20 + £12,500 £15,000 £17,500 £25,000 
1 £6,000 £8,000 £10,000 £16,000 

2 to 4 £8,000 £10,000 £12,000 £18,000 
5 to 19 £12,000 £14,000 £16,000 £22,000 

Significant 

20 + £14,000 £16,000 £18,000 £24,000 
1 £4,000 £6,000 £8,000 £14,000 

2 to 4 £6,000 £8,000 £10,000 £16,000 
5 to 19 £10,000 £12,000 £14,000 £20,000 

Some 

20 + £12,000 £14,000 £16,000 £22,000 
1 £2,000 £4,000 £6,000 £12,000 

2 to 4 £4,000 £6,000 £8,000 £14,000 
5 to 19 £8,000 £10,000 £12,000 £18,000 

High 
 

(80% 
Premium) 

None or 
negligible 

20 + £10,000 £12,000 £14,000 £20,000 
1 £4,500 £6,000 £7,500 £12,000 

2 to 4 £6,000 £7,500 £9,000 £13,500 
5 to 19 £9,000 £10,500 £12,000 £16,500 

Significant 

20 + £10,500 £12,000 £13,500 £18,000 
1 £3,000 £4,500 £6,000 £10,500 

2 to 4 £4,500 £6,000 £7,500 £12,000 
5 to 19 £7,500 £9,000 £10,500 £15,000 

Some 

20 + £9,000 £10,500 £12,000 £16,500 
1 £1,500 £3,000 £4,500 £9,000 

2 to 4 £3,000 £4,500 £6,000 £10,500 
5 to 19 £6,000 £7,500 £9,000 £13,500 

Medium 
 

(60% 
Premium) 

None or 
negligible 

20 + £7,500 £9,000 £10,500 £15,000 
Low 

 Significant 1 £3,000 £4,000 £5,000 £8,000 

Page 207



22

2 to 4 £4,000 £5,000 £6,000 £9,000 
5 to 19 £6,000 £7,000 £8,000 £11,000 
20 + £7,000 £8,000 £9,000 £12,000 

1 £2,000 £3,000 £4,000 £7,000 
2 to 4 £3,000 £4,000 £5,000 £8,000 
5 to 19 £5,000 £6,000 £7,000 £10,000 

Some 

20 + £6,000 £7,000 £8,000 £11,000 
1 £1,000 £2,000 £3,000 £6,000 

2 to 4 £2,000 £3,000 £4,000 £7,000 
5 to 19 £4,000 £5,000 £6,000 £9,000 

(40% 
Premium) 

None or 
negligible 

20 + £5,000 £6,000 £7,000 £10,000 
  

The level of financial penalty should, in a fair and proportionate way, meet the objectives 
of punishment, deterrence and the removal of gain. As such, the council will, once the 
starting point has been determined, review the proposed financial penalty and consider 
whether there are any other mitigating or aggravating factors that should be considered 
when setting the amount of financial penalty. If there are none, no adjustment will be 
made to the starting point identified by the Table of Financial Penalties. Some examples 
of mitigating and aggravating factors are given below. However, the list is not 
exhaustive, and the council may take into account any factor deemed to be relevant. 

Hardship (Landlord) - If at this stage of the process, the council is aware of the 
offender’s personal situation and financial position, and is of the view that there are 
exceptional circumstances, it may be appropriate to reduce the amount of financial 
penalty. 

Hardship (tenant) - If, owing to the imposition of a financial penalty on a landlord, the 
tenant will - through no fault of their own - experience hardship, the council may consider 
reducing the amount of financial penalty, but only in exceptional circumstances. 

Previous Offences - While the Table of Financial Penalties takes into account the 
offender’s track record, there may be circumstances in which the nature of previous 
offences requires a more robust approach to punishment. For example, if a historically 
non-compliant landlord persists in operating unlicensed premises, the starting point may 
not be sufficiently high enough in certain circumstances. Such circumstances could 
include when there are no significant hazards associated with the unlicensed premises. 
If a Significant track record category is already in use for a certain offender, repeated 
offences where the Culpability is very high would be restricted owing to the Risk of Harm 
categorisation. However, the repeated offences would be demonstrating a complete 
disregard for the law. Therefore, for any repeated offence so restricted, the council may 
consider increasing the amount of financial penalty. 

Scale of exposure - The greater number of people exposed to the risk of harm, the more 
significant the offence. While the Table of Financial Penalties takes into account the risk 
of harm, is does not take into account the number of persons exposed to that harm. 
Accordingly, if the number of persons exposed is higher than average, the council may 
consider increasing the amount of financial penalty. A risk of harm associated with a 
typical family unit would not usually necessitate an increase. However, if the risk of harm 

Page 208



23

was in an HMO or the common parts of a building occupied by numerous persons, an 
increase in the amount of financial penalty may be appropriate. 

Actual harm - If actual harm has occurred, the council may consider increasing the 
amount of financial penalty. If the harm outcome is of a serious nature, it is likely the 
council will seek to review the financial penalty upwards. 

The adjustment range will be limited to an amount equal to 50% of the starting point. The 
maximum 50% variance may be above or below the initial starting point. For example, if 
the starting point is £9,000, the maximum 50% variance is £4,500. As such, the financial 
penalty could be reduced to an amount not lower than £4,500 or increased to an amount 
not greater than £13,500.  The council will not, under any circumstances, vary the 
financial penalty by more than 50%, and is restricted by the statutory maximum of 
£30,000.  

If the council decides to vary the proposed financial penalty away from the starting point 
identified in the Table of Financial Penalties, it will make a record of its decision and 
notify the offender of the reasons for that decision.  To ensure fairness and 
transparency, the decision to vary a financial penalty will be subject to review by a senior 
manager of the council. In the first instance, the variation will be proposed by the Senior 
EHO, Private Sector Housing Team. The proposal will be reviewed by the Assistant 
Director (Housing), or an officer of similar or higher seniority, and a final decision made 
by that senior manager.  

Before imposing a financial penalty, the council must first give the offender notice of its 
intention to impose such a penalty. This type of notice is known as a “Notice of Intent”. 
The Notice of Intent must be served within six months of the offence date. However, if 
the offence is ongoing, the Notice of Intent may be served at any time while the conduct 
is continuing. If the conduct stops, the Notice of Intent must be served within six months 
of the date the conduct ceased. For example, if a person fails to licence an HMO subject 
to mandatory licensing without reasonable excuse, the council may at any time while the 
HMO remains unlicensed, serve a Notice of Intent. If such a person makes a valid 
licence application, the council will still have the option to serve a Notice of Intent, but if it 
chooses to do so, it must serve the Notice of Intent within six months of the date the 
valid licence application was made. 

The Notice of Intent must set out: 

 The amount of the proposed financial penalty; 
 The reasons for proposing to impose the financial penalty, and  
 Information about the right to make representations. 

Any person served with a Notice of Intent may make written representations to the 
council about the proposal to impose a financial penalty. Any representations must be 
made within 28 days of the date the Notice of Intent was served. The offender may wish 
to submit information as to their financial position. If the council was aware of the 
financial position of the offender before serving the Notice of Intent, the council may 

Page 209



24

have already made adjustments to the proposed financial penalty. However, this may 
not be the case and offenders are advised to use the 28-day period for submitting written 
representations to make the council aware of their financial situation, particularly if they 
would have difficulties in paying the proposed financial penalty. It is important to note 
that any person who supplies information to the council that is false or misleading, 
whether knowingly or recklessly, in connection with any proposed financial penalty, 
commits an offence and is liable on summary conviction in the Magistrates’ Court to an 
unlimited fine. 

The council will carefully review any written representations received during the 28-day 
period before taking any further action. There is no statutory timeframe for the review 
process, but the council will seek to make a decision as to its proposed course of action 
as soon as possible. The council will take one of the following courses of action: 

 Withdraw the proposal to impose a financial penalty; 
 Impose a financial penalty of an amount lower than that proposed in the Notice of 

Intent; 
 Impose the financial penalty proposed in the Notice of Intent; or
 Propose to impose a financial penalty of an amount higher than that specified in 

the Notice of Intent. 

If the council decides to withdraw the proposal to impose a financial penalty, it will 
confirm its decision in writing. If the council decides to impose a financial penalty of a 
lower or equal amount to that proposed in the Notice of Intent, it will serve a Final Notice. 
If the offender has provided written representations that increase the severity of the 
offence committed, the council may seek to impose a higher financial penalty. If the 
council decides to take that course of action, it will withdraw the original Notice of Intent 
and serve a revised Notice of Intent proposing an increased financial penalty. The 
offender would then receive an additional 28 days in which to make further written 
representations. 
A reduction in the amount of financial penalty to be imposed may arise from the council 
altering the starting point on the Table of Financial Penalties. Whether the council 
decides to alter the starting point or not following any written representations, the council 
will not reduce the financial penalty by more than 50% of the finalised starting point.  If 
the council decides not to alter the starting point after its review of any written 
representations received, and it has already used its discretion to make the maximum 
50% reduction from that starting point prior to serving the Notice of Intent, no further 
reduction will be made. 

To ensure fairness and transparency, every decision to impose a financial penalty will be 
subject to review by a senior manager of the council. In the first instance, the imposition 
of a financial penalty will be proposed by the Senior EHO, Private Sector Housing Team, 
who will provide an assessment of any written representations received. The proposal 
will be reviewed by the Assistant Director (Housing), or an officer of similar or higher 
seniority, and a final decision made by that senior manager. 

 If the council decides to impose a financial penalty following its review of any written 
representations received, it will serve a “Final Notice” on the offender. The Final Notice 
will set out: 

Page 210



25

 The amount of the financial penalty; 
 The reasons for imposing the penalty;
 Information about how to pay the penalty; 
 The period for payment of the penalty; 
 Information about rights of appeal; and 
 The consequences of failure to comply with the notice. 

The period in which a financial penalty must be paid has been determined by statute. All 
financial penalties must be paid within 28 days of the date the Final Notice was served. 
A person on whom a Final Notice has been served may appeal within 28 days of the 
date the Final Notice was served to the First-tier Tribunal against the decision to impose 
the financial penalty or the amount of the financial penalty. 

Once an appeal has been lodged, the Final Notice is suspended until the appeal has 
been finally determined or withdrawn. The First-tier Tribunal have the power to confirm, 
vary (reduce or increase), or cancel the Final Notice. If the First-tier Tribunal decides to 
increase the financial penalty, it may only do so up to the statutory maximum of £30,000. 
  
 As with criminal prosecutions, the council is of the opinion that an early acceptance of 
guilt is in the public interest. It saves public time and money. An offender can 
demonstrate an early acceptance of guilt by paying the financial penalty within 21 days 
of the date the Final Notice was served. If cleared payment is made within this time 
period, the offender can benefit from a 25% reduction in the amount of financial penalty 
payable.  A Final Notice will set out the finalised financial penalty amount determined 
having regard to this policy and an amount equal to 75% of that sum, which would be 
accepted if received within the 21-day period. 

If the council is required to defend its decision at the First-tier Tribunal, there will 
inevitably be additional costs in officer time and expenses. As such, no reduction is 
available for cases subject to an appeal to the First-tier Tribunal. If an offender makes an 
early payment at the reduced rate, but then decides to appeal at a later date, the council 
will seek the full finalised amount during the appeal proceedings.   

The council will take robust action to recover any financial penalty (or part thereof) not 
paid within 28 days of the date the Final Notice was served.  An application for an order 
of the County Court will be made in respect of all unpaid financial penalties. A certificate 
signed by the Chief Finance Officer of the council stating that the financial penalty (or 
part thereof) has not been paid will be accepted by the court as conclusive evidence of 
that fact, in accordance with Paragraph 11 of Schedule 13A to the 2004 Act (relevant 
housing offences) and Paragraph 11 of Schedule 1 to the 2016 Act (breaches of banning 
orders). In taking court action, the council would seek to recover interest and any court 
expenses incurred, in addition to claiming the full amount of unpaid financial penalty. 

If an offender does not comply with an order of the court, the council will make an 
application to enforce the judgement. The type of enforcement action pursued would 
depend on the circumstances of the case and the amount owed. The most likely types of 
enforcement action are shown below.  

Page 211



26

Court bailiffs - A court bailiff will ask for payment. If the debt is not paid, the bailiff will 
visit the offender’s home or business address to establish whether anything can be 
seized and sold to pay the outstanding debt. 

Charging order /order of sale - The council can apply to place a charging order on any 
property owned by the offender. If a debt remains outstanding after a charging order 
has been registered, the council can make an application for an order of sale. The 
property would then be subject to an enforced sale and the proceeds used to settle 
the debt owed to the council. 

Attachment to earnings order - If the offender is in paid employment, the council can 
apply to the court for an attachment to earnings order. Such an order would require 
the offender’s employer to make salary deductions. Amounts would be deducted 
regularly at the direction of the court until the debt owed to the council has been fully 
discharged.  

When considering imposing more than one financial penalty on an offender as a 
consequence of that offender committing more than one offence, the council will 
carefully consider whether the cumulative financial penalty would be just and 
proportionate in the circumstances having regard to the offending behaviour as a whole.  
Taking into account the principle of totality ensures that the cumulative effect of any 
sanctions imposed by the council does not constitute an unjust and disproportionate 
punishment.  

The council will initially determine the amount of financial penalty that should be imposed 
in respect of each offence having regard to this policy. The council will then add up the 
financial penalties and make an assessment as to whether the cumulative total is just 
and proportionate. If the council considers the cumulative total to be just and 
proportionate, it will normally impose a financial penalty for each offence. However, if the 
council considers the cumulative total to be unjust and disproportionate, it will take one 
or both of the following actions to ensure that the cumulative total is reduced to an 
amount that does constitute a just and proportionate punishment. 

The council may use its discretion to reduce the amount of a financial penalty at the 
review and adjustment stage, irrespective of whether there are other mitigating or 
aggravating factors. Any reduction would be similarly limited to an amount equal to 50% 
of the starting point identified in the Table of Financial Penalties. The additional 
reduction may be applied to one or more of the offences under consideration. The 
council may use its discretion to not impose a financial penalty in respect of every 
offence under consideration. If the council decides to take this course of action, the 
offence or offences disregarded will usually be of a lower severity. In consideration of 
totality, the council will also take into account any proposal to pursue a Rent Repayment 
Order in respect of the same behaviour.

Page 212



27

Appendix 2

Statement of Principles for the Issue of Civil Penalty Charges under the Smoke 
and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 2015 

Introduction 

This statement sets out the principles that Gravesham Borough Council (the council) will 
apply in exercising its powers to require a relevant landlord (landlord) to pay a financial 
penalty.

Purpose of the Statement of Principles 

The council is required under these Regulations to prepare and publish a statement of 
principles and it must follow this guide when deciding on the amount of a penalty charge.

The council may revise its statement of principles at any time, but where it does so, it 
must publish a revised statement.

When deciding on the amount for the penalty charge, the council will have regard to the 
statement of principles published at the time when the breach in question occurred. 

The legal framework

The powers come from the Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) Regulations 
2015 (the Regulations), which came into force on 1 October 2015. 

The Regulations place a duty on landlords (which includes freeholders or leaseholders 
who have created a tenancy, lease, licence, sub-lease or sub-licence, but excludes 
registered providers of social housing) to ensure that:

- a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of premises where there is living 
accommodation and

- a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room of premises used as living 
accommodation which contains a solid fuel burning appliance.

AND for tenancies starting from 1 October 2015

- checks are made by the landlord, or someone acting on his/her behalf, that 
the alarm(s) is/are in proper working order on the day the tenancy starts. 

Remedial Action taken in default of the landlord

Where the council believes that a landlord is in breach of one or more of the above 
duties, the council must serve a remedial notice on the landlord. The remedial notice is a 
notice served under Regulation 5 of these Regulations.
 

Page 213



28

Where the council is satisfied that a landlord has not complied with a specification 
described in the remedial notice within the required timescale, the council will arrange for 
the works (remedial works) to be undertaken in accordance with the remedial notice, 
with the consent of the occupier   These remedial works will be undertaken within 28 
days of the council being satisfied of the breach.  In these circumstances, battery 
operated alarms will be installed as a quick and immediate response. 

Smoke Alarms – In order to comply with these Regulations, smoke alarms will be 
installed at every storey of residential accommodation. This may provide only a 
temporary solution as the property may be high risk because of:

- its mode of occupancy such as a house in multiple occupation or building 
converted into one or more flats,

- having an unsafe internal layout where fire escape routes pass through a 
living rooms or kitchens, or 

- is 3 or more storeys high. 

A risk assessment will subsequently be undertaken. This will consider the adequacy of 
the type and coverage of the smoke alarm system, fire escape routes including escape 
windows and fire separation measures such as fire doors and protected walls and 
ceilings. Any further works required to address serious fire safety hazards in residential 
property, that are not undertaken though informal agreement, will be enforced using the 
Housing Act 2004, in accordance with the council’s Enforcement Policy.

If the landlord fails to take the remedial action specified in the notice within the specified 
timescale, the council can require a landlord to pay a penalty charge. The power to 
charge a penalty arises from Regulation 8 of these Regulations

A landlord will not be considered to be in breach of their duty to comply with the remedial 
notice if he/she can demonstrate they have taken all reasonable steps to comply. This 
can be done by making written representations to the council at the address given at the 
bottom of this document within 28 days of when the remedial notice is served.  

Gravesham Borough Council will impose a penalty charge where it is satisfied, on the 
balance of probabilities, that the landlord has not complied with the action specified in 
the remedial notice within the required timescale. 

The purpose of imposing a financial penalty

The purpose of the council exercising its regulatory powers is to protect the interests of 
the public. 

The civil penalty scheme is designed to encourage landlords to comply with their duties 
under the legislation.

The aims of financial penalties on landlords are to:

Page 214



29

 Lower the risk to tenants’ health and safety
 Reimburse the costs incurred by the council in arranging remedial action in 

default of the remedial notice 
 Change the behaviour of the landlord and to prevent future non-compliance
 Penalise the landlord for not installing alarms after being required to by service of 

a remedial notice

The civil penalties imposed are intended to be proportionate to the level of non-
compliant behaviour and to the potential harm outcomes of non-compliance. The council 
will also consider relevant mitigating circumstances. The penalty will, therefore, be 
calculated on a sliding scale.

Criteria for the imposition of a financial penalty

Failure to comply with the requirements of a remedial notice allows the council to require 
payment of a penalty charge. 

When considering imposing of a penalty, the authority will look at the evidence 
concerning the breach of the requirement of the notice. This could be obtained from a 
property inspection, or from information provided by the tenant (or agent) that no 
remedial action has been undertaken. 

For example, landlords can demonstrate compliance with the Regulations by supplying 
dated photographs of alarms, together with installation records, or confirmation by the 
tenant that a system is in proper working order. 

Landlords need to take steps to demonstrate that they have tested the alarms at the 
start of the tenancy. Examples of how this can be achieved are by tenants signing an 
inventory form and that they were tested and were in working order at the start of the 
tenancy. Tenancy agreements can specify the frequency that a tenant should test the 
alarm to ensure it is in proper working order. 
Criteria for determining the amount of a financial penalty

In deciding whether it would be appropriate to impose a penalty, the authority will take 
full account of the particular facts and circumstances of the breach under consideration. 

The Regulations state the amount of the penalty charge must not exceed £5,000. 

A decision with respect to determining the liability and calculating the penalty amount will 
be based on the following Consideration Framework.

Stage 1: Determining the level of breach 

Breach Is there a history of non-compliance within 
the last 5 years? 

No: Apply the Level 1 Civil Penalty 
Calculator

Yes: Apply the Level 2 Civil Penalty 
Calculator 

Page 215



30

Stage 2: Determining the level of Liability 

Aggravating Factors 

Aggravating factor 1 

Seriousness of offence.

The length of time the property has lacked working detectors

Has the tenant asked the landlord for working detectors 

Has the landlord refused to co-operate 

Aggravating factor 2 

Is the property overcrowded

Is it occupied by vulnerable persons

Are there other fire hazards such as poor escape, height of 
premises above ground level or poor electrics

Aggravating factor 3 Gravesham Borough Council has to carry out works in 
default of the remedial notice 

Mitigating Factors

Mitigating factor 1 Is this the landlord’s first offence

Mitigating factor 2 Does the landlord own only one property

Mitigating factor 3 Does the property have any other working alarms

Stage 3:  Determining the Penalty Amount.

This is done using the civil penalty calculator below. This calculator sets out a sliding 
scale of penalty amounts for each incidence of non-compliance. 

The actual penalty amount will depend on the aggravating and mitigating factors 
available for the council to consider. I.e. it will be subject to reductions should there be 
evidence of mitigating factors; it will also look at any aggravating factors that should 
justify a higher penalty. For example, if aggravating factors 1 and 2 apply the penalty 
charge will be increased by £500. If only aggravating factor 1 applies, then the penalty 
charge will be increased by £250.

Civil Penalty Calculator

The Civil Penalty Calculator comprises two levels: 

Page 216



31

• The Level 1 table will be used where there is no history of non-compliance during the 
last five years. The starting point for the calculation of the civil penalty is £2,000 before 
any additions are applied. 

• The Level 2 table will be used where there is a history of non- compliance within the 
previous five years. The starting point for the calculation of the civil penalty is £4,000 
before any additions are applied. 

Where a civil penalty notice has been cancelled following a review or appeal, it shall not 
be taken into account when calculating any subsequent penalty. 

Level 1

Level 1: First breach 
Starting penalty amount £2000 
Aggravating factor 1: Aggravating factor 2: Aggravating factor 3: 
Penalty increased by £250 Penalty increased by £250 Penalty increased by £500 

Mitigating factor 1: Mitigating factor 2: Mitigating factor 3:
Penalty reduced by £250 Penalty reduced by £250 Penalty reduced by £250

Level 2 

Level 2: Second or subsequent breach 
Starting penalty amount £4000 
Aggravating factor 1: Aggravating factor 2: Aggravating factor 3: 
Penalty increased by £250 Penalty increased by £250 Penalty increased by £500 

Mitigating factor 1: Mitigating factor 2: Mitigating factor 3:
Penalty reduced by £250 Penalty reduced by £250 Penalty reduced by £250

Procedural matters for Penalty Charge Notices

The penalty charge is payable within 29 days beginning with the day on which the 
penalty charge notice is served. 

The council has discretion to offer an early payment reduction if a landlord pays the 
penalty charge within 14 days beginning with the day the penalty charge notice is 
served. The council will reduce the penalty amount by 50 per cent if we receive payment 
in full within 14 days of the civil penalty notice being served. The reduced penalty 
amount and the final date by which the landlord must pay it will be clearly shown on the 
civil penalty notice. 

When the council is satisfied that the landlord fails to comply with the requirements of 
the remedial notice, the penalty charge notice will be served within 6 weeks of the 
council determining that the notice has not been complied with. 

Page 217



32

Review of Penalty Charge Notice

The landlord may request the council to review the penalty charge notice. This request 
must be in writing and submitted within 29 days from when the penalty charge notice is 
served.

Where a review is requested, the council will consider any representations made by the 
landlord and decide whether to confirm, vary or withdraw the penalty charge notice. Any 
mitigation factors will be taken into account and the penalty charge notice may be 
reduced.

The review will be carried out by the Housing Needs & Improvements Manager and 
Assistant Director (Housing). 

All representations are to be sent to the address at the bottom of this document. The 
council will notify the landlord of its decision by notice.  

If a review is requested before the deadline specified in the civil penalty notice, the 
landlord will continue to be eligible for the early payment option. If the landlord is still 
required to pay a penalty following the review of the notice, he/she will be given a fresh 
notice which specifies a new date by which he/she may pay the penalty at the lower 
amount.

Appeal

A landlord who has requested a review of a penalty charge notice and has been served 
with a notice confirming or varying the penalty charge notice, may appeal to the First-tier 
Tribunal against the council’s decision. Appeals should be made within 28 days from the 
notice served of the council’s decision on review.

If the penalty charge notice is not paid, then recovery of the penalty charge will be by an 
order of the court and proceedings for recovery will commence after 30 days from the 
date when the penalty charge notice is served. 

However, in cases where a landlord has requested a review of the penalty charge 
notice, recovery will not commence until after 29 days from the date of the notice served 
giving the council’s decision to vary or confirm the penalty charge notice. Where 
landlords do make an appeal to the First-tier Tribunal, recovery will commence after 29 
days from when the appeal is finally determined or withdrawn.

All communications for representations made against the Remedial Notice (regulation 5) 
or the Penalty Charge Notice (regulation 8) are to be sent to:

Housing Needs & Improvements Manager
Gravesham Borough Council
Civic Centre
Windmill Street
Gravesend
Kent DA12 1AU

Page 218



33

Or by email to: private.housing@gravesham.gov.uk

Page 219

mailto:private.housing@gravesham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Rural Housing Needs
	Appendix 2 Vigo RHNS Report
	Appendix 3 Istead Rise RHNS Report
	Appendix 4 Luddesdown RHNS Report
	Appendix 5 Shorne RHNS Report

	6 Draft Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy
	Private Housing Enforcement Policy September 2019


